Bureau du 30 septembre 2021

Espaces Vanel - Arche Marengo - Toulouse Extrait du registre des délibérations

Délibération n°DEL-21-0930

Europe - Toulouse Métropole lauréate de l'appel à projets européen Life Environnement Gouvernance et information "LIFE WASTE2BUILD" : adoption du contrat de subvention avec la Commission Européenne

L'an deux mille vingt-et-un le jeudi trente septembre à neuf heures vingt-cinq, sous la présidence de Jean-Luc MOUDENC, Président, le Bureau s'est réuni à Espaces Vanel - Arche Marengo - Toulouse.

Participants

Afférents au Bureau :	68	
Présents :	64	
Procurations:	4	
Date de convocation :	24 septembre 2021	

Présents

reserres	
Aigrefeuille	M. Christian ANDRE
Aucamville	M. Gérard ANDRE
Aussonne	M. Michel BEUILLE
Balma	M. Vincent TERRAIL-NOVES
Beaupuy	M. Marc FERNANDEZ
Beauzelle	M. Patrice RODRIGUES
Blagnac	M. Joseph CARLES
Brax	M. Thierry ZANATTA
Bruguières	M. Philippe PLANTADE
Cornebarrieu	M. Alain TOPPAN
Cugnaux	M. Albert SANCHEZ
Drémil-Lafage	Mme Ida RUSSO
Fenouillet	M. Thierry DUHAMEL
Flourens	M. Jean-Pierre FOUCHOU-LAPEYRADE
Fonbeauzard	M. Robert GRIMAUD
Gagnac-sur-Garonne	M. Patrick BERGOUGNOUX
Gratentour	M. Patrick DELPECH
Launaguet	M. Michel ROUGE
Lespinasse	M. Alain ALENCON
L'Union	M. Marc PERE
Mondouzil	M. Robert MEDINA
Mons	Mme Véronique DOITTAU
Montrabé	M. Jacques SEBI
Pibrac	Mme Camille POUPONNEAU
Pin-Balma	M. Gil BEZERRA
Quint-Fonsegrives	M. Jean-Pierre GASC
Saint-Alban	M. Alain SUSIGAN
Saint-Jean	M. Bruno ESPIC
Saint-Jory	M. Thierry FOURCASSIER
Saint-Orens	Mme Dominique FAURE
Seilh	M. Didier CASTERA
Toulouse	M. Christophe ALVES, Mme Laurence ARRIBAGE,
	M. Jean-Jacques BOLZAN, Mme Maroua BOUZAIDA,
	M. Sacha BRIAND, M. François CHOLLET, M.
	Gaëtan COGNARD, M. Jean-Claude DARDELET, M.
	Henri DE LAGOUTINE, Mme Ghislaine DELMOND,
	Mme Julie ESCUDIER, M. Emilion ESNAULT,

	M. Pierre ESPLUGAS-LABATUT, M. Francis GRASS, Mme Laurence KATZENMAYER, M. Djillali
	LAHIANI, Mme Annette LAIGNEAU, M. Jean-Michel
	LATTES, M. Antoine MAURICE, Mme Nicole
	MIQUEL-BELAUD, M. Nicolas MISIAK, M. Jean-Luc
	MOUDENC, Mme Gnadang OUSMANE, M. Philippe
	PERRIN, Mme Agnès PLAGNEUX BERTRAND, M.
	Jean-François PORTARRIEU, Mme Agathe ROBY, M.
	Thierry SENTOUS, M. Bertrand SERP, M. Pierre
	TRAUTMANN, Mme Nicole YARDENI
Tournefeuille	M. Dominique FOUCHIER
Villeneuve-Tolosane	M. Romain VAILLANT

Conseillers ayant donné pouvoir

	Pouvoir à
M. Grégoire CARNEIRO	Thierry FOURCASSIER
Mme Karine TRAVAL-MICHELET	Camille POUPONNEAU
Mme Véronique BARRAQUE ONNO	Robert MEDINA
Mme Nadia SOUSSI	Jean-François PORTARRIEU



Délibération n° DEL-21-0930

Europe - Toulouse Métropole lauréate de l'appel à projets européen Life Environnement Gouvernance et information "LIFE WASTE2BUILD" : adoption du contrat de subvention avec la Commission Européenne

Exposé

Le changement climatique amorcé et la nécessaire adaptation des territoires pour maintenir leur attractivité exigent de repenser le recours à la matière première et d'expérimenter des alternatives de développement économique plus sobres, en transition vers une économie circulaire.

Consciente des opportunités de l'économie circulaire sur son territoire, Toulouse Métropole a adopté, en novembre 2019, une stratégie et 3 feuilles de routes opérationnelles, dont une intitulée « Bâtir la Métropole à partir des ressources locales ».

Le secteur du bâtiment représente plus de 20 % des émissions de Gaz à Effet de Serre (GES) sur la Métropole (de l'extraction, à l'importation de matériaux, à la construction, jusqu' à la fin d'usage des bâtiments et au traitement des déchets). Les déchets issus des chantiers en Occitanie représentent 12 millions de tonnes, dont 8 millions de tonnes pour les travaux publics (source PRAEC - Plan Régional d'Action en faveur de l'Economie Circulaire). Globalement, le BTP produit 60% des déchets tous secteurs confondus.

Le secteur du BTP constitue un pilier de l'économie toulousaine. La demande locale adressée à ce secteur est estimée à 4 Mds \in en 2018. 42 % de cette demande n'est pas captée par le secteur du BTP toulousain, ce qui représente une fuite de 1,7Mds \in et de 9000 emplois pour le territoire.

Toulouse Métropole souhaite ainsi construire les bases d'un écosystème local durable et circulaire pour accompagner la dynamique de développement du territoire dans le secteur et agir sur l'ensemble des briques de la filière de la construction au travers de chantiers démonstrateurs.

Pour cela, Toulouse Métropole a répondu à un appel à projets du programme européen LIFE spécialisé dans le domaine de l'environnement et de l'action pour le climat. Le projet intitulé Waste2Build a été sélectionné par la Commission Européenne en juin 2021. Son objectif principal est de mettre en place un dispositif innovant d'optimisation des ressources et de valorisation des déchets du BTP du territoire. Pour développer l'emploi des matériaux de seconde vie dans la construction, la rénovation ou l'aménagement paysagers, il est nécessaire de pouvoir capitaliser les matériaux disponibles, de les classifier, les normaliser en fonction des réutilisations possibles pour créer une véritable chaîne de valeurs.

Les objectifs spécifiques du projet sont :

- Réduire de 35 % l'impact du BTP dans la consommation de ressources et la production de déchets,
- Structurer la filière du BTP circulaire,
- Mettre en place des politiques d'achats circulaires,
- Accompagner la montée en compétence de la filière BTP.

Plusieurs actions seront mises en place tout au long du projet :

- Actions préparatoires: Évaluer l'empreinte environnementale des matériaux mobilisés par le secteur de la construction, inventorier et cartographier l'écosystème des acteurs de l'économie circulaire avec l'identification des plateformes physiques du territoire métropolitain.
- Actions de mises en œuvre : Expérimenter la démarche d'économie circulaire sur les chantiers du territoire, modéliser la démarche pour harmoniser les pratiques de la commande publique et des maîtres d'ouvrages, développer des plateformes numérique et nomade, animer le territoire et organiser la montée en compétence des acteurs et futurs acteurs du bâtiment sur l'économie circulaire par la formation.
- Actions d'évaluations : évaluer l'impact du changement de pratiques et suivre les indicateurs environnementaux et socio-économiques.
- Actions de communication et de dissémination des résultats: Assurer la reproductibilité du projet, disséminer les résultats du projet auprès des acteurs de l'économie circulaire, organiser un « Hackaton étudiants » pour la construction d'une tiny house.

Toulouse Métropole sera le coordinateur du projet avec 6 partenaires bénéficiaires associés au projet :

- Synéthic,
- Centre Scientifique et Technique du Bâtiment (CSTB),
- Envirobat Occitanie,
- Toulouse Business School (TBS),
- Fédération Française du Bâtiment et des Travaux Publics du 31 (FFB 31),
- Institut national de l'économie Circulaire (INEC).

8 parties prenantes et 5 partenaires nationaux et européens seront également associés :

Parties prenantes	Partenaires nationaux
Bellastock (Société Coopérative d'Intérêt Collectif d'architecture qui oeuvre pour la valorisation des lieux et de leurs ressources en proposant des alternatives à l'acte de construire)	Oslo
ADEME	Saragosse
DREAL	Düsseldorf
Ordre des architectes	Séville
AIOC (Association Ingénierie de l'Occitanie)	Plaine Commune (Etablissement public territorial qui regroupe 9 villes dont Aubervilliers et la Courneuve au sein du Grand Paris)
FEDEREC (Fédération Professionnelle des Entreprises du Recyclage)	
FRTP (Fédération Régionale des Travaux Publics)	
ORDECO (Observatoire Régional des Déchets et de l'éco- nomie Circulaire en Occitanie)	

D'une durée d'un peu plus de quatre ans (septembre 2021- février 2026), le budget total du projet s'élève à 2 757 840 \in avec un cofinancement européen de 55 %, soit une subvention nette de 1 516 812 \in . Le budget de Toulouse Métropole est de 1 150 209 \in , avec une subvention nette de 632 614,95 \in .

Il est proposé d'approuver le contrat de subvention avec la Commission Européenne, relatif à ce projet, qui permettra d'en assurer la mise en œuvre et de recevoir la subvention afférente. Une convention de partenariat sera réalisée afin de préciser le rôle, les droits et les devoirs de chacun ainsi que les modalités de reversement de la subvention européenne aux partenaires bénéficiaires du projet.

Décision

Le Bureau,

Vu la délibération du Conseil de la Métropole portant délégation d'attributions du Conseil au Bureau et au Président,

Vu l'avis favorable de la Commission consultative du Bureau du mardi 21 septembre 2021,

Entendu l'exposé de Monsieur le Président, après en avoir délibéré,

Décide:

Article 1

D'approuver les termes du contrat de subvention avec la Commission Européenne, les Infrastructures et l'Environnement, tel qu'annexé à la présente délibération, relatif au projet « WASTE2BUILD », pour mettre en place un dispositif innovant d'optimisation des ressources et de valorisation des déchets du BTP sur le territoire.

Article 2

D'autoriser le Président à signer le contrat de subvention avec l'Agence Exécutive pour le Climat, les Infrastructures et l'Environnement (CINEA), agence créée par la Commission européenne, pour gérer en son nom le programme Life notamment, ainsi que tous actes et documents y afférents.

Article 3

D'autoriser le Président à percevoir la totalité de la subvention européenne, sous forme de co-financement, pour un montant maximal de 1 516 812 euros (un million cinq cent seize mille huit cent douze euros)

Article 4

Il sera rendu compte de la présente délibération au Conseil de la Métropole.

Résultat du vote :

Pour 68
Contre 0
Abstentions 0
Non participation au vote 0

Publiée par affichage le 04/10/2021 Reçue à la Préfecture le 04/10/2021 Ainsi fait et délibéré les jour, mois et an que dessus, Au registre sont les signatures, Pour extrait conforme, Le Président,

Jean-Luc MOUDENC



EUROPEAN COMMISSION

Executive Agency for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises/Directorate General Environment

Unit B3 LIFE and CIP Eco-Innovation

EUROPEAN COMMISSION

DIRECTORATE-GENERAL
ENVIRONMENT/CLIMATE ACTION
Directorate [Number Directorate - Name Directorate]
[Name unit]

GRANT AGREEMENT¹

AGREEMENT NUMBER — [LIFEXX XXX/XX/XXXXXX - ACRONYM]

This Agreement ('the Agreement') is concluded between the following parties:

on the one part,

The European Union ('the Union'), represented by the European Commission/Executive Agency for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (hereinafter referred to as "the Commission/Agency") and acting under the powers delegated by the European Commission, represented for the purposes of signature of the Agreement by Name Head of Unit, Head of Unit,

and

on the other part,

1. 'the coordinating beneficiary'

[full official name] [ACRONYM]

[official legal status or form]

[official registration No]

[official address in full]

[VAT number],

represented for the purposes of signature of the Agreement by [function, forename and surname]

and the following other associated beneficiaries:

¹ Within the framework of the Regulation (EC) No 1293/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2013 on the establishment of a Programme for the Environment and Climate Action (LIFE) and repealing Regulation (EC) No 614/2007, OJ L 347 of 20/12/2013, p.185 (hereinafter "the LIFE Regulation") and the Commission Implementing Decision 2018/210 of 12 February 2018 on the adoption of the LIFE multiannual work programme for 2018-20, OJ L39 of 13/02/2018.

- 2. [full official name established in [country]]
- 3. [full official name established in [country]]

[idem for each beneficiary]

duly represented for the signature of the Agreement by the coordinating beneficiary by virtue of the mandate[s] included in Annex II form[s] A4

Unless otherwise specified, references to 'beneficiary' and 'beneficiaries' include the coordinating beneficiary.

The parties referred to above

HAVE AGREED

to the Special Conditions ('the Special Conditions') and the following Annexes:

- Annex I General Conditions ((hereinafter referred to as 'the General Conditions')
- Annex II Description of the project
- Annex III Estimated budget of the project: Forms R1, R2 and all F-Forms in Annex II
- Annex IV Mandate[s] provided to the coordinating beneficiary by the other beneficiary[ies] Form[s] A4 in Annex II
- Annex V Model technical report: The applicable model technical reports are to be found on the website: https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life (manage your project)
- Annex VI Model financial statement: The applicable model financial reports are to be found on the website: https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life (manage your project)
- Annex VII Model terms of reference for the certificate on the financial statements *to be* found on the website: https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life (manage your project)
- Annex VIII Model terms of reference for the certificate on the compliance of the cost accounting practices: **not applicable**
- Annex IX Model terms of reference for the operational verification report: not applicable
- Annex X Financial and Administrative guidelines https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life (manage your project)
- Annex XI Guidelines for applicants https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life
- Annex XII Table of unit costs for voluntary work per country

which form an integral part of the Agreement.

The provisions in the Special Conditions of the Agreement take precedence over its Annexes.

The provisions in Annex I 'General Conditions' take precedence over the other Annexes.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SPI	ECIAL COND	OITIONS4
ГА	BLE OF CON	TENTS4
	Article I.1 —	Subject matter of the agreement
	Article I.2 —	Entry into force and implementation period of the agreement6
	Article I.3 —	Maximum amount and form of the grant6
		Reporting — Requests for payment and supporting documents — nts and payment arrangements
	I.4.1	Reporting and reporting periods
	I.4.2	Requests for further pre-financing payment[s] and supporting documents
	I.4.3	Request[s] for interim payment[s] and supporting documents7
	I.4.4	Request for payment of the balance and supporting documents7
	I.4.5	Information on cumulative expenditure incurred9
	I.4.6	Currency for requests for payment and financial statements and conversion into euro
	I.4.7	Language of requests for payments, technical reports and financial statements
	I.4.8	Payments to be made
	I.4.9	Pre-financing payment[s]10
	I.4.10	Interim payment[s]11
	I.4.11	Payment of the balance
	I.4.12	Notification of amounts due
	I.4.13	Interest on late payment
	I.4.14	Currency for payments
	1.4.15	Date of navment

I.4.16	Costs of payment transfers	13
I.4.17	Payments to the coordinating beneficiary	13
Article I.5 –	— Bank account for payments	13
Article I.6 –	— Data controller, communication details of the parties	13
I.6.1	Data controller	13
I.6.3	Communication details of the beneficiaries	14
I.6.4	Communication details of the beneficiaries after payment of the balance	
Article I.7 –	— Entities affiliated to the beneficiaries	14
Article I.8 –	— Beneficiaries which are international organisations	14
I.8.1	Applicable law	15
I.8.2	Dispute settlement — Arbitration	15
1.8.3	Certificates on the financial statements	16
I.8.4	Checks and audits	16
I.8.5	Privileges and immunities	16
Article I.9 –	— Checks and audits	16
Article I.10	— Settlement of disputes with non-EU beneficiaries	17
Article I.11	— Special provisions on the financial responsibility for recoveries	17
Article I.12	— Obligation to conclude an internal cooperation agreement	17
Article I.13	— Eligibility of Durable Goods costs	17
	— Additional provisions on use of the results including intellectundustrial property rights	
Article I.15	— Inapplicability of the no-profit principle	19
Article I.16	— Eligibility of Volunteers' work	19

ARTICLE I.1 — SUBJECT MATTER OF THE AGREEMENT

The Agency/Commission has decided to award a grant under the terms and conditions set out in the Special Conditions, the General Conditions and the other Annexes to the Agreement, for the *project* entitled [insert title of the project in bold], as described in Annex II.

By signing the Agreement, the beneficiaries accept the grant and agree to implement the *project*, acting on their own responsibility.

ARTICLE I.2 — ENTRY INTO FORCE AND IMPLEMENTATION PERIOD OF THE AGREEMENT

- **I.2.1** The Agreement enters into force on the date on which the last party signs it.
- **I.2.2** The *project* runs from *[insert date in bold]('starting date')* until *[insert date in bold]* ('end date')

ARTICLE I.3 — MAXIMUM AMOUNT AND FORM OF THE GRANT

- **I.3.1** The *maximum amount of the grant* is EUR [insert amount].
- **I.3.2** The grant takes **the form** of:
- (a) the reimbursement of [...]% of the eligible costs of the *project* ('reimbursement of eligible costs'), which are estimated at EUR [...] and which are:
 - (i) actually incurred ('reimbursement of actual costs') for the following categories of costs for each of the beneficiaries and affiliated entities: personnel costs; travel and subsistence costs; costs for subcontracting (also referred to as "external assistance costs"); costs of durable goods: depreciation costs of infrastructure and equipment, prototype costs; costs for land purchase/long-term lease of land/one-off compensations for land use rights; costs of consumables; other costs (i.e. costs arising from the Agreement, duties, taxes and charges).
 - (ii) reimbursement of unit costs declared on the basis of an amount as specified in Annex XII ('reimbursement of unit costs') for the volunteer costs under the personnel costs for each of the beneficiaries and affiliated entities.
 - (iii) reimbursement of lump sum costs: not applicable
 - (iv) declared on the basis of a flat rate: overheads as specified in Annex III as a fixed percentage of the eligible direct costs excluding costs of land purchase/long term lease of land/one-off compensations for land use rights ('reimbursement of flat-rate costs') for each of the beneficiaries and affiliated entities;
 - (v) reimbursement of costs declared on the basis of the beneficiary's usual cost accounting practices: not applicable
- (b) unit contribution: not applicable
- (c) lump sum contribution: not applicable

(d) flat-rate contribution: not applicable

ARTICLE I.4 — REPORTING — REQUESTS FOR PAYMENT AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS – PAYMENTS AND PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

I.4.1 Reporting and reporting periods

- (a) The project reporting schedule is specified in Annex II.
- (b) The delay between consecutive reports shall not exceed 18 months: not applicable.
- (c) All reports shall contain the necessary information for the Agency/Commission to evaluate the state of implementation of the project, the respect of the work plan, the financial status of the project and whether the project's objectives have been achieved or are still achievable.
- (d) The form and contents of the reports shall be in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Agency/Commission as specified on the website https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life (manage your project)
- (e) All reports shall be simultaneously submitted to the Agency/Commission and to the external monitoring team designated by the Agency/Commission.
 - The technical reports, including annexes, shall only be submitted, in electronic format,
 - The financial reports shall be submitted, in both paper and electronic formats.
- (f) Electronic tools, which include spatial data and are produced in the frame of a LIFE project, shall comply with the Commission Regulation (EU) No 1253/2013 of 21 October 2013 amending Regulation (EU) No 1089/2010 implementing Directive 2007/2/EC establishing an Infrastructure for Spatial Information in the European Union (INSPIRE).

I.4.2 Requests for further pre-financing payment[s] and supporting documents

The coordinating beneficiary must submit a request for further pre-financing payment in accordance with the mid-term report schedule specified in Annex II.

The request must be accompanied by the following documents:

- (a) a progress report on the implementation of the *project* ('technical report on progress');
- (b) a statement on the amount of the previous pre-financing instalment used to cover costs of the *project* ('statement on the use of the previous pre-financing instalment'). The statement must be drawn up in accordance with Annex VI[.][; and
- (c) a financial guarantee.]

I.4.3 Request[s] for interim payment[s] and supporting documents

Not applicable

I.4.4 Request for payment of the balance and supporting documents

The coordinating beneficiary must submit a request for payment of the balance in accordance with the reporting schedule specified in Annex II, but no later than 90 calendar days following the *end date* of the project.

This request must be accompanied by the following documents:

- (a) a final report on implementation of the project ('final technical report'), drawn up in accordance with Annex V, containing:
 - (i) the information needed to justify the eligible costs declared or the contribution requested on the basis of unit costs and lump sums (where the grant takes the form of the reimbursement of unit or lump sum costs or of a unit or lump sum contribution, as provided for in Article I.3.2(a)(ii) and (iii), (b) or (c));
 - (ii) information on subcontracting as referred to in Article II.11.1(d);
- (b) a final financial statement ('final financial statement'). The final financial statement must include a consolidated statement and a breakdown of the amounts claimed by each beneficiary and its affiliated entities.

The final financial statement must be drawn up in accordance with the structure of the estimated budget set out in Annex III and in accordance with Annex VI;

(c) a summary financial statement ('summary financial statement').

This statement must include a consolidated financial statement and a breakdown of the amounts declared or requested by each beneficiary and its affiliated entities, aggregating the financial statements already submitted previously and indicating the revenue generated by the project referred to in Article II.25.3 for each beneficiary and its affiliated entities other than non-profit organisations.the receipts referred to in Article II.25.3 for each beneficiary and its affiliated entities.

The summary financial statement must be drawn up in accordance with Annex VI;

- (d) a certificate on the financial statements and underlying accounts ('certificate on the financial statements') for each beneficiary and for each affiliated entity, if:
 - (i) the cumulative amount of payments the beneficiary requests as reimbursement of actual costs as referred to in Article I.3.2(a)(i) (and for which no certificate has yet been submitted) is EUR 325,000 or more;
 - (ii) the maximum grant amount indicated for that beneficiary and its affiliated entities in the estimated budget as reimbursement of actual costs is EUR 750,000 or more.

This certificate must be produced by an approved auditor or, in case of public bodies, by a competent and independent public officer and drawn up in accordance with Annex VII.

The certificate must certify that the costs declared in the final financial statement by the beneficiary concerned or its affiliated entities for the categories of costs reimbursed in accordance with Article I.3.2(a)(i) are real, accurately recorded and eligible in accordance with the Agreement.

In addition, the certificate must certify that all the revenues generated by the *project* referred to in Article II.25.3 have been declared for the beneficiaries and the affiliated entities other than non-profit organisations.

The coordinating beneficiary must certify that the information provided in the request for payment of the balance is full, reliable and true.

The coordinating beneficiary must also certify that the costs incurred can be considered eligible in accordance with the Agreement and that the request for payment is substantiated by adequate supporting documents that can be produced in the context of the checks or audits described in Article II.27.

In addition, the coordinating beneficiary must certify that all the receipts referred to in Article II.25.3 have been declared for each beneficiary and the affiliated entities other than non-profit organisations.

I.4.5 Information on cumulative expenditure incurred

In case the maximum contribution referred to in Article I.3.1 is more than EUR 5,000,000 then:

In addition to the reporting requirements set out above, the coordinating beneficiary must inform the Agency/Commission by 30 November each year about the cumulative expenditure incurred by the beneficiaries from the *starting date*.

This information is required for the Agency's/Commission's accounting purposes and may not be used for determining the final amount of the grant.

I.4.6 Currency for requests for payment and financial statements and conversion into euro

Requests for payment and financial statements must be drafted in euros.

Beneficiaries and affiliated entities with general accounts in a currency other than the euro must convert costs incurred in another currency into euros at the monthly accounting rate established by the Commission and published on its website (available at http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm) applicable on the day when the cost was incurred, or

at the monthly accounting rate established by the Commission and published on its website (available at

<u>http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm</u>)
applicable on the first working day of the month following the period covered by the financial statement concerned

Beneficiaries and affiliated entities with general accounts in euros must convert costs incurred in another currency into euros in accordance with their usual accounting practices.

I.4.7 Language of requests for payments, technical reports and financial statements

All requests for payments, technical reports and financial statements must be submitted in English, with the exception of the technical annexes and supporting documents, which may be provided in any official language of the Union.

I.4.8 Payments to be made

The Agency/Commission must make the following payments to the coordinating beneficiary:

- [one] [a first] pre-financing payment;
- [a] [further] pre-financing payment[s], on the basis of the request for further pre-financing payment[s] referred to in Article I.4.2;
- one payment of the balance, on the basis of the request for payment of the balance referred to in Article I.4.4.

I.4.9 Pre-financing payment[s]

The aim of the pre-financing is to provide the beneficiaries with a float. The pre-financing remains the property of the Union until it is cleared against interim payments or, if it is not cleared against interim payments, until the payment of the balance.

[Option if one pre-financing payment for projects with a duration of 24 months or less and where the Union contribution is less than or equal to EUR 300,000]: The Agency/Commission must make the pre-financing payment of EUR [insert amount]² to the coordinating beneficiary within 30 calendar days from [the entry into force of the Agreement] [or from when the Agency/Commission receives the financial guarantee of EUR [insert amount], whichever is the latest], except if Article II.24.1 applies.]

[Option if several pre-financing payments]: The Agency/Commission must make a first pre-financing payment of EUR [insert amount]³ to the coordinating beneficiary within 30 calendar days from [the entry into force of the Agreement] [or from when the Agency/Commission receives the financial guarantee of EUR [insert amount], whichever is the latest], except if Article II.24.1 applies.]

The Agency/Commission must make a second pre-financing payment⁴ of EUR [insert amount] to the coordinating beneficiary within 60 calendar days from when the Agency/Commission receives the request for second pre-financing payment referred to in Article I.4.2, subject to having used at least 100% of the previous pre-financing instalment paid to cover costs of the project, [or from when it receives the financial guarantee of EUR [insert amount], whichever is the latest], except if Article II.24.1 or II.24.2 apply.

_

² 70% of the Union Contribution

³ In case of 1 mid-term report : 40% as 1st pre-financing, 40% as 2nd pre-financing, in case of 2 mid-term reports : 40% as 1st pre-financing, 20% as 2nd and 3rd pre-financing. Pre-financing might be further split by the authorising officer if the foreseen financial guarantee cannot be delivered in the amount foreseen (i.e. amount of the pre-financing indicated).

⁴ For projects with a duration exceeding 24 months or where the Union contribution exceeds EUR 300,000

[The Agency/Commission must make a third pre-financing payment⁵ of EUR [insert amount] to the coordinating beneficiary within 60 calendar days from when the Agency/Commission receives the request for third pre-financing payment referred to in Article I.4.2, subject to having used at least 100% of the previous pre-financing instalment paid to cover costs of the project, [or from when it receives the financial guarantee of EUR [insert amount], whichever is the latest], except if Article II.24.1 or II.24.2 apply.]

[The financial guarantee must fulfil the following conditions:

- (a) it is provided by a bank or an approved financial institution or, if requested by the coordinating beneficiary and accepted by the Agency/Commission, by a third party;
- (b) the guarantor stands as first-call guarantor and does not require the Agency/Commission to first have recourse against the principal debtor (i.e. the beneficiary concerned); and
- (c) it explicitly remains in force until the pre-financing is cleared against interim payments or payment of the balance by the Agency/Commission. If payment of the balance takes the form of a recovery, the financial guarantee must remain in force until three months after the debit note is notified to a beneficiary. The Agency/Commission must release the guarantee within the following month.]

I.4.10 Interim payment[s]

[Not applicable]

I.4.11 Payment of the balance

The payment of the balance reimburses or covers the remaining part of the eligible costs incurred by the beneficiaries for the implementation of the *project*.

If the total amount of earlier payments is greater than the final amount of the grant determined in accordance with Article II.25, the payment of the balance takes the form of a recovery as provided for by Article II.26.

If the total amount of earlier payments is lower than the final amount of the grant determined in accordance with Article II.25, the Agency/Commission must pay the balance within 90 calendar days from when it receives the documents referred to in Article I.4.4, except if Article II.24.1 or II.24.2 apply.

Payment is subject to the approval of the request for payment of the balance and of the accompanying documents. Their approval does not imply recognition of the compliance, authenticity, completeness or correctness of their content.

⁵ Upon request of the coordinating beneficiary and only in case of projects with a duration of 48 months and where the Union cnotribution exceeds EUR 4,000,000. In case of 1 mid-term report : 40% as 1st pre-financing, 40% as 2nd pre-financing, in case of 2 mid-term reports : 40% as 1st pre-financing, 20% as 2nd and 3rd pre-financing. Pre-financing might be further split by the authorising officer if the foreseen financial guarantee

cannot be delivered in the amount foreseen (i.e. amount of the pre-financing indicated).

The Agency/Commission determines the amount due as the balance by deducting the total amount of pre-financing and interim payments (if any) already made from the final amount of the grant determined in accordance with Article II.25.

The amount to be paid may, however, be offset, without the beneficiary's consent, against any other amount owed by the beneficiary to the Agency, the Commission or to an executive agency (under the EU or Euratom budget), up to the maximum contribution indicated for that beneficiary, in the estimated budget in Annex III.

I.4.12 Notification of amounts due

The Agency/Commission must send a *notification* to the coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) informing it of the amount due; and
- (b) specifying whether the notification concerns a further pre-financing payment, an interim payment or the payment of the balance.

For the payment of the balance, the Agency/Commission must also specify the final amount of the grant determined in accordance with Article II.25.

I.4.13 Interest on late payment

If the Agency/Commission does not pay within the time limits for payment, the beneficiaries are entitled to late-payment interest at the rate applied by the European Central Bank for its main refinancing operations in euros ('the reference rate'), plus three and a half points. The reference rate is the rate in force on the first day of the month in which the time limit for payment expires, as published in the C series of the *Official Journal of the European Union*.

Late-payment interest is not due if all beneficiaries are Member States of the Union (including regional and local government authorities and other public bodies acting in the name of and on behalf of the Member State for the purpose of the Agreement).

If the Agency/Commission suspends the time limit for payment as provided for in Article II.24.2 or if it suspends an actual payments as provided for in Article II.24.1, these actions may not be considered as cases of late payment.

Late-payment interest covers the period running from the day following the due date for payment, up to and including the date of actual payment as established in Article I.4.15. The Agency/Commission does not consider payable interest when determining the final amount of grant within the meaning of Article II.25.

As an exception to the first subparagraph, if the calculated interest is lower than or equal to EUR 200, it must be paid to the coordinating beneficiary only if the coordinating beneficiary requests it within two months of receiving late payment.

I.4.14 Currency for payments

The Agency/Commission must make payments in euros.

I.4.15 Date of payment

Payments by the Agency/Commission are considered to have been carried out on the date when they are debited to its account.

I.4.16 Costs of payment transfers

Costs of the payment transfers are borne as follows:

- (a) the Agency/Commission bears the costs of transfer charged by its bank;
- (b) the beneficiary bears the costs of transfer charged by its bank;
- (c) the party causing a repetition of a transfer bears all costs of repeated transfers.

I.4.17 Payments to the coordinating beneficiary

The Agency/Commission must make payments to the coordinating beneficiary.

Payments to the coordinating beneficiary discharge the Agency/Commission from its payment obligation.

ARTICLE I.5 — BANK ACCOUNT FOR PAYMENTS

All payments must be made to the coordinating beneficiary's bank account as indicated below:

Name of bank: []
Precise denomination of the account holder: []
Full account number (including bank codes): []
[IBAN code: []]

ARTICLE I.6 — DATA CONTROLLER, COMMUNICATION DETAILS OF THE PARTIES

I.6.1 Data controller

The entity acting as a data controller as provided for in Article II.7 is: the head of *Unit* [insert unit].

I.6.2 Communication details of the Agency/Commission

Any communication addressed to the Agency/Commission shall bear the identification number and project title and must be sent to the following address:

Ordinary or registered mail by postal service:

European Commission
EASME
Unit B.3 LIFE and CIP Eco-Innovation
B-1049 Brussels

Project number: [complete]

Express delivery service or hand-delivery against signature :

European Commission
EASME
Unit B.3 LIFE and CIP Eco-Innovation
Mail Service
Avenue du Bourget 1
B-1140 Brussels

E-mails:

E-mail address: EASME-LIFE-ENQUIRIES@ec.europa.eu

I.6.3 Communication details of the beneficiaries

Any communication from the Agency/Commission to the beneficiaries must be sent to the following address:

[Full name]

[Function]

[Name of the entity]

[Full official address]

Email address: [complete]]

I.6.4 Communication details of the beneficiaries after payment of the balance

After the payment of the balance, any communication addressed to the beneficiaries must be sent to their legal address.

ARTICLE 1.7 — ENTITIES AFFILIATED TO THE BENEFICIARIES

[Not Applicable]

OR

The following entities are considered as affiliated entities for the purpose of the Agreement:

- [name of the entity], affiliated to [name or acronym of the beneficiary];
- [name of the entity], affiliated to [name or acronym of the beneficiary];

[idem for further affiliated entities]

ARTICLE I.8 — BENEFICIARIES WHICH ARE INTERNATIONAL ORGANISATIONS

[Not Applicable]

OR

[if the international organisation does not accept Article II.18.1:

I.8.1 Applicable law

[Option 1: if the international organisation accepts Union law as the applicable law but not Belgian law as subsidiary law:

As an exception to Article II.18.1, the Agreement is governed by the applicable Union law, complemented where necessary by [the law of (insert law of a Member State or an EFTA country)].

[Option 2: if the international organisation does not accept Union law as the applicable law:

Article II.18.1 does not apply to [insert name of IO(s)].]

[if an international organisation does not accept Article II.18.2:

I.8.2 Dispute settlement — Arbitration

[Option 1 — Permanent Court of Arbitration:

As an exception to Article II.18, if any dispute between the Agency/Commission and [insert name of IO(s)] relating to the Agreement cannot be settled amicably, it must be referred to arbitration.

In such cases, the Permanent Court of Arbitration Optional rules for arbitration involving international organisations and states in force at the date of entry into force of the Agreement apply.

The appointing authority is the Secretary General of the Permanent Court of Arbitration following a written request submitted by either party.

The arbitration proceedings must take place in Brussels and the language used in the arbitral proceedings must be English.

The arbitral award is binding upon the parties, which hereby expressly agree to renounce any form of appeal or revision.]

Option 2 — Arbitration committee:

As an exception to Article II.18, if any dispute between the Agency/Commission and [insert name of IO(s)] relating to the Agreement cannot be settled amicably, it must be referred to an arbitration committee in accordance with the procedure specified below.

When a party intends to resort to arbitration, it must send a *formal notification* to the other party informing it of its intention and of its appointed arbitrator. The second party must appoint its arbitrator within one month of receipt of that *formal notification*. The two arbitrators must appoint, by joint agreement and within three months of the appointment of

the second party's arbitrator, a third arbitrator who is the chair of the arbitration committee, unless both parties agreed to have a sole arbitrator.

Within one month of the appointment of the third arbitrator, the parties must agree on the terms of reference of the arbitration committee, including the procedure to be followed.

The arbitration proceedings must take place in Brussels.

The arbitration committee must apply the terms of the Agreement. The arbitration committee must set out in its arbitral award detailed grounds for its decision.

The arbitral award is final and binding upon the parties, which hereby expressly agree to renounce any form of appeal or revision.

The costs, including all reasonable fees incurred by the parties related to any arbitration, must be apportioned between the parties by the arbitration committee.]

[if an international organisation does not agree for the certificate to be drawn up by an external auditor:

I.8.3 Certificates on the financial statements

Certificates on the financial statements to be provided by the [insert name of IO(s)] in accordance with Article I.4.4 may be drawn up by [its][their] regular internal or external auditor, in accordance with [its][their] internal financial regulations and procedures.]

[if an international organisation does not accept Article II.27:

I.8.4 Checks and audits

The competent bodies of the Union must address any requests for checks or audits referred to in Article II.27 to the Director General of the [insert name of IO(s)].

[insert name of IO(s)] must make available to the competent bodies of the Union or other outside body authorised by it, upon request, all relevant financial information, including statements of accounts concerning the *project*, where [it][they] implement[s] the *project* or where [its][their] affiliated entities or a subcontractor takes part in the *project*.]

I.8.5 Privileges and immunities

Nothing in the Agreement may be interpreted as a waiver of any privileges or immunities which are accorded to the [insert name of IO(s)] by [its][their] constituent documents or international law.]

ARTICLE I.9 — CHECKS AND AUDITS

By derogation of Article II.27.3 of the general conditions, notwithstanding whether the checks, audits or evaluations are initiated before or after the payment of the balance, the coordinating beneficiary may be required to collect the information concerning the associated beneficiaries and to make them available to the Agency/Commission or other outside body authorised by it.

When requested by the Agency/Commission or other outside body authorised by it, the coordinating beneficiary shall provide without delay the information mentioned above, which includes that of the concerned associated beneficiaries. In this case, the coordinating beneficiary shall bear responsibility for obtaining and verifying this information before passing it on to the Agency/Commission, as foreseen in Article II.2.3(b)(ii).

In this case, the contradictory audit procedure foreseen in Article II.27.5 shall be conducted with the coordinating beneficiary, who will be requested to submit the observations of the associated beneficiaries concerned by the check, audit or evaluation.

This is without prejudice to the right of the Agency/Commission or other outside body authorised by it to perform audits either on one or several associated beneficiaries. In this case the associated beneficiaries shall provide the information directly.

ARTICLE 1.10 — SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES WITH NON-EU BENEFICIARIES

[Not Applicable]

OR

This provision applies where a beneficiary is legally established in a country other than a Member State of the European Union (the 'non-EU beneficiary').

As an exception to Article II.18.2, any of the parties (the Agency/Commission or the non-EU beneficiary) may bring before the Belgian Courts any dispute between them concerning the interpretation, application or validity of the Agreement, if such dispute cannot be settled amicably.

Where one party has brought proceedings before the Belgian Courts, the other party may not bring a claim arising from the interpretation, application or validity of the Agreement in any other court than the Belgian Courts before which the proceedings have already been brought.

ARTICLE I.11 — SPECIAL PROVISIONS ON THE FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY FOR RECOVERIES

The financial responsibility of each beneficiary is limited to its own debt, including any amount unduly paid by the Agency/Commission as a contribution towards the costs incurred by its affiliated entities.

Point (c) of the third paragraph of Article II.26.3 does not apply.

ARTICLE I.12 — OBLIGATION TO CONCLUDE AN INTERNAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT

The beneficiaries must conclude an internal cooperation agreement including provisions on the management, operation and coordination of the beneficiaries and the implementation of the project.

ARTICLE 1.13 — ELIGIBILITY OF DURABLE GOODS COSTS

As an exception to Article II.19.2(c), the full cost of purchase of equipment is eligible, subject to the following conditions:

(a) For all **LIFE** traditional projects, the purchase costs incurred for durable goods, intrinsically connected with the implementation of the project and used to a significant degree within its duration, shall be considered eligible in full. Such eligibility shall be subject to the coordinating beneficiary and associated beneficiaries undertaking to continue to assign these goods definitively and exclusively to the same objectives and purpose foreseen by the project co-financed under LIFE.

This commitment shall extend beyond the end of the project and cover at least the whole economic life of the good.

(b) For *prototypes* 100% of the purchase costs of their components are eligible for cofunding. A *prototype* may not be used for commercial purposes during the period set out in Article I.2.2. Should the prototype or any of its components be used for commercial purposes (i.e. sold, leased, rented or used to produce goods or services) during the project, this shall be declared. The costs of creating the prototype shall then be depreciated in accordance with the rules applicable to the purchase of new or second-hand equipment and infrastructure. Any related income must be declared.

ARTICLE I.14 — ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS ON USE OF THE RESULTS INCLUDING INTELLECTUAL AND INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

In accordance with Article II.9.3, whereby the Union and the Agency/Commission acquire rights to use the results of the project, these results may be exploited using any of the following modes:

- (a) distribution to the public in hard copies, in electronic or digital format, on the internet including social networks as a downloadable or non-downloadable file;
- (b) communication through press information services;
- (c) inclusion in widely accessible databases or indexes, such as via 'open access' or 'open data' portals, or similar repositories, whether freely accessible or accessible only upon subscription;
- (d) edit or re-write in another way the results of the project, including shortening, summarising, modifying the content, correcting technical errors in the content insert other as appropriate;
- (e) cut, insert meta-data, legends or other graphic, visual, audio or word elements insert other as appropriate in the results of the project;
- (f) extract a part (e.g. audio or video files) of, divide into parts or compile the results of the project;
- (g) prepare derivative works of the results of the project;

18

- (h) translate, insert subtitles in, dub the results of the project in:
 - all official languages of EU
- (i) license or sub-license to third parties, including if there are licensed pre-existing rights, any of the rights or modes of exploitation set out in points (a)-(i) of Article II.9.3 of the General Conditions and in points (a) to (h) above.

The beneficiaries must ensure that the Union has the rights of use specified in the General Conditions and in points (a)-(i) above for the whole duration of the industrial or intellectual property rights concerned.

ARTICLE 1.15 — INAPPLICABILITY OF THE NO-PROFIT PRINCIPLE

In accordance with point (b) of Article II.25.3, the non-profit principle does not apply to the following beneficiar(y)(ies) and affiliated entity(ies) that [are][is a] non-profit organisation[s]⁶:

- [name of the beneficiary];
- [name of the affiliated entity], affiliated to [name or acronym of the beneficiary].

[idem for further entities]]

ARTICLE I.16 — ELIGIBILITY OF VOLUNTEERS' WORK

As an exception to Article II.19.4(i), the value of volunteers' work may be declared as eligible costs in the form of unit costs in accordance with Article I.3.2(a)(ii). These costs may not exceed the limit specified in point (b) of Article II.25.1.

SIGNATURES

For the coordinating beneficiary

[function/forename/surname]

Head of Unit,

Done at [place], on...

In duplicate in English

19

⁶ To be added where one or more beneficiary or affiliated entity is a non-profit organisation, as provided for in Article 192(3)(c) FR.

ANNEX I — GENERAL CONDITIONS

TABLE OF CONTENT

AN	NEX I — GE	NERAL CONDITIONS	20
TA	BLE OF CON	TENT	20
PA	RT A — LEG	AL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS	24
	Article II.1 —	– Definitions	24
	Article II.2 —	- General obligations and roles of the beneficiaries	25
	II.2.1	General obligations and role of the beneficiaries	25
	II.2.2	General obligations and role of each beneficiary	26
	II.2.3	General obligations and role of the coordinating beneficiary	26
	Article II.3 —	- Communication between the parties	27
	II.3.1	Form and means of communication	28
	II.3.2	Date of communications	28
	Article II.4 —	- Liability for damages	28
	Article II.5 —	- Conflict of interests	29
	Article II.6 —	- Confidentiality	29
	Article II.7 —	- Processing of personal data	29
	II.7.1	Processing of personal data by the Agency/Commission	29
	II.7.2	Processing of personal data by the beneficiaries	30
	Article II.8 —	- Visibility of Union funding	30
	II.8.1	Information on Union funding and use of the LIFE Programm and Natura 2000 logos	
	II.8.2	Disclaimers excluding Agency/Commission responsibility	31
		Pre-existing rights and ownership and use of the results (includir tual and industrial property rights)	
	II.9.1	Ownership of the results by the beneficiaries	32

II.9.2	Pre-existing rights	32
II.9.3	Rights of use of the results and of pre-existing rights by the Union.	32
	— Award of contracts necessary for the implementation of the	
Article II.11 -	— Subcontracting of tasks forming part of the project	34
Article II.12 –	— Financial support to third parties	35
Article II.13 –	— Amendments to the agreement	36
Article II.14 –	Assignment of claims for payments to third parties	36
Article II.15 –	— Force majeure	36
Article II.16 -	— Suspension of the implementation of the project	37
II.16.1	Suspension of implementation by the beneficiaries	37
II.16.2	Suspension of implementation by the Agency/Commission	37
II.16.3	Effects of the suspension	38
Article II.17 –	— Termination of the ageement	39
II.17.1	Termination of the Agreement by the coordinating beneficiary	39
II.17.2	Termination of the participation of one or more beneficiaries by the coordinating beneficiary	
II.17.3	Termination of the Agreement or the participation of one or more beneficiaries by the Agency/Commission	
II.17.4	Effects of termination	42
Article II.18 –	- Applicable law, settlement of disputes and enforceable decisionS.	44
PART B — FINA	NCIAL PROVISIONS	45
Article II.19 –	— Eligible costs	45
II.19.1	Conditions for the eligibility of costs	45
II.19.2	Eligible direct costs	45
II.19.3	Eligible indirect costs	49
II.19.4	Ineligible costs	49

Article II.20 — Identifiability and verifiability of the amounts declared50
II.20.1 Declaring costs and contributions
II.20.2 Records and other documentation to support the costs and contributions declared
II.20.3 Conditions to determine the compliance of cost accounting practices 5
Not applicable5
Article II.21 — Eligibility of costs of entities affiliated to the beneficiaries5
Article II.22 — Budget transfers
Article II.23 — Non-compliance with reporting obligations
Article II.24 — Suspension of payments and time limit for payment
II.24.1 Suspension of payments
II.24.2 Suspension of the time limit for payments54
Article II.25 — Calculation of the final amount of the grant
II.25.1 Step 1 — Application of the reimbursement rate to the eligible costs and addition of the unit, flat-rate and lump sum contributions 5:
II.25.2 Step 2 — Limit to maximum amount of the grant5.
II.25.3 Step 3 — Reduction due to the no-profit rule
II.25.4 Step 4 — Reduction due to improper implementation or breach of other obligations
Article II.26 — Recovery
II.26.1 Recovery at the time of payment of the balance
II.26.2 Recovery after payment of the balance5
II.26.3 Recovery procedure
II.26.4 Interest on late payment
II.26.5 Bank charges5
Article II.27 — Checks, audits and evaluationS
II.27.1 Technical and financial checks, audits, interim and final

II.27.2 Duty to keep documents59
II.27.3 Obligation to provide information
II.27.4 On-the-spot visits
II.27.5 Contradictory audit procedure
II.27.6 Effects of audit findings
II.27.7 Correction of systemic or recurrent irregularities, fraud or breach of obligations
II.27.8 Rights of OLAF
II.27.9 Rights of the European Court of Auditors and EPPO63

PART A — LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS

ARTICLE II.1 — DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply for the purpose of the Agreement:

- **'Project':** the set of activities or the actions for which the grant is awarded, to be implemented by the beneficiaries as described in Annex II.
- 'Breach of obligations': failure by a beneficiary to fulfil one or more of its contractual obligations
- 'Confidential information or document': any information or document (in any format) received by either party from the other or accessed by either party in the context of the implementation of the Agreement that any of the parties has identified in writing as confidential. It does not include information that is publicly available.
- **'Conflict of interests':** a situation where the impartial and objective implementation of the Agreement by a beneficiary is compromised for reasons involving family, emotional life, political or national affinity, economic interest, or any other shared interest with the Agency/Commission, or any third party related to the subject matter of the Agreement.
- 'Direct costs': those specific costs which are directly linked to the implementation of the project and can therefore be attributed directly to it. They may not include any indirect costs;
- 'Force majeure': any unforeseeable, exceptional situation or event beyond the control of the parties that prevents either of them from fulfilling any of their obligations under the Agreement, which is not attributable to error or negligence on their part or on the part of the subcontractors affiliated entities or third parties in receipt of financial support and which proves to be inevitable despite their exercising due diligence. The following cannot be invoked as force majeure: labour disputes, strikes, financial difficulties or any default of a service, defect in equipment or materials or delays in making them available, unless they stem directly from a relevant case of force majeure;
- 'Formal notification': form of communication between the parties made in writing by mail or electronic mail which provides the sender with compelling evidence that the message was delivered to the specified recipient;
- **'Fraud':** any act or omission relating to the use or presentation of false, incorrect or incomplete statements or documents, which has as its effect the misappropriation or wrongful retention of funds or assets from the Union budget, the non-disclosure of information in violation of a specific obligation, with the same effect or the misapplication of such funds or assets for purposes other than those for which they were originally granted;
- 'Grave professional misconduct': a violation of applicable laws or regulations or ethical standards of the profession to which a person or entity belongs, or any wrongful conduct of a person or entity which has an impact on its professional credibility where such conduct denotes wrongful intent or gross negligence.

24

- 'Implementation period': the period of implementation of the activities forming part of the project, as specified in Article I.2.2;
- 'Indirect costs': those costs which are not specific costs directly linked to the implementation of the project and which therefore cannot be attributed directly to it. They may not include any costs identifiable or declared as eligible direct costs;
- 'Irregularity': any infringement of a provision of Union law resulting from an act or omission by a beneficiary, which has or would have the effect of prejudicing the Union's budget;
- 'Maximum amount of the grant': the maximum EU contribution to the project, as defined in Article I.3.1;
- 'Pre-existing material': any materials, document, technology or know-how which exists prior to the beneficiary using it for the production of a result in the implementation of the project;
- 'Pre-existing right': any industrial and intellectual property right on pre-existing material; it may consist in a right of ownership, a licence right and/or a right of use belonging to the beneficiary or any other third parties;
- 'Related person': any person who has the power to represent the beneficiary or to take decisions on its behalf;
- **'Starting date':** the date on which the implementation of the project starts as provided for in Article I.2.2;
- **'Subcontract':** a procurement contract within the meaning of Article II.10, which covers the implementation by a third party of tasks forming part of the project as described in Annex II;

ARTICLE II.2 — GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND ROLES OF THE BENEFICIARIES

II.2.1 General obligations and role of the beneficiaries

The beneficiaries:

- (a) are jointly and severally liable for carrying out the *project* in accordance with the Agreement. If a beneficiary fails to implement its part of the *project*, the other beneficiaries become responsible for implementing this part (but without increasing the *maximum amount of the grant*);
- (b) must comply jointly or individually with any legal obligations they are bound by under applicable EU, international and national law;
- (c) must make appropriate internal arrangements to implement the *project* properly. The arrangements must be consistent with the terms of the Agreement. If provided for in the Special Conditions, those arrangements must take the form of an internal cooperation agreement between the beneficiaries.

- (d) maintain up-to-date books of account, in accordance with the usual accounting conventions imposed on them by law and existing regulations;
- (e) not act, in the context of the project, as sub-contractor or supplier to any other beneficiary;
- (f) contribute financially to the project.

II.2.2 General obligations and role of each beneficiary

Each associated beneficiary must:

- (a) inform the coordinating beneficiary immediately of any change likely to affect or delay the implementation of the project of which the beneficiary is aware, and, for LIFE Nature and Biodiversity projects, of any activity by third parties that is likely to have a significant negative impact on the sites/species targeted in the project, and if appropriate to take measures to persuade third parties to refrain from such activities;
- (b) inform the coordinator immediately:
 - (i) of any change in its legal, financial, technical, organisational or ownership situation and of any change in its name, address or legal representative;
 - (ii) of any change in the legal, financial, technical, organisational or ownership situation of its affiliated entities and of any change in their name, address or legal representative;
 - (iii) of any change regarding the exclusion situations listed in Article 136 of Regulation (EU) 2018/1046, including for its affiliated entities;
- (c) submit in due time to the coordinating beneficiary:
 - (i) the data needed to draw up the reports, financial statements and other documents provided for in the Agreement;
 - (ii) all the necessary documents required for audits, checks or evaluations as provided for in Article II.27.
 - (iii) any other information to be provided to the Agency/Commission under the Agreement, except if the Agreement requires such information to be submitted directly by the beneficiary to the Agency/Commission.

II.2.3 General obligations and role of the coordinating beneficiary

The coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) must monitor the implementation of the *project* in order to make sure that is implemented in accordance with the terms of the Agreement;
- (b) is the intermediary for all communications between the beneficiaries and the Agency/Commission, except if provided otherwise in the Agreement. In particular, the coordinating beneficiary:
 - (i) must immediately inform the Agency/Commission:

- of any change in the name, address, legal representative of any of the beneficiaries or of their affiliated entities;
- of any change in the legal, financial, technical, organisational or ownership situation of any of the beneficiaries or of their affiliated entities;
- of any events or circumstances of which the coordinating beneficiary is aware, that are likely to affect or delay the implementation of the *project*.
- for LIFE Nature and Biodiversity projects, of any activity by third parties that is likely to have a significant negative impact on the sites/species targeted in the project, and if appropriate to take measures to persuade third parties to refrain from such activities;
- (ii) is responsible for supplying the Agency/Commission with all documents and information required under the Agreement, except if provided otherwise in the Agreement itself. If information is required from the other beneficiaries, the coordinating beneficiary is responsible for obtaining and verifying this information before passing it on to the Agency/Commission;
- (c) must make the appropriate arrangements for providing any financial guarantees required under the Agreement;
- (d) must draw up the requests for payment in accordance with the Agreement;
- (e) if it is designated as the sole recipient of payments on behalf of all of the beneficiaries, it must ensure that all the appropriate payments are made within 30 days of the receipt of the funds paid by the Agency/Commission unless there is a justified delay. The coordinating beneficiary shall inform the Agency/Commission of the distribution of the Union contribution;
- (f) bear responsibility for providing all the necessary documents in the event of checks and audits initiated before the payment of the balance, and in the event of evaluation in accordance with Article II.27 as well as for retaining copies of all supporting documents of all the associated beneficiaries for at least five years after the balance payment.

The coordinating beneficiary may not subcontract any part of its tasks described in points (a) to (f) to the other beneficiaries or to any other party.

II.2.4 The role of the external monitoring team

To follow up the project, the Agency/Commission selected an external monitoring team (hereinafter "the external monitoring team") to assist it by following and assessing the projects progress and their coherence with the actual costs incurred.

The external monitoring team shall not be authorised to take any decision on behalf of the Agency/Commission. A recommendation or a statement provided by the external monitoring team to the beneficiaries cannot be interpreted as representing a position of the Agency/Commission.

ARTICLE II.3 — COMMUNICATION BETWEEN THE PARTIES

II.3.1 Form and means of communication

Any communication relating to the Agreement or to its implementation must:

- (a) be made in writing (in paper or electronic form);
- (b) bear the number of the Agreement and the acronym; and
- (c) be made using the communication details identified in Article I.6.

If a party requests written confirmation of an electronic communication within a reasonable time, the sender must provide an original signed paper version of the communication as soon as possible.

Before communicating directly with the Agency/Commission, the coordinating beneficiary shall consult *the external monitoring team*. Any correspondence relating to the Agreement or to its implementation sent by the coordinating beneficiary to the Agency/Commission shall be sent in parallel to *the external monitoring team*.

Formal notifications shall be made by registered mail with return receipt or equivalent, or by equivalent electronic means.

II.3.2 Date of communications

Any communication is considered to have been made when the receiving party receives it, unless the Agreement states that communication is considered to have been made on the date when the communication was sent.

Email is considered to have been received by the receiving party on the day of successful dispatch of that email, provided that it is sent to the email address indicated in Article I.6. The sending party must be able to prove the date of dispatch. If the sending party receives a non-delivery report, it must make every effort to ensure that the other party actually receives the communication by email or mail. In such a case, the sending party is not held in breach of its obligation to send such communication within a specified deadline.

Mail sent to the Agency/Commission using the postal or courier services is considered to have been received by the Agency/Commission on the date on which it is registered by the unit identified in Article I.6.2 or on the date on which it is received by the *external monitoring team*, whichever of these dates is later.

Formal notifications are considered to have been received by the receiving party on the date of receipt indicated in the proof received by the sending party that the message was delivered to the specified recipient.

ARTICLE II.4 — LIABILITY FOR DAMAGES

- **II.4.1** The Agency/Commission may not be held liable for any damage caused or sustained by any of the beneficiaries, including any damage caused to third parties as a consequence of or during the implementation of the *project*.
- **II.4.2** Except in cases of *force majeure*, the beneficiaries must compensate the Agency/Commission for any damage it sustains as a result of the implementation of

28

the *project* or because the *project* was not implemented in full compliance with the Agreement.

ARTICLE II.5 — CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

- **II.5.1** The beneficiaries must take all necessary measures to prevent any situation of *conflict* of interests.
- **II.5.2** The beneficiaries must inform the Agency/Commission without delay of any situation constituting or likely to lead to a *conflict of interests*. They must take immediately all the necessary steps to rectify this situation.

The Agency/Commission may verify that the measures taken are appropriate and may require additional measures to be taken by a specified deadline.

ARTICLE II.6 — CONFIDENTIALITY

- **II.6.1** During implementation of the *project* and for five years after the payment of the balance, the parties must treat with confidentiality any *confidential information and documents*.
- **II.6.2** The parties may only use *confidential information and documents* for a reason other than to fulfil their obligations under the Agreement if they have first obtained the prior written agreement of the other party.
- **II.6.3** The confidentiality obligations do not apply if:
 - (a) the disclosing party agrees to release the other party from those obligations;
 - (b) the *confidential information or documents* become public through other means than a breach of the confidentiality obligations;
 - (c) the disclosure of the confidential information or documents is required by law
 - (d) the Agency shares confidential information or documents with the European Commission.
- **II.6.4** The external monitoring team shall act under the same confidentiality rules as those stipulated for the beneficiaries and the Agency/Commission.

ARTICLE II.7 — PROCESSING OF PERSONAL DATA

II.7.1 Processing of personal data by the Agency/Commission

Any personal data included in the Agreement must be processed by the Agency/Commission in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 2018/1725.7

29

Regulation (EU) 2018/1725 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2018 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data by the Union institutions, bodies, offices and agencies and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 and Decision No 1247/2002/EC.

Such data must be processed by the data controller identified in Article I.6.1 solely for implementing, managing and monitoring the Agreement or to protect the financial interests of the EU, including checks, audits and investigations in accordance with Article II.27.

The beneficiaries have the right to access, rectify or erase their own personal data and the right to restrict or, where applicable, the right to data portability or the right to object to data processing in accordance with Regulation (EU) No 2018/1725. For this purpose, they must send any queries about the processing of their personal data to the data controller identified in Article I.7.1.

The beneficiaries may have recourse at any time to the European Data Protection Supervisor.

II.7.2 Processing of personal data by the beneficiaries

The beneficiaries must process personal data under the Agreement in compliance with applicable EU and national law on data protection (including authorisations or notification requirements).

The beneficiaries may grant their personnel access only to data that is strictly necessary for implementing, managing and monitoring the Agreement. The beneficiary must ensure that the personnel authorised to process personal data has committed itself to confidentiality or is under appropriate statutory obligation of confidentiality.

The beneficiaries must adopt appropriate technical and organisational security measures having regard to the risks inherent in the processing and to the nature, scope, context and purposes of processing of the personal data concerned. This is in order to ensure, as appropriate:

- (a) the pseudonymisation and encryption of personal data;
- (b) the ability to ensure the ongoing confidentiality, integrity, availability and resilience of processing systems and services;
- (c) the ability to restore the availability and access to personal data in a timely manner in the event of a physical or technical incident;
- (d) a process for regularly testing, assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of technical and organisational measures for ensuring the security of the processing;
- (e) measures to protect personal data from accidental or unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorised disclosure of or access to personal data transmitted, stored or otherwise processed.
- (f) ensure that, during communication of personal data and transport of storage media, the data cannot be read, copied or erased without authorisation;
- (g) design their organisational structure in such a way that it meets data protection requirements.

ARTICLE II.8 — VISIBILITY OF UNION FUNDING

II.8.1 Information on Union funding and use of the LIFE Programme and Natura 2000 logos

- a) Unless the Agency/Commission requests or agrees otherwise, any communication or publication made by the beneficiaries jointly or individually that relates to the project, including at conferences, seminars or in any information or promotional materials (such as brochures, leaflets, posters, presentations, in electronic form, etc.), must:
 - i. indicate that the project has received funding from the Union; and
 - ii. display the *LIFE Programme logo* (Annex II to the LIFE Regulation, https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life-communication). For audio-visual material, the credits at the beginning and/or at the end shall include an explicit audible and readable mention to the LIFE financial support (e.g. "With the contribution of the LIFE Programme of the European Union").

All durable goods acquired in the frame of the project shall bear the LIFE logo unless otherwise specified by the Agency/Commission.

When displayed in association with another logo, the LIFE Programme logo must have appropriate prominence.

The obligation to display the *LIFE Programme logo* does not confer on the beneficiaries a right of exclusive use. The beneficiaries may not appropriate the *LIFE Programme logo* or any similar trademark or logo, either by registration or by any other means.

For the purposes of the first, second and third subparagraphs and under the conditions specified therein, the beneficiaries may use the *LIFE Programme logo* without first obtaining permission from the Agency/Commission.

For projects in Natura 2000 sites or contributing to the integrity of the Natura 2000 network, the obligations regarding the LIFE Programme logo also apply for the Natura 2000 logo (https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life-communication). The project's importance in terms of establishing the Natura 2000 network must be described in the notice boards and on the websites.

- b) The coordinating beneficiary shall create a *project website* or use an existing website in at least one official language of the European Union for the dissemination of project activities, progress and results. The web address where the main results of the project are available to the public shall be indicated in the reports. This website shall be online at the latest six months after the starting date as specified in Article I.2.2, shall be regularly updated and shall be kept for at least five years after the end of the project. A summary of the project in English language, including name and contact information of the coordinating beneficiary, will be placed on the LIFE website and made available to the general public.
- c) The beneficiaries shall erect and maintain *notice boards* describing the project at the locations where it is implemented, at strategic places accessible and visible to the public.

II.8.2 Disclaimers excluding Agency/Commission responsibility

Any communication or publication that relates to the project, made by the beneficiaries jointly or individually in any form and using any means, must indicate:

(a) that it reflects only the author's view; and

(b) that the Agency/Commission is not responsible for any use that may be made of the information it contains.

ARTICLE II.9 — PRE-EXISTING RIGHTS AND OWNERSHIP AND USE OF THE RESULTS (INCLUDING INTELLECTUAL AND INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY RIGHTS)

II.9.1 Ownership of the results by the beneficiaries

The beneficiaries retain ownership of the results of the project, including industrial and intellectual property rights, and of the reports and other documents relating to it, unless stipulated otherwise in the Agreement.

With a view to promoting the use of techniques or models favourable to the environment, the beneficiaries are encouraged to make available throughout the Union all documents, patents and know-how directly resulting from the project implementation, on non-discriminatory and reasonable commercial conditions.

II.9.2 Pre-existing rights

If the Agency/Commission sends the beneficiaries a written request specifying which of the results it intends to use, the beneficiaries must:

- (a) establish a list specifying all *pre-existing rights* included in those results; and
- (b) provide this list to the Agency/Commission at the latest with the request for payment of the balance.

The beneficiaries must ensure that they or their affiliated entities have all the rights to use any *pre-existing rights* during the implementation of the Agreement.

II.9.3 Rights of use of the results and of pre-existing rights by the Union

The beneficiaries grant the Union and the Agency/Commission the following rights to use the results of the project:

- (a) for its own purposes and in particular to make available to persons working for the Agency/Commission, other Union institutions, agencies and bodies and to Member States' institutions, as well as to copy and reproduce in whole or in part and in an unlimited number of copies;
- (b) reproduction: the right to authorise direct or indirect, temporary or permanent reproduction of the results by any means (mechanical, digital or other) and in any form, in whole or in part;
- (c) communication to the public: the right to authorise any display performance or communication to the public, by wire or wireless means, including making the results available to the public in such a way that members of the public may access them from a place and at a time individually chosen by them; this right also includes communication and broadcasting by cable or by satellite;

- (d) distribution: the right to authorise any form of distribution of results or copies of the results to the public;
- (e) adaptation: the right to modify the results;
- (f) translation;
- (g) the right to store and archive the results in line with the document management rules applicable to the Agency/Commission, including digitisation or converting the format for preservation or new use purposes;
- (h) where the results are documents, the right to authorise the reuse of the documents in conformity with Commission Decision 2011/833/EU of 12 December 2011 on the reuse of Commission documents if that Decision is applicable and if the documents fall within its scope and are not excluded by any of its provisions. For the sake of this provision, the terms 'reuse' and 'document' have the meanings given to them by Decision 2011/833/EU.
- (i) inclusion in widely accessible databases or indexes, such as via 'open access' or 'open data' portals, or similar repositories, whether freely accessible or accessible only upon subscription of the LIFE Key Project Indicators collected by the beneficiaries in relation to the project. The above rights of use may be further specified in the Special Conditions.

The above rights of use may be further specified in the Special Conditions.

Additional rights of use for the Union may be provided for in the Special Conditions.

The beneficiaries must ensure that the Union has the right to use any *pre-existing rights* included in the results of the project. The *pre-existing rights* must be used for the same purposes and under the same conditions as applicable to the rights of use of the results of the project, unless specified otherwise in the Special Conditions.

Information about the copyright owner must be inserted in cases where the result is divulged by the Union. The copyright information must read: '© — year — name of the copyright owner. All rights reserved. Licenced to the European Union under conditions.'.

If the beneficiaries grant rights of use to the Agency/Commission, this does not affect its confidentiality obligations under Article II.6 or the beneficiaries' obligations under Article II.2.1.

ARTICLE II.10 — AWARD OF CONTRACTS NECESSARY FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PROJECT

II.10.1 If the implementation of the *project* requires the beneficiaries to procure goods, works or services, they may award the contract in accordance with their usual purchasing practices provided that the contracts is awarded to the tender offering best value for money or, as appropriate, to the tender offering the lowest price. In doing so, they must avoid any *conflict of interests*. Tendering procedures shall comply with the principles of transparency and equal treatment of potential contractors. The beneficiaries must maintain a written record of the procedure used to ensure that these

conditions are fulfilled in the tendering procedure in accordance with their usual procurement policy and/or practise.

The beneficiaries must ensure that the Agency/Commission, the European Court of Auditors and the European Anti-Fraud Office (OLAF) can exercise their rights under Article II.27 also towards the beneficiaries' contractors.

II.10.2 Beneficiaries that are 'contracting authorities' within the meaning of Directive 2014/24/EU⁸ or 'contracting entities' within the meaning of Directive 2014/25/EU⁹ must comply with the applicable national public procurement rules.

The beneficiaries must ensure that the conditions applicable to them under Articles II.4, II.5, II.6 and II.9 are also applicable to the contractors.

- **II.10.3** The beneficiaries remain solely responsible for carrying out the *project* and for compliance with the Agreement.
- **II.10.4** If the beneficiaries breach their obligations under Article II.10.1 the costs related to the contract concerned are considered ineligible in accordance with Article II.19.2 (c), (d) and (e).

If the beneficiaries breach their obligations under Article II.10.2 the grant may be reduced in accordance with Article II.25.4.

ARTICLE II.11 — SUBCONTRACTING OF TASKS FORMING PART OF THE PROJECT

- **II.11.1** Beneficiaries may subcontract tasks forming part of the *project*. If they do so, they must ensure that, in addition to the conditions specified in Article II.10, the following conditions are also complied with:
 - (a) subcontracting does not cover core tasks of the *project*;
 - (b) recourse to subcontracting is justified because of the nature of the *project* and what is necessary for its implementation;
 - (c) the estimated costs of the subcontracting are clearly identifiable in the estimated budget set out in Annex III;

any recourse to subcontracting, if not provided for in Annex II and III, is communicated by the coordinating beneficiary and approved by the

⁸ Directive 2014/24/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 February 2014 on public procurement and repealing Directive 2004/18/EC

⁹ Directive 2014/25/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 February 2014 on procurement by entities operating in the water, energy, transport and postal services sectors and repealing Directive 2004/17/EC

Agency/Commission. The Agency/Commission may grant approval after recourse to subcontracting if the subcontracting:

- is specifically justified in the mid term or final technical report referred to in Articles I.4.3 and I.4.4; and
- does not entail changes to the Agreement which would call into question the decision awarding the grant or be contrary to the equal treatment of applicants;
- (d) the beneficiaries ensure that
 - i. the conditions applicable to them under Article II.8 are also applicable to the subcontractors.
 - ii. all invoices issued by subcontractors are sufficiently detailed as to allow identification of single items covered by the service delivered (i.e. clear description and cost of each item).
- **II.11.2** If the beneficiaries breach their obligations under Article II.11.1 (a), (b), (c) or (d), the costs related to the contract concerned are considered ineligible in accordance with Article II.19.2 (f).

If the beneficiaries breach their obligation under Article II.11.1 (e) the grant may be reduced in accordance with Article II.25.4.

ARTICLE II.12 — FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO THIRD PARTIES

- II.12.1 If, while implementing the *project*, the beneficiaries have to give financial support to third parties, the beneficiaries must give such financial support in accordance with the conditions specified in Annex II. Under those conditions the following information must be stated at least:
- (a) the maximum amount of financial support. This amount may not exceed EUR 20 000 for each third party; the total amount of financial support shall not exceed EUR 100.000 during the lifetime of the project.
- (b) the criteria for determining the exact amount of the financial support;
- (c) the different types of activities that may receive financial support, on the basis of a fixed list;
- (d) the persons or categories of persons which may receive financial support;
- (e) the criteria for giving the financial support.
- **II.12.2** Financial support in the form of prizes is not allowed.
- **II.12.3** The beneficiaries shall ensure that the conditions applicable to them under Articles II.3, II.4, II.5, II.7, II.8 and II.27 are also applicable to the third parties receiving financial support.

ARTICLE II.13 — AMENDMENTS TO THE AGREEMENT

- **II.13.1** Any amendment to the Agreement must be made in writing.
- **II.13.2** An amendment may not have the purpose or the effect of making changes to the Agreement which would call into question the decision awarding the grant or be contrary to the equal treatment of applicants.

Only substantial changes require a formal amendment of the Agreement and will only be accepted in duly justified cases.

- **II.13.3** Any request for amendment must:
 - (a) be duly justified;
 - (b) be accompanied by appropriate supporting documents; and
 - (c) be sent to the other party in due time before it is due to take effect, and in any case one month before the end of the *implementation period*.
 - Point (c) does not apply in cases duly substantiated by the party requesting the amendment if the other party agrees.
- **II.13.4** A request for amendment on behalf of the beneficiaries must be submitted by the coordinating beneficiary. If a change of coordinating beneficiary is requested without its agreement, the request must be submitted by all other beneficiaries and must be accompanied by the opinion of the coordinating beneficiary or proof that this opinion has been requested in writing.
- **II.13.5** Amendments enter into force on the date on which the last party signs or on the date of approval of the request for amendment.

Amendments take effect on a date agreed by the parties or, in the absence of such an agreed date, on the date on which the amendment enters into force.

ARTICLE II.14 — ASSIGNMENT OF CLAIMS FOR PAYMENTS TO THIRD PARTIES

II.14.1 The beneficiaries may not assign any of their claims for payment against the Agency/Commission to any third party, except if approved by the Agency/Commission on the basis of a reasoned, written request by the coordinating beneficiary made on behalf of the beneficiaries.

If the Agency/Commission does not accept the assignment or the terms of it are not complied with, the assignment has no effect on it.

II.14.2 In no circumstances may an assignment release the beneficiaries from their obligations towards the Agency/Commission.

ARTICLE II.15 — FORCE MAJEURE

- **II.15.1** A party faced with *force majeure* must send a *formal notification* to the other party without delay, stating the nature of the situation or of the event, its likely duration and foreseeable effects.
- **II.15.2** The parties must take the necessary measures to limit any damage due to *force majeure*. They must do their best to resume the implementation of the *project* as soon as possible.
- **II.15.3** The party faced with *force majeure* may not be considered in breach of its obligations under the Agreement if it has been prevented from fulfilling them by *force majeure*.

ARTICLE II.16 — SUSPENSION OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PROJECT

II.16.1 Suspension of implementation by the beneficiaries

The coordinating beneficiary, on behalf of the beneficiaries, may suspend the implementation of the *project* or any part of it, if exceptional circumstances make such implementation impossible or excessively difficult, in particular in the event of *force majeure*.

The coordinating beneficiary must immediately inform the Agency/Commission, stating:

- (a) the reasons for suspension, including details about the date or period when the exceptional circumstances occurred; and
- (b) the expected date of resumption.

Once the circumstances allow the beneficiaries to resume implementing the *project*, the coordinating beneficiary must inform the Agency/Commission immediately and present a request for amendment of the Agreement as provided for in Article II.16.3. This obligation does not apply if the Agreement or the participation of a beneficiary is terminated in accordance with Articles II.17.1, II.17.2 or points (c) or (d) of Article II.17.3.1.

II.16.2 Suspension of implementation by the Agency/Commission

II.16.2.1 Grounds for suspension

The Agency/Commission may suspend the implementation of the *project* or any part thereof:

- (a) if the Agency/Commission has evidence that a beneficiary has committed *irregularities*, *fraud* or *breach of obligations* in the award procedure or while implementing the Agreement;
- (b) if the Agency/Commission has evidence that a beneficiary has committed systemic or recurrent *irregularities*, *fraud* or serious *breach of obligations* in other grants funded by the Union or the European Atomic Energy Community ('Euratom') awarded to the beneficiary under similar conditions and the errors, *irregularities*, *fraud* or *breach* have a material impact on this grant; or
- (c) if the Agency/Commission suspects *irregularities, fraud* or *breach of obligations* committed by a beneficiary in the award procedure or while implementing the Agreement and needs to verify whether they have actually occurred.

II.16.2.2 Procedure for suspension

Step 1 — Before suspending implementation of the *project*, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) informing it of:
 - (i) its intention to suspend the implementation;
 - (ii) the reasons for suspension;
 - (iii) the necessary conditions for resuming the implementation in the cases referred to in points (a) and (b) of Article II.16.2.1; and
- (b) inviting it to submit observations within 30 calendar days of receiving the formal notification.

Step 2 — If the Agency/Commission does not receive observations or decides to pursue the procedure despite the observations it has received, it must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it of:

- (a) the suspension of the implementation;
- (b) the reasons for suspension; and
- (c) the final conditions for resuming the implementation in the cases referred to in points (a) and (b) of Article II.16.2.1,; or
- (d) the indicative date of completion of the necessary verification in the case referred to in point (c) of Article II.16.2.1,.

The coordinating beneficiary must immediately inform the other beneficiaries of the suspension. The suspension takes effect five calendar days after the *formal notification* is received by the coordinating beneficiary or on a later date specified in the *formal notification*.

Otherwise, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it that it is not continuing the suspension procedure.

II.16.2.3 Resuming implementation

In order to resume the implementation, the beneficiaries must meet the notified conditions as soon as possible and must inform the Agency/Commission of any progress made.

If the conditions for resuming the implementation are met or the necessary verifications are carried out, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) informing it that the conditions for lifting the suspension are met; and
- (b) requiring it to present a request for amendment of the Agreement as provided for in Article II.16.3. This obligation does not apply if the Agreement or the participation of a beneficiary is terminated in accordance with Articles II.17.1, II.17.2 or points (c), (g) or (h) of Article II.17.3.1.

II.16.3 Effects of the suspension

If the implementation of the *project* can be resumed and the Agreement has not been terminated, an amendment to the Agreement must be made in accordance with Article II.13 in order to:

- (a) set the date on which the *project* is to be resumed;
- (b) extend the duration of the *project*; and
- (c) make other changes necessary to adapt the *project* to the new situation.

The suspension is lifted with effect from the resumption date set out in the amendment. This date may be before the date on which the amendment enters into force.

Costs incurred during the period of suspension that relate to the implementation of the suspended *project* or the suspended part of it may not be reimbursed or covered by the grant.

Suspending implementation of the *project* does not affect the Agency's/Commission's right to terminate the Agreement or to terminate the participation of a beneficiary in accordance with Article II.17.3, reduce the grant or recover amounts unduly paid in accordance with Articles II.25.4 and II.26.

Neither party may claim damages due to suspension by the other party.

ARTICLE II.17 — TERMINATION OF THE AGEEMENT

II.17.1 Termination of the Agreement by the coordinating beneficiary

The beneficiaries may terminate the Agreement.

The coordinating beneficiary must send a *formal notification* of termination to the Agency/Commission, stating:

- (a) the reasons for termination; and
- (b) the date on which the termination takes effect. This date must be set after the *formal notification*.

If the coordinating beneficiary does not state the reasons for the termination or if the Agency/Commission considers that the reasons do not justify termination, the Agreement is considered to have been terminated improperly.

The termination takes effect on the day specified in the formal notification.

II.17.2 Termination of the participation of one or more beneficiaries by the coordinating beneficiary

The participation of one or more beneficiaries may be terminated by the coordinating beneficiary at the request of the associated beneficiary concerned or on behalf of the other associated beneficiaries.

The coordinating beneficiary must send a *formal notification* of termination to the Agency/Commission and inform the beneficiary concerned by termination.

If the coordinating beneficiary's participation is terminated without its agreement, the *formal notification* must be submitted by another associated beneficiary (acting on behalf of the other associated beneficiaries).

The formal notification must include:

- (a) the reasons for termination;
- (b) the opinion of the beneficiary concerned by termination (or proof that this opinion has been requested in writing);
- (c) the date on which the termination takes effect. This date must be set after the *formal notification*; and
- (d) a request for amendment as provided for in Article II.17.4.2(a).

If the coordinating beneficiary or beneficiary does not state the reasons for the termination or if the Agency/Commission considers that the reasons do not justify termination, the participation will be considered to have been terminated improperly.

The termination takes effect on the day specified in the *formal notification*.

II.17.3 Termination of the Agreement or the participation of one or more beneficiaries by the Agency/Commission

II.17.3.1 Grounds for termination

The Agency/Commission may terminate the Agreement or the participation of any one or several beneficiaries, if:

- (a) a change to the beneficiary's legal, financial, technical, organisational or ownership situation is likely to affect the implementation of the Agreement substantially or calls into question the decision to award the grant or a change regarding the exclusion situations listed in Article 136 of Regulation (EU) 2018/1046, that calls into question the decision to award the grant;
- (b) following the termination of the participation of any one or several beneficiaries, the necessary modifications to the Agreement would call into question the decision awarding the grant or would result in unequal treatment of applicants;
- (c) the beneficiaries, any *related person* or any natural person who is essential for the award or for the implementation of the Agreement have committed serious *breach of obligations*, including improper implementation of the project as described in Annex II;
- (d) the implementation of the project is prevented or suspended due to *force majeure* or exceptional circumstances and either:
 - (i) resumption is impossible; or
 - (ii) the necessary changes to the Agreement would call into question the decision awarding the grant or be contrary to the equal treatment of applicants;
- (e) a beneficiary or a natural or legal person that assumes unlimited liability for the debts of that beneficiary:

- (i) is declared bankrupt, is subject to insolvency or winding up procedures, its assets are being administered by a liquidator or by a Court, has entered into an agreement with creditors, has suspended business activities or is in any analogous situation arising from a similar procedure provided for under the Union or national law;
- (ii) is in breach of its obligations relating to the payment of taxes or social security contributions in accordance with the applicable law;
- (f) a beneficiary or any *related person* or any natural person who is essential for the award or for the implementation of the Agreement has committed:
 - (i) grave professional misconduct proven by any means;
 - (ii) fraud;
 - (iii) corruption;
 - (iv) conduct related to criminal organisations;
 - (v) money laundering;
 - (vi) terrorism-related crimes (including terrorism financing);
 - (vii)child labour or other offences concerning trafficking of human beings;
- (g) the Agency/Commission has evidence that a beneficiary or any related person or any natural person who is essential for the award or for the implementation of the Agreement has committed irregularities or breach of obligations in the award procedure or while implementing the Agreement, including if that beneficiary or related person or natural person has submitted false information or failed to provide required information;
- (h) the Agency/Commission has evidence that a beneficiary has committed systemic or recurrent *irregularities*, *fraud* or serious *breach of obligations* in other Union or Euratom grants awarded to it under similar conditions and such *irregularities*, *fraud* or *breach of obligations* have a material impact on this grant;
- (i) a beneficiary or any *related person* or any natural person who is essential for the award or for the implementation of the Agreement has created an entity under a different jurisdiction with the intend to circumvent fiscal, social or any other legal obligations in the jurisdiction of its registered office, central administration or principal place of business;
- (j) a beneficiary or any related person or any natural person who is essential for the award or for the implementation of the Agreement has been created with the intend referred to in point (i) or
- (k) the Agency/Commission has sent a beneficiary, through the coordinating beneficiary, a *formal notification* asking it to end the participation of its affiliated entity because that entity is in a situation provided for in points (e) to (j) and that beneficiary has failed to request an amendment ending the participation of the entity and reallocating its tasks.

II.17.3.2 Procedure for termination

Step 1- Before terminating the Agreement or participation of one or more beneficiaries, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) informing it of:
 - (i) its intention to terminate;
 - (ii) the reasons for termination; and
- (b) requiring it, within 45 calendar days of receiving the formal notification,:
 - (i) to submit observations on behalf of all beneficiaries; and
 - (ii) in the case of point (c) of Article II.17.3.1, to inform the Agency/Commission of the measures to ensure compliance with the obligations under the Agreement.

Step 2 — If the Agency/Commission does not receive observations or decides to pursue the procedure despite the observations it has received, it will send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it of the termination and the date on which it takes effect. The coordinating beneficiary must immediately inform the other beneficiaries of the termination.

Otherwise, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it that the termination procedure is not continued.

The termination takes effect:

- (a) for terminations under points (a), (b), (c) and (e) of Article II.17.3.1: on the day specified in the *formal notification* of termination referred to in the second subparagraph (i.e. in Step 2 above);
- (b) for terminations under points (d), (f), (g), (h) and (i) of Article II.17.3.1: on the day after the coordinating beneficiary receives the *formal notification* of termination referred to in the second subparagraph (i.e. in Step 2 above).

II.17.4 Effects of termination

II.17.4.1 Effects of terminating the Agreement:

Within 60 calendar days from the day on which the termination takes effect, the coordinating beneficiary must submit a request for payment of the balance as provided for in Article I.4.4.

If the Agency/Commission does not receive the request for payment of the balance by the above deadline, only costs which are included in an approved technical report and, where relevant, in an approved financial statement, are reimbursed or covered by the grant.

If the Agreement is terminated by the Agency/Commission because the coordinating beneficiary has breached its obligation to submit the request for payment, the coordinating beneficiary may not submit any request for payment after termination. In that case the second subparagraph applies.

The Agency/Commission calculates the final grant amount as referred to in Article II.25 and the balance as referred to in Article I.5.4 on the basis of the reports submitted. Only activities undertaken before the date when the termination takes effect or the end date of the *implementation period* as specified in Article I.2.2, whichever is the earliest, must be taken into account. Where the grant takes the form of reimbursement of costs actually incurred as

provided for in Article I.3.2(a)(i), only costs incurred before termination takes effect are reimbursed or covered by the grant. Costs relating to contracts due for execution only after termination are not taken into account and are not reimbursed or covered by the grant.

The Agency/Commission may reduce the grant in accordance with Article II.25.4 in case of:

- (a) improper termination of the Agreement by the coordinating beneficiary within the meaning of Article II.17.1; or
- (b) termination of the Agreement by the Agency/Commission on any of the grounds set out in points (c), (f), (g), (h) and (i) of Article II.17.3.1.

Neither party may claim damages on the grounds that the other party terminated the Agreement.

After termination, the beneficiaries' obligations continue to apply, in particular those under Articles I.4, II.6, II.8, II.9, II.14, II.27 and any additional provisions on the use of the results, as set out in the Special Conditions.

II.17.4.2 Effects of terminating the participation of one or more beneficiaries:

- a) The coordinating beneficiary must submit a request for amendment including:
 - (i) a proposal to reallocate the tasks of the beneficiary or beneficiaries concerned by the termination; and
 - (ii) if necessary, the addition of one or more new beneficiaries to succeed the beneficiary or beneficiaries concerned in all their rights and obligations under the Agreement.

If the Agency/Commission terminates the participation of a beneficiary, the coordinating beneficiary must submit the request for amendment within 60 calendar days from the day on which the termination takes effect.

If the coordinating beneficiary terminates the participation of a beneficiary, the request for amendment must be included in the *formal notification* of termination referred to in Article II.17.2.

If termination takes effect after the end of the *implementation period*, no request for amendment must be provided unless the beneficiary concerned is the coordinating beneficiary. In this case, the request for amendment must propose a new coordinating beneficiary.

If the request for amendment is rejected by the Agency/Commission, the Agreement may be terminated in accordance with Article II.17.3.1 (b). The request for amendment may be rejected if it calls into question the decision awarding the grant or is contrary to the equal treatment of applicants.

- b) The beneficiary concerned by termination must submit to the coordinating beneficiary:
 - (i) a technical report; and
 - (ii) a financial statement covering the period from the end of the last reporting period to the date when termination takes effect.

The coordinating beneficiary must include this information in the payment request for the next reporting period.

Only activities undertaken before the date when the termination takes effect must be taken into account. Where the grant takes the form of reimbursement of costs actually incurred as provided for in Article I.3.2(a)(i), only costs incurred by the beneficiary concerned before termination takes effect are reimbursed or covered by the grant. Costs relating to contracts due for execution only after termination are not reimbursed or covered by the grant.

The Agency/Commission may reduce the grant in accordance with Article II.25.4. in case of:

- (a) improper termination of the participation of a beneficiary by the coordinating beneficiary within the meaning of Article II.17.2 or
- (b) termination of the participation of a beneficiary by the Agency/Commission on any of the grounds set out in points (c), (f), (g), (h) or (i) of Article II.17.3.1.

Neither party may claim damages on the grounds that the other party terminated the participation of a beneficiary.

After termination, the concerned beneficiary's obligations continue to apply, in particular those under Articles I.4, II.6, II.8, II.9, II.14, II.27 and any additional provisions on the use of the results, as set out in the Special Conditions.

ARTICLE II.18 — APPLICABLE LAW, SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES AND ENFORCEABLE DECISIONS

- **II.18.1** The Agreement is governed by the applicable Union law, complemented, where necessary, by the law of Belgium.
- **II.18.2** In accordance with Article 272 TFEU, the General Court or, on appeal, the Court of Justice of the European Union, has sole jurisdiction to hear any dispute between the Union and any beneficiary concerning the interpretation, application or validity of the Agreement, if such dispute cannot be settled amicably.
- **II.18.3** In accordance with Article 299 TFEU, for the purposes of recovery within the meaning of Article II.26, the Agency/Commission may adopt an enforceable decision to impose pecuniary obligations on persons other than States.

An *action* may be brought against such decision before the General Court of the European Union in accordance with Article 263 TFEU.

PART B — FINANCIAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE II.19 — ELIGIBLE COSTS

II.19.1 Conditions for the eligibility of costs

Eligible costs of the *project* are costs actually incurred by the beneficiary and which meet the following criteria:

(a) they are incurred within the *implementation period*, with the exception of costs relating to the request for payment of the balance and the corresponding supporting documents referred to in Article I.4.4;

A cost shall be considered as incurred in the *implementation period* when the legal obligation to pay was contracted after the starting date and before the end date of the project, or after the signature of the grant agreement by the Agency/Commission in case this signature takes place before the project starting date;

- (b) they are indicated in the estimated budget of the *project*. The estimated budget is set out in Annex III;
- (c) they are incurred in connection with the *project* as described in Annex II and are necessary for its implementation;
- (d) they are identifiable and verifiable, in particular they are recorded in the beneficiary's accounting records and determined according to the applicable accounting standards of the country where the beneficiary is established and according to the beneficiary's usual cost accounting practices;
- (e) they comply with the requirements of applicable tax and social legislation; and
- (f) they are reasonable, justified and comply with the principle of sound financial management, in particular regarding economy and efficiency.

II.19.2 Eligible direct costs

To be eligible, the *direct cost* of the *project* must comply with the eligibility conditions set out in Article II.19.1.

In particular, the following categories of costs are eligible *direct costs*, provided that they satisfy the eligibility conditions set out in Article II.19.1 as well as the following conditions:

(a) the costs of personnel working under an employment contract with the beneficiary or an equivalent appointing act and assigned to the *project*, provided that these costs are in line with the beneficiary's usual policy on remuneration.

Those costs include actual salaries plus social security contributions and other statutory costs included in the remuneration. They may also comprise additional remunerations, including payments on the basis of supplementary contracts regardless of the nature of those contracts, provided that they are paid in a consistent manner whenever the same kind of work or expertise is required, independently from the source of funding used;

The costs of natural persons working under a contract with the beneficiary other than an employment contract or who are seconded to the beneficiary by a third party against payment may also be included under such personnel costs, provided that the following conditions are fulfilled:

- (i) the person works under conditions similar to those of an employee (in particular regarding the way the work is organised, the tasks that are performed and the premises where they are performed);
- (ii) the result of the work belongs to the beneficiary (unless exceptionally agreed otherwise); and
- (iii)the costs are not significantly different from the costs of staff performing similar tasks under an employment contract with the beneficiary.

The sum of the public contributions as beneficiaries to the project budget must exceed by at least 2 % the sum of the salary costs charged to the project described in Annex III for public body employees who are not considered 'additional'.

'Additional' personnel includes all employees – permanent or temporary – of public bodies whose contracts or contract renewals:

- start on or after the start date of the project or on or after the date of signature of the grant agreement by the Agency/Commission in case this date takes place before the project start date, and
- specifically second/assign them to the project.
- (b) costs of travel and related subsistence allowances, provided that these costs are in line with the beneficiary's usual practices on travel;

(c) Depreciation costs and prototypes

The **depreciation costs of durable goods** or other assets (new or second-hand equipment or infrastructure) as recorded in the beneficiary's accounting statements (i.e. placed on its inventory or other type of registry of durable goods/other assets or treated as capital expenditure in accordance with the applicable tax and accounting rules), provided that the asset:

- (i) is written off in accordance with the international accounting standards and the beneficiary's usual accounting practices; and
- (ii) has been purchased in accordance with Article II.10.1 if the purchase occurred within the *implementation period*;

The costs of renting or leasing equipment or other assets are also eligible, provided that these costs do not exceed the depreciation costs of similar equipment or assets and are exclusive of any finance fee;

Only the portion of the equipment's depreciation, rental or lease costs corresponding to the *implementation period* and the rate of actual use for the purposes of the *project* may

be taken into account when determining the eligible costs. By way of exception, the full cost of purchase of equipment may be eligible under the Special Conditions, if this is justified by the nature of the project and the context of the use of the equipment or assets;

The calculation basis for the eligible depreciation costs may not exceed the following ceilings:

- Equipment costs: 50% of the total purchase cost,
- Infrastructure costs: 25% of the total purchase cost;

Costs incurred for the purchase of durable goods, including notice boards, can only be eligible if they bear the LIFE logo (and the Natura 2000 logo, when applicable);

In *LIFE Technical Assistance projects*, depreciation cost and the costs of rental or lease of infrastructure are not eligible.

A *prototype* is equipment or infrastructure specifically created for the implementation of the project and that has never been commercialised and/or is not available as a serial product. The prototype must play a crucial role in the demonstration activities of the project.

- (d) costs of consumables and supplies, with the exception of general office consumables and supplies, provided that they:
 - (i) are purchased in accordance with Article II.10.1; and
 - (ii) are directly assigned to the project;
- (e) costs arising directly from requirements imposed by the Agreement (dissemination of information, specific evaluation of the project, audits, translations, reproduction), including the costs of requested financial guarantees, provided that the corresponding services are purchased in accordance with Article II.10.1;
- (f) costs entailed by *subcontracts* within the meaning of Article II.11, provided that the conditions laid down in Article II.11.1 (a), (b), (c) and (d) are met;
- (g) costs of financial support to third parties;
- (h) duties, taxes and charges paid by the beneficiary, notably value added tax (VAT), provided that they are included in eligible *direct costs*, and unless specified otherwise in the Agreement.

Non-deductible VAT is eligible as expenditure, save for those activities matching the concept of sovereign powers exercised by Member States;

(i) Costs incurred for *land purchase or long-term lease of land or one-off compensations* for land use rights regarding a plot of land which is intrinsically connected with implementation of the project and explicitly envisaged therein, shall be considered eligible in full provided that:

- (aa) in and beyond the project the purchase will contribute to improving, maintaining and restoring the integrity of the Natura 2000 network, including through improving connectivity by the creation of corridors, stepping stones, or other elements of green infrastructure;
- (bb) the land or land use rights acquired are owned by an entity or natural person who is not a project beneficiary or staff thereof and in relation to whom a conflict of interest can be excluded;
- (cc) land purchase is the only or most cost-effective way of achieving the desired conservation outcome and the purchase price is based on market terms;
- (dd) the land purchased is reserved in the long term for uses consistent with the objectives set out in Articles 11, 14 or 15 of the LIFE Regulation; and
- (ee) the Member State concerned shall, by way of transfer or otherwise, ensure the long-term assignment of such land to nature conservation purposes.
- (ff) the land/rights seller is not a public authority, with the exception of short-term leases by local authorities;
- (gg) for land purchased as provided for in the project, the coordinating beneficiary shall ensure the entry in the land register includes a guarantee that the land will be assigned definitively to nature conservation. If in a given Member State the land register does not exist or it does not provide a sufficient legal guarantee, the coordinating beneficiary shall have a clause for the definitive assignment of the land to nature conservation included in the land sale contract. For countries where it would be illegal to include such a guarantee both in the land register and in the sale contract, the Agency/Commission may accept an equivalent guarantee in this connection, provided it offers the same legal level of protection in the long term and complies with the requirement contained in Article 20(3) of Regulation No 1293/2013:
- (hh) in addition, for land purchased by private organisations, the entry in the land register (or the sales contract if accepted in lieu thereof if accepted as per the previous paragraph) includes a guarantee that the land property will be transferred to a legal body primarily active in the field of nature protection, in case of dissolution of the private organisation or its incapacity to manage the land according to nature conservation requirements. For countries where it would be illegal to include such a guarantee in the land register or sales contract, the Agency/Commission may accept an equivalent guarantee in this connection, provided it offers the same legal level of protection in the long term and complies with the requirement contained in Article 20(3) of Regulation No 1293/2013;
- (ii) for the purchase of rights, the entry in the land register must be duly amended;
- (jj) in case of land purchased to be exchanged at a later date for another parcel on which project projects will be undertaken, the exchange is carried out before the end of the project at the latest and the provisions of the present Article shall apply to the lands received through the exchange. The land purchased to be exchanged shall be exempt, at the stage of the mid-term reporting, from the guarantee that the land will be assigned definitively to nature conservation.

The duration of a *land lease* shall either be restricted to the duration of the project (short term lease), in which case it is considered subcontracting, or be at least of 20 years

(long-term lease) and shall be compatible with the needs of habitat and species protection. In the case of long-term lease of land, the lease contract shall clearly include all the provisions and commitments that will permit the achievement of its objectives in terms of habitat and species protection.

The LIFE Land Purchase Database (LPD) stores electronic data of land parcels financed by LIFE. The coordinating beneficiary is responsible for entering and validating the land purchase data (both descriptive and spatial) in the LPD at the stage of the final report submission. The data format will have to be adapted to the GIS standards used in the LPD. The coordinating beneficiary will be provided access to the LPD six months before the project end date as specified in Article I.2.2.

Costs incurred for payment of compensation for foregone income shall be eligible provided that the expense was necessary for reaching the objectives of a LIFE Nature and Biodiversity, LIFE Climate Change Mitigation or LIFE Climate Change Adaptation project, and that the payment of compensation:

- corresponds to market prices;
- is formalised through a legal document; and
- compensation is not paid to a public authority, with the exception of compensation to a local authority if explicitly authorised by the Agency/Commission as being essential to achieving the goals of the project.
- (k) Costs incurred for the production of communication material, including websites, can only be eligible if they are bearing the LIFE logo (and the Natura 2000 logo, when applicable).

II.19.3 Eligible indirect costs

To be eligible, *indirect costs* of the project (also referred to as 'overheads') must represent a fair apportionment of the overall overheads of the beneficiary and must comply with the conditions of eligibility set out in Article II.19.1.

Eligible indirect costs shall be declared on the basis of a flat rate as specified in Annex III in accordance with Article I.3.2 (a) (iv) and shall not exceed 7% of the eligible direct costs of the beneficiary, excluding costs of land purchase/long-term lease of land/one-off compensations for land use rights.

II.19.4 Ineligible costs

In addition to any other costs which do not fulfil the conditions set out in Article II.19.1, the following costs may not be considered eligible:

- (a) return on capital and dividends paid by a beneficiary;
- (b) debt and debt service charges;
- (c) provisions for losses or debts;
- (d) interest owed;
- (e) doubtful debts;

- (f) exchange losses;
- (g) costs of transfers from the Agency/Commission charged by the bank of a beneficiary;
- (h) costs declared by the beneficiary under another project receiving a grant financed from the Union budget. Such grants include grants awarded by a Member State and financed from the Union budget and grants awarded by bodies other than the Agency/Commission for the purpose of implementing the Union budget. In particular, beneficiaries receiving an operating grant financed by the EU or Euratom budget cannot declare indirect costs for the period(s) covered by the operating grant, unless they can demonstrate that the operating grant does not cover any costs of the project.
- (i) contributions in kind from third parties, including voluntary work;
- (j) excessive or reckless expenditure;
- (k) deductible VAT.
- (l) any costs related to projects that may be considered as compensatory or mitigation measures for damages¹⁰ caused to nature or biodiversity by permitted plans or projects;
- (m)unless explicitly foreseen in the project description in Annex II, any costs related to management plans, action plans and similar plans¹¹, drafted or modified in the context of a LIFE project, if the related plan is not adopted and operational before the project end date. This includes the completion, before the project end date, of all procedural/legal steps in Member States where such procedures are foreseen;
- (n) costs for major infrastructure or fundamental scientific research unless explicitly foreseen in the project description in Annex II;

ARTICLE II.20 — IDENTIFIABILITY AND VERIFIABILITY OF THE AMOUNTS DECLARED

II.20.1 Declaring costs and contributions

Each beneficiary must declare as eligible costs or as a requested contribution:

- (a) for actual costs: the costs it actually incurred for the *project*;
- (b) for unit costs or unit contributions: Not applicable;
- (c) for lump sum costs or lump sum contributions: Not applicable;
- (d) for flat-rate costs or flat-rate contributions: the amount obtained by applying the flat rate specified in Article I.3.2(a)(iv) or (d);
- (e) for unit costs declared on the basis of the beneficiary's usual cost accounting practices: Not applicable;
- (f) for lump sum costs declared on the basis of the beneficiary's usual cost accounting practices: Not applicable;

¹⁰ Unless such damages would be caused by the objectives of the LIFE project itself.

¹¹ Obligatory "After-LIFE plans" are not included in this category.

(g) for flat-rate costs declared on the basis of the beneficiary's usual cost accounting practices: Not applicable;

II.20.2 Records and other documentation to support the costs and contributions declared

Each beneficiary must provide the following if requested to do so in the context of the checks or audits described in Article II.27:

- (a) for actual costs: adequate supporting documents to prove the costs declared, such as contracts, invoices and accounting records.
- (b) In addition, the beneficiary's usual accounting and internal control procedures must permit direct reconciliation of the amounts declared with the amounts recorded in its accounting statements and with the amounts indicated in the supporting documents for unit costs or unit contributions: adequate supporting documents to prove the number of units declared.

The beneficiary does not need to identify the actual eligible costs covered or to provide supporting documents, such as accounting statements, to prove the amount declared per unit;

- (c) for lump sum costs or lump sum contributions: adequate supporting documents to prove that the *action* has been properly implemented.
 - The beneficiary does not need to identify the actual eligible costs covered or to provide supporting documents, such as accounting statements, to prove the amount declared as a lump sum;
- (d) for flat-rate costs or flat-rate contributions: adequate supporting documents to prove the eligible costs or requested contribution to which the flat rate applies.

The beneficiary does not need to identify the actual eligible costs covered or to provide supporting documents, such as accounting statements, for the flat rate applied;

II.20.3 Conditions to determine the compliance of cost accounting practices

Not applicable

ARTICLE II.21 — ELIGIBILITY OF COSTS OF ENTITIES AFFILIATED TO THE BENEFICIARIES

If the Special Conditions contain a provision on entities affiliated to the beneficiaries, costs incurred by such an entity are eligible, if:

- (a) they satisfy the same conditions under Articles II.19 and II.20 as apply to the beneficiary; and
- (b) the beneficiary to which the entity is affiliated ensures that the conditions applicable to the beneficiary under Articles II.4, II.5, II.6, II.8, II.10, II.11 and II.27 are also applicable to the entity.

ARTICLE II.22 — BUDGET TRANSFERS

Beneficiaries are allowed to adjust the estimated budget set out in Annex III by transfers between themselves, and up to a limit of 20% of the overall eligible costs between the different budget categories, if the project is implemented as described in Annex II. This adjustment does not require an amendment of the Agreement as provided for in Article II.13.

However, the beneficiaries may not add costs relating to *subcontracts* not provided for in Annex I, unless such additional *subcontracts* are approved by the Agency/Commission in accordance with Article II.11.1(d).

ARTICLE II.23 — NON-COMPLIANCE WITH REPORTING OBLIGATIONS

The Agency/Commission may terminate the Agreement as provided for in Article II.17.3.1(c) and may reduce the grant as provided for in Article II.25.4 if the coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) did not submit a request for interim payment or payment of the balance accompanied by the documents referred to in Articles I.4.3 or I.4.4 within 90 calendar days following the end of the corresponding reporting period; and
- (b) still fails to submit such a request within further 60 calendar days following a written reminder sent by the Agency/Commission.]

ARTICLE II.24 — SUSPENSION OF PAYMENTS AND TIME LIMIT FOR PAYMENT

II.24.1 Suspension of payments

II.24.1.1 Grounds for suspension

The Agency/Commission may at any moment suspend, in whole or in part, the pre-financing payment and interim payments for one or more beneficiaries or the payment of the balance for all beneficiaries:

- (a) if the Agency/Commission has evidence that a beneficiary has committed *irregularities*, *fraud* or *breach of obligations* in the award procedure or while implementing the Agreement or if a beneficiary fails to comply with its obligations under the Agreement;
- (b) if the Agency/Commission has evidence that a beneficiary has committed systemic or recurrent *irregularities*, *fraud* or serious *breach of obligations* in other grants funded by the Union or the European Atomic Energy Community ('Euratom') awarded to the beneficiary under similar conditions and such *irregularities*, *fraud* or breach have a material impact on this grant; or
- (c) if the Agency/Commission suspects *irregularities, fraud* or *breach of obligations* committed by a beneficiary in the award procedure or while implementing the Agreement and needs to verify whether they have actually occurred.

II.24.1.2 Procedure for suspension

Step 1 — Before suspending payments, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary:

(a) informing it of:

- (i) its intention to suspend payments;
- (ii) the reasons for suspension;
- (iii) in the cases referred to in points (a) and (b) of Article II.24.1.1, the conditions that need to be met for payments to resume; and
- (b) inviting it to submit observations within 30 calendar days of receiving the *formal* notification.

Step 2 — If the Agency/Commission does not receive observations or decides to pursue the procedure despite the observations it has received, it must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it of:

- (a) the suspension of payments;
- (b) the reasons for suspension;
- (c) the final conditions under which payments may resume in the cases referred to in points (a) and (b) of Article II.24.1.1;
- (d) the indicative date of completion of the necessary verification in the case referred to in point (c) of Article II.24.1.1.

The coordinating beneficiary must immediately inform the other beneficiaries of the suspension. The suspension takes effect on the day the Agency/Commission sends *formal notification* of suspension (Step 2).

Otherwise, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it that it is not continuing with the suspension procedure.

II.24.1.3 Effects of suspension

During the period of suspension of payments the coordinating beneficiary is not entitled to submit:

- (a) any requests for payments and supporting documents referred to in Articles I.4.2, I.4.3 and I.4.4; or
- (b) where the suspension concerns the pre-financing payments or interim payments for one or several beneficiaries only, any requests for payments and supporting documents relating to the participation of the concerned beneficiary or beneficiaries in the *project*.

The corresponding requests for payments and supporting documents may be submitted as soon as possible after resumption of payments or may be included in the first request for payment due following resumption of payments in accordance with the schedule laid down in Article I.4.1.

The suspension of payments does not affect the right of the coordinating beneficiary to suspend the implementation of the *project* as provided for in Article II.16.1 or to terminate the Agreement or the participation of a beneficiary as provided for in Articles II.17.1 and II.17.2.

II.24.1.4 Resuming payments

In order for the Agency/Commission to resume payments, the beneficiaries must meet the notified conditions as soon as possible and must inform the Agency/Commission of any progress made.

If the conditions for resuming payments are met, the suspension will be lifted. The Agency/Commission will send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it of this.

II.24.2 Suspension of the time limit for payments

- **II.24.2.1** The Agency/Commission may at any moment suspend the time limit for payment specified in Articles I.4.9, I.4.10 and I.4.11 if a request for payment cannot be approved because:
 - (a) it does not comply with the Agreement;
 - (b) the appropriate supporting documents have not been produced; or
 - (c) there is a doubt about the eligibility of the costs declared in the financial statements and additional checks, reviews, audits or investigations are necessary.
- **II.24.2.2** The Agency/Commission must send a *notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it of:
 - (a) the suspension; and
 - (b) the reasons for the suspension.

The suspension takes effect on the day the Agency/Commission sends the *notification*.

II.24.2.3 If the conditions for suspending the payment deadline are no longer met, the suspension will be lifted and the remaining period will resume.

If the suspension exceeds two months, the coordinating beneficiary may request the Agency/Commission if the suspension will continue.

If the payment deadline has been suspended because the technical reports or financial statements do not comply with the Agreement and the revised report or statement is not submitted or was submitted but is also rejected, the Agency/Commission may terminate the Agreement or the participation of the beneficiary as provided for in Article II.17.3.1(c) and reduce the grant as provided for in Article II.25.4.

ARTICLE II.25 — CALCULATION OF THE FINAL AMOUNT OF THE GRANT

The final amount of the grant depends on the extent to which the *project* has been implemented in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.

The final amount of the grant is calculated by the Agency/Commission at the time of the payment of the balance. The calculation involves the following steps:

- Step 1 Application of the reimbursement rate to the eligible costs and addition of the unit, flat-rate and lump sum contributions
- Step 2 Limit to the maximum amount of the grant
- Step 3 Reduction due to the no-profit rule
- Step 4 Reduction due to improper implementation or breach of other obligations.

II.25.1Step 1 — Application of the reimbursement rate to the eligible costs and addition of the unit, flat-rate and lump sum contributions

This step is applied as follows:

- (a) If, as provided for in Article I.3.2(a), the grant takes the form of the reimbursement of eligible costs, the reimbursement rate specified in that Article is applied to the eligible costs of the *project* approved by the Agency/Commission for the corresponding categories of costs, beneficiaries and affiliated entities;
- (b) If, as provided for in Article I.3.2(a) (ii) to (v), the grant takes the form of the reimbursement of eligible unit costs, lump sum costs or flat rate costs, the reimbursement rate specified in that Article is applied to the those eligible costs as approved by the Agency/Commission for the corresponding categories of costs, beneficiaries and affiliated entities;

The accepted amount of volunteers' work for the corresponding beneficiaries and affiliated entities must be limited to the following amount, whichever is the lowest:

- the total sources of financing as indicated in the estimated budget set out in Annex III and as accepted by the Agency/Commission multiplied by fifty per cent; or
- (ii) the amount of volunteers' work as indicated in the final financial statement.
- (c) If, as provided for in Article I.3.2(b), the grant takes the form of a unit contribution, the unit contribution specified in that Article is multiplied by the actual number of units approved by the Agency/Commission for the beneficiary and its affiliated entities;
- (d) If, as provided for in Article I.3.2(c), the grant takes the form of a lump sum contribution, the Agency/Commission applies the lump sum specified in that Article for the beneficiary and its affiliated entities if it finds that the corresponding tasks or part of the *project* were implemented properly in accordance with Annex I;
- (e) If, as provided for in Article I.3.2(d), the grant takes the form of a flat-rate contribution, the flat rate referred to in that Article is applied to the eligible costs or to the contribution approved by the Agency/Commission for the beneficiary and its affiliated entities.

If Article I.3.2 provides for a combination of different forms of grant, the amounts obtained must be added together.

II.25.2 Step 2 — Limit to maximum amount of the grant

The total amount paid to the beneficiaries by the Agency/Commission may in no circumstances exceed the *maximum amount of the grant*.

If the amount obtained following Step 1 is higher than this maximum amount, the final amount of the grant is limited to the latter.

If volunteers' work is declared as part of direct eligible costs, the final amount of the grant is limited to the amount of total eligible costs and contributions approved by the

Agency/Commission minus the amount of volunteers' work approved by the Agency/Commission.

II.25.3 Step 3 — Reduction due to the no-profit rule

The grant may not produce a profit for the beneficiaries, unless specified otherwise in the Special Conditions.

The profit must be calculated as follows:

(a) calculate the surplus of the total receipts of the project, over the total eligible costs of the project, as follows:

```
{ receipts of the project
minus

consolidated total eligible costs and contributions approved by the Agency/Commission corresponding to the amounts determined in accordance with Article II.25.1 }
```

The receipts of the project are calculated as follows:

{ the revenue generated by the project for beneficiaries and affiliated entities other than non-profit organisations

plus

the amount obtained following Steps 1 and 2

where the revenue generated by the project is the consolidated revenue established, generated or confirmed for beneficiaries and affiliated entities other than non-profit organisations on the date on which the request for payment of the balance is drawn up by the coordinator.

In-kind and financial contributions by third parties are not considered receipts.

(b) If the amount calculated under point (a) is positive, this amount will be deducted from the amount calculated following Steps 1 and 2, in proportion to the final rate of reimbursement of the actual eligible costs of the project approved by the Agency/Commission for the categories of costs referred to in Article I.3.2(a)(i).

II.25.4 Step 4 — Reduction due to improper implementation or breach of other obligations

The Agency/Commission may reduce the *maximum amount of the grant* if the *project* has not been implemented properly as described in Annex II (i.e. if it has not been implemented or has been implemented poorly, partially or late), or if another obligation under the Agreement has been breached.

The amount of the reduction will be proportionate to the degree to which the *project* has been implemented improperly or to the seriousness of the breach.

Before the Agency/Commission reduces the grant and except when the reduction is due to the non-respect of the 2% rule in Article II.19.2(a)(iii), it must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) informing it of:
 - (i) its intention to reduce the maximum amount of the grant;
 - (ii) the amount by which it intends to reduce the grant;
 - (iii) the reasons for reduction;
- (b) inviting it to submit observations within 30 calendar days of receiving the formal notification.

If the Agency/Commission does not receive any observations or decides to pursue reduction despite the observations it has received, it will send a *formal notification* informing the coordinating beneficiary of its decision.

If the grant is reduced, the Agency/Commission must calculate the reduced grant amount by deducting the amount of the reduction (calculated in proportion to the improper implementation of the *project* or to the seriousness of the breach of obligations) from the maximum amount of the grant.

The final amount of the grant will be the lower of the following two:

- (a) the amount obtained following Steps 1 to 3; or
- (b) the reduced grant amount following Step 4.

ARTICLE II.26 — RECOVERY

II.26.1 Recovery at the time of payment of the balance

Where the payment of the balance takes the form of a recovery, the coordinating beneficiary must repay the Agency/Commission the amount in question, even if it was not the final recipient of the amount due. However, the Agency/Commission reserves the right, where appropriate, to recover the amount due directly from the final recipient.

II.26.2 Recovery after payment of the balance

Where an amount is to be recovered as provided for in Articles II.27.6, II.27.7 and II.27.8, the beneficiary concerned by the audit or OLAF findings must repay the Agency/Commission the amount in question. Where the audit findings do not concern a specific beneficiary (or its affiliated entities), the coordinating beneficiary must repay the Agency/Commission the amount in question, even if it was not the final recipient of the amount due.

Each beneficiary is responsible for the repayment of any amount unduly paid by the Agency/Commission as a contribution towards the costs incurred by its affiliated entities.

II.26.3 Recovery procedure

Before recovery, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the beneficiary concerned:

- (a) informing it of its intention to recover the amount unduly paid;
- (b) specifying the amount due and the reasons for recovery; and
- (c) inviting the beneficiary to make any observations within a specified period.

If no observations have been submitted or if, despite the observations submitted by the beneficiary, the Agency/Commission decides to pursue the recovery procedure, the Agency/Commission may confirm recovery by sending a *formal notification* to the beneficiary consisting of a debit note, specifying the terms and the date for payment.

If payment has not been made by the date specified in the debit note, the Agency/Commission will recover the amount due:

(a) by offsetting it, without the beneficiary's prior consent, against any amounts owed to the beneficiary by the Agency, the Commission or an executive agency (from the Union or the European Atomic Energy Community (Euratom) budget) ('offsetting');

In exceptional circumstances, to safeguard the financial interests of the Union, the Agency/Commission may offset before the due date.

An action may be brought against such offsetting before the General Court of the European Union in accordance with Article 263 TFEU;

- (b) by drawing on the financial guarantee where provided for in accordance with Article I.4.9 ('drawing on the financial guarantee');
- (c) by holding the beneficiaries jointly and severally liable up to the maximum EU contribution indicated, for each beneficiary, in the estimated budget (Annex III as last amended);
- (d) by taking legal action as provided for in Article II.18.2 or in the Special Conditions or by adopting an enforceable decision as provided for in Article II.18.3.

II.26.4 Interest on late payment

If payment is not made by the date in the debit note, the amount to be recovered will be increased by late-payment interest at the rate set out in Article I.4.13 from the day following the date for payment in the debit note up to and including the date the Agency/Commission receives full payment of the amount.

Partial payments must first be credited against charges and late-payment interest and then against the principal.

II.26.5 Bank charges

Bank charges incurred in the recovery process must be borne by the beneficiary concerned, unless Directive 2007/64/EC¹² applies.

ARTICLE II.27 — CHECKS, AUDITS AND EVALUATIONS

II.27.1 Technical and financial checks, audits, interim and final evaluations

The Agency/Commission may, during the implementation of the *project* or afterwards, carry out technical and financial checks and audits to determine that the beneficiaries are implementing the *project* properly and are complying with the obligations under the Agreement. It may also check the beneficiaries' statutory records for the purpose of periodic assessments of lump sum, unit cost or flat-rate amounts.

Information and documents provided as part of checks or audits must be treated on a confidential basis.

In addition, the Agency/Commission may carry out an interim or final evaluation of the impact of the *project*, measured against the objective of the Union programme concerned.

Agency/Commission checks, audits or evaluations may be carried out either directly by the Agency's/Commission's own staff or by any other outside body authorised to do so on its behalf.

The Agency/Commission may initiate such checks, audits or evaluations during the implementation of the Agreement and during a period of five years starting from the date of payment of the balance. This period is limited to three years if the *maximum amount of the grant* is not more than EUR 60,000.

The check, audit or evaluation procedures are considered to be initiated on the date of receipt of the letter of the Agency/Commission announcing it.

If the audit is carried out on an affiliated entity, the beneficiary concerned must inform that affiliated entity.

II.27.2 Duty to keep documents

The beneficiaries must keep all original documents, especially accounting and tax records, stored on any appropriate medium, including digitalised originals when they are authorised by their respective national law and under the conditions laid down therein, during a period of five years starting from the date of payment of the balance.

The period during which documents must be kept is limited to three years if the *maximum* amount of the grant is not more than EUR 60,000.

¹² Directive 2007/64/EC¹² of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 November 2007 on payment services in the internal market amending Directives 97/7/EC, 2002/65/EC, 2005/60/EC and 2006/48/EC and repealing Directive 97/5/EC.

The periods set out in the first and second subparagraphs are longer if there are ongoing audits, appeals, litigation or pursuit of claims concerning the grant, including in the cases referred to in Article II.27.7. In such cases, the beneficiaries must keep the documents until such audits, appeals, litigation or pursuit of claims have been closed.

II.27.3 Obligation to provide information

Where a check, audit or evaluation is initiated before the payment of the balance, the coordinating beneficiary must provide any information, including information in electronic format, requested by the Agency/Commission or by any other outside body authorised by the Agency/Commission. Where appropriate, the Agency/Commission may request that a beneficiary provides such information directly.

Where a check or audit is initiated after payment of the balance, the information referred to in the previous subparagraph must be provided by the beneficiary concerned.

If the beneficiary concerned does not comply with the obligations set out in the first and second subparagraphs, the Agency/Commission may consider:

- (a) any cost insufficiently substantiated by information provided by the beneficiary as ineligible;
- (b) any unit, lump sum or flat-rate contribution insufficiently substantiated by information provided by the beneficiary as undue.

II.27.4 On-the-spot visits

During an on-the-spot visit, the beneficiaries must allow Agency/Commission staff and outside personnel authorised by the Agency/Commission to have access to the sites and premises where the *project* is or was carried out, and to all the necessary information, including information in electronic format.

They must ensure that the information is readily available at the moment of the on-the-spot visit and that information requested is handed over in an appropriate form.

If the beneficiary concerned refuses to provide access to the sites, premises and information as required in the first and second subparagraphs, the Agency/Commission may consider:

- (a) any cost insufficiently substantiated by information provided by the beneficiary as ineligible;
- (b) any unit, lump sum or flat-rate contribution insufficiently substantiated by information provided by the beneficiary as undue.

II.27.5 Contradictory audit procedure

On the basis of the findings made during the audit, a provisional report ('draft audit report') must be drawn up. It must be sent by the Agency/Commission or its authorised representative to the beneficiary concerned, which must have 30 calendar days from the date of receipt to submit observations. The final report ('final audit report') must be sent to the beneficiary concerned within 60 calendar days of expiry of the time limit for submission of observations.

II.27.6 Effects of audit findings

On the basis of the final audit findings, the Agency/Commission may take the measures it considers necessary, including recovery at the time of payment of the balance or after payment of the balance of all or part of the payments made by it, as provided for in Article II.26.

In the case of final audit findings after the payment of the balance, the amount to be recovered corresponds to the difference between the revised final amount of the grant, determined in accordance with Article II.25, and the total amount paid to the beneficiaries under the Agreement for the implementation of the *project*.

II.27.7 Correction of systemic or recurrent irregularities, fraud or breach of obligations

II.27.7.1 The Agency/Commission may extend audit findings from other grants to this grant if:

- (a) the beneficiary concerned is found to have committed systemic or recurrent *irregularities, fraud* or *breach of obligations* in other EU or Euratom grants awarded under similar conditions and such *irregularities, fraud* or *breach of obligations* have a material impact on this grant; and
- (b) the final audit findings are sent to the beneficiary concerned through a *formal* notification, together with the list of grants affected by the findings within the period referred to in Article II.27.1

The extension of findings may lead to:

- (a) the rejection of costs as ineligible;
- (b) reduction of the grant as provided for in Article II.25.4;
- (c) recovery of undue amounts as provided for in Article II.26;
- (d) suspension of payments as provided for in Article II.24.1;
- (e) suspension of the *project* implementation as provided for in Article II.16.2;
- (f) termination as provided for in Article II.17.3.
- **II.27.7.2** The Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the beneficiary concerned informing it of the systemic or recurrent *irregularities, fraud* or *breach of obligations* and of its intention to extend the audit findings, together with the list of grants affected.
 - (a) If the findings concern eligibility of costs the procedure is as follows:

Step 1 — The *formal notification* must include:

- (i) an invitation to submit observations on the list of grants affected by the findings;
- (ii) a request to submit revised financial statements for all grants affected;
- (iii) where possible, the correction rate for extrapolation established by the Agency/Commission to calculate the amounts to be rejected on the basis of the systemic or recurrent, *irregularities*, *fraud* or *breach of obligations*, if the beneficiary concerned:

- considers that the submission of revised financial statements is not possible or practicable; or
- will not submit revised financial statements.
- **Step 2** The beneficiary concerned has 60 calendar days from when it receives the *formal notification* to submit observations and revised financial statements or to propose a duly substantiated alternative correction method. This period may be extended by the Agency/Commission in justified cases.
- **Step 3** If the beneficiary concerned submits revised financial statements that take account of the findings the Agency/Commission will determine the amount to be corrected on the basis of those revised statements.

If the beneficiary proposes an alternative correction method and the Agency/Commission accepts it, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the beneficiary concerned informing it:

- (i) that it accepts the alternative method;
- (ii) of the revised eligible costs determined by applying this method.

Otherwise the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the beneficiary concerned informing it:

- (i) that it does not accept the observations or the alternative method proposed;
- (ii) of the revised eligible costs determined by applying the extrapolation method initially notified to the beneficiary.

If the systemic or recurrent *irregularities, fraud* or *breach of obligations* are found after the payment of the balance, the amount to be recovered corresponds to the difference between:

- (i) the revised final amount of the grant, determined in accordance with Article II.25 on the basis of the revised eligible costs declared by the beneficiary and approved by the Agency/Commission or on the basis of the revised eligible costs after extrapolation; and
- (ii) the total amount paid to the beneficiaries under the Agreement for the implementation of the *project*;
- (b) If the findings concern improper implementation or a breach of another obligation the procedure is as follows:

Step 1 — The *formal notification* must include:

- (i) an invitation to the beneficiary to submit observations on the list of grants affected by the findings and
- (ii) the correction flat rate the Agency/Commission intends to apply to the *maximum* amount of the grant or to part of it, according to the principle of proportionality.
- **Step 2** The beneficiary concerned has 60 calendar days from receiving the *formal notification* to submit observations or to propose a duly substantiated alternative flat-rate.

Step 3 — If the Agency/Commission accepts the alternative flat rate proposed by the beneficiary, it must send a *formal notification* to the beneficiary concerned informing it:

- (i) that it accepts the alternative flat-rate;
- (ii) of the corrected grant amount by applying this flat rate.

Otherwise the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the beneficiary concerned informing it:

- (i) that it does not accept the observations or the alternative flat rate proposed;
- (ii) of the corrected grant amount by applying the flat rate initially notified to the beneficiary.

If the systemic or recurrent *irregularities*, *fraud* or *breach of obligations* are found after the payment of the balance, the amount to be recovered corresponds to the difference between:

- (i) the revised final amount of the grant after flat-rate correction; and
- (ii) the total amount paid to the beneficiaries under the Agreement for the implementation of the *project*.

II.27.8 Rights of OLAF

The European Anti-Fraud Office (OLAF) has the same rights as the Agency/Commission, particularly the right of access, for the purpose of checks and investigations.

Under Council Regulation (Euratom, EC) No 2185/96¹³ and Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 883/2013¹⁴ OLAF may also carry out on-the-spot checks and inspections in accordance with the procedures laid down by Union law for the protection of the financial interests of the Union against *fraud* and other *irregularities*.

Where appropriate, OLAF findings may lead to the Agency/Commission recovering amounts from beneficiaries.

Moreover, findings arising from an OLAF investigation may lead to criminal prosecutions under national law.

II.27.9 Rights of the European Court of Auditors and EPPO

¹³ Council Regulation (Euratom, EC) No 2185/96 of 11 November 1996 concerning on-the-spot checks and inspections carried out by the Commission in order to protect the European Communities' financial interests against fraud and other irregularities.

¹⁴ Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 883/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 September 2013 concerning investigations conducted by the European Anti-Fraud Office (OLAF).

The European Court of Auditors and the European Public Prosecutor's Office established by Council Regulation (EU) 2017/1939¹⁵ ('the EPPO') has the same rights as the Agency/Commission, particularly the right of access, for the purpose of checks and audits.

_

 $^{^{15}}$ Council Regulation (EU) 2017/1939 of 12 October 2017 implementing enhanced cooperation on the establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office

Bureau du 30 septembre 2021

Espaces Vanel - Arche Marengo - Toulouse Extrait du registre des délibérations

Délibération n°DEL-21-0930

Europe - Toulouse Métropole lauréate de l'appel à projets européen Life Environnement Gouvernance et information "LIFE WASTE2BUILD" : adoption du contrat de subvention avec la Commission Européenne

L'an deux mille vingt-et-un le jeudi trente septembre à neuf heures vingt-cinq, sous la présidence de Jean-Luc MOUDENC, Président, le Bureau s'est réuni à Espaces Vanel - Arche Marengo - Toulouse.

Participants

Afférents au Bureau :	68	
Présents :	64	
Procurations:	4	
Date de convocation :	24 septembre 2021	

Présents

reserres	
Aigrefeuille	M. Christian ANDRE
Aucamville	M. Gérard ANDRE
Aussonne	M. Michel BEUILLE
Balma	M. Vincent TERRAIL-NOVES
Beaupuy	M. Marc FERNANDEZ
Beauzelle	M. Patrice RODRIGUES
Blagnac	M. Joseph CARLES
Brax	M. Thierry ZANATTA
Bruguières	M. Philippe PLANTADE
Cornebarrieu	M. Alain TOPPAN
Cugnaux	M. Albert SANCHEZ
Drémil-Lafage	Mme Ida RUSSO
Fenouillet	M. Thierry DUHAMEL
Flourens	M. Jean-Pierre FOUCHOU-LAPEYRADE
Fonbeauzard	M. Robert GRIMAUD
Gagnac-sur-Garonne	M. Patrick BERGOUGNOUX
Gratentour	M. Patrick DELPECH
Launaguet	M. Michel ROUGE
Lespinasse	M. Alain ALENCON
L'Union	M. Marc PERE
Mondouzil	M. Robert MEDINA
Mons	Mme Véronique DOITTAU
Montrabé	M. Jacques SEBI
Pibrac	Mme Camille POUPONNEAU
Pin-Balma	M. Gil BEZERRA
Quint-Fonsegrives	M. Jean-Pierre GASC
Saint-Alban	M. Alain SUSIGAN
Saint-Jean	M. Bruno ESPIC
Saint-Jory	M. Thierry FOURCASSIER
Saint-Orens	Mme Dominique FAURE
Seilh	M. Didier CASTERA
Toulouse	M. Christophe ALVES, Mme Laurence ARRIBAGE,
	M. Jean-Jacques BOLZAN, Mme Maroua BOUZAIDA,
	M. Sacha BRIAND, M. François CHOLLET, M.
	Gaëtan COGNARD, M. Jean-Claude DARDELET, M.
	Henri DE LAGOUTINE, Mme Ghislaine DELMOND,
	Mme Julie ESCUDIER, M. Emilion ESNAULT,

	M. Pierre ESPLUGAS-LABATUT, M. Francis
	GRASS, Mme Laurence KATZENMAYER, M. Djillali
	LAHIANI, Mme Annette LAIGNEAU, M. Jean-Michel
	LATTES, M. Antoine MAURICE, Mme Nicole
	MIQUEL-BELAUD, M. Nicolas MISIAK, M. Jean-Luc
	MOUDENC, Mme Gnadang OUSMANE, M. Philippe
	PERRIN, Mme Agnès PLAGNEUX BERTRAND, M.
	Jean-François PORTARRIEU, Mme Agathe ROBY, M.
	Thierry SENTOUS, M. Bertrand SERP, M. Pierre
	TRAUTMANN, Mme Nicole YARDENI
Tournefeuille	M. Dominique FOUCHIER
Villeneuve-Tolosane	M. Romain VAILLANT

Conseillers ayant donné pouvoir

	Pouvoir à
M. Grégoire CARNEIRO	Thierry FOURCASSIER
Mme Karine TRAVAL-MICHELET	Camille POUPONNEAU
Mme Véronique BARRAQUE ONNO	Robert MEDINA
Mme Nadia SOUSSI	Jean-François PORTARRIEU



Délibération n° DEL-21-0930

Europe - Toulouse Métropole lauréate de l'appel à projets européen Life Environnement Gouvernance et information "LIFE WASTE2BUILD" : adoption du contrat de subvention avec la Commission Européenne

Exposé

Le changement climatique amorcé et la nécessaire adaptation des territoires pour maintenir leur attractivité exigent de repenser le recours à la matière première et d'expérimenter des alternatives de développement économique plus sobres, en transition vers une économie circulaire.

Consciente des opportunités de l'économie circulaire sur son territoire, Toulouse Métropole a adopté, en novembre 2019, une stratégie et 3 feuilles de routes opérationnelles, dont une intitulée « Bâtir la Métropole à partir des ressources locales ».

Le secteur du bâtiment représente plus de 20 % des émissions de Gaz à Effet de Serre (GES) sur la Métropole (de l'extraction, à l'importation de matériaux, à la construction, jusqu' à la fin d'usage des bâtiments et au traitement des déchets). Les déchets issus des chantiers en Occitanie représentent 12 millions de tonnes, dont 8 millions de tonnes pour les travaux publics (source PRAEC - Plan Régional d'Action en faveur de l'Economie Circulaire). Globalement, le BTP produit 60% des déchets tous secteurs confondus.

Le secteur du BTP constitue un pilier de l'économie toulousaine. La demande locale adressée à ce secteur est estimée à 4 Mds \in en 2018. 42 % de cette demande n'est pas captée par le secteur du BTP toulousain, ce qui représente une fuite de 1,7Mds \in et de 9000 emplois pour le territoire.

Toulouse Métropole souhaite ainsi construire les bases d'un écosystème local durable et circulaire pour accompagner la dynamique de développement du territoire dans le secteur et agir sur l'ensemble des briques de la filière de la construction au travers de chantiers démonstrateurs.

Pour cela, Toulouse Métropole a répondu à un appel à projets du programme européen LIFE spécialisé dans le domaine de l'environnement et de l'action pour le climat. Le projet intitulé Waste2Build a été sélectionné par la Commission Européenne en juin 2021. Son objectif principal est de mettre en place un dispositif innovant d'optimisation des ressources et de valorisation des déchets du BTP du territoire. Pour développer l'emploi des matériaux de seconde vie dans la construction, la rénovation ou l'aménagement paysagers, il est nécessaire de pouvoir capitaliser les matériaux disponibles, de les classifier, les normaliser en fonction des réutilisations possibles pour créer une véritable chaîne de valeurs.

Les objectifs spécifiques du projet sont :

- Réduire de 35 % l'impact du BTP dans la consommation de ressources et la production de déchets,
- Structurer la filière du BTP circulaire,
- Mettre en place des politiques d'achats circulaires,
- Accompagner la montée en compétence de la filière BTP.

Plusieurs actions seront mises en place tout au long du projet :

- Actions préparatoires: Évaluer l'empreinte environnementale des matériaux mobilisés par le secteur de la construction, inventorier et cartographier l'écosystème des acteurs de l'économie circulaire avec l'identification des plateformes physiques du territoire métropolitain.
- Actions de mises en œuvre : Expérimenter la démarche d'économie circulaire sur les chantiers du territoire, modéliser la démarche pour harmoniser les pratiques de la commande publique et des maîtres d'ouvrages, développer des plateformes numérique et nomade, animer le territoire et organiser la montée en compétence des acteurs et futurs acteurs du bâtiment sur l'économie circulaire par la formation.
- Actions d'évaluations : évaluer l'impact du changement de pratiques et suivre les indicateurs environnementaux et socio-économiques.
- Actions de communication et de dissémination des résultats: Assurer la reproductibilité du projet, disséminer les résultats du projet auprès des acteurs de l'économie circulaire, organiser un « Hackaton étudiants » pour la construction d'une tiny house.

Toulouse Métropole sera le coordinateur du projet avec 6 partenaires bénéficiaires associés au projet :

- Synéthic,
- Centre Scientifique et Technique du Bâtiment (CSTB),
- Envirobat Occitanie,
- Toulouse Business School (TBS),
- Fédération Française du Bâtiment et des Travaux Publics du 31 (FFB 31),
- Institut national de l'économie Circulaire (INEC).

8 parties prenantes et 5 partenaires nationaux et européens seront également associés :

Parties prenantes	Partenaires nationaux
Bellastock (Société Coopérative d'Intérêt Collectif d'architecture qui oeuvre pour la valorisation des lieux et de leurs ressources en proposant des alternatives à l'acte de construire)	Oslo
ADEME	Saragosse
DREAL	Düsseldorf
Ordre des architectes	Séville
AIOC (Association Ingénierie de l'Occitanie)	Plaine Commune (Etablissement public territorial qui regroupe 9 villes dont Aubervilliers et la Courneuve au sein du Grand Paris)
FEDEREC (Fédération Professionnelle des Entreprises du Recyclage)	
FRTP (Fédération Régionale des Travaux Publics)	
ORDECO (Observatoire Régional des Déchets et de l'éco- nomie Circulaire en Occitanie)	

D'une durée d'un peu plus de quatre ans (septembre 2021- février 2026), le budget total du projet s'élève à 2 757 840 \in avec un cofinancement européen de 55 %, soit une subvention nette de 1 516 812 \in . Le budget de Toulouse Métropole est de 1 150 209 \in , avec une subvention nette de 632 614,95 \in .

Il est proposé d'approuver le contrat de subvention avec la Commission Européenne, relatif à ce projet, qui permettra d'en assurer la mise en œuvre et de recevoir la subvention afférente. Une convention de partenariat sera réalisée afin de préciser le rôle, les droits et les devoirs de chacun ainsi que les modalités de reversement de la subvention européenne aux partenaires bénéficiaires du projet.

Décision

Le Bureau,

Vu la délibération du Conseil de la Métropole portant délégation d'attributions du Conseil au Bureau et au Président,

Vu l'avis favorable de la Commission consultative du Bureau du mardi 21 septembre 2021,

Entendu l'exposé de Monsieur le Président, après en avoir délibéré,

Décide:

Article 1

D'approuver les termes du contrat de subvention avec la Commission Européenne, les Infrastructures et l'Environnement, tel qu'annexé à la présente délibération, relatif au projet « WASTE2BUILD », pour mettre en place un dispositif innovant d'optimisation des ressources et de valorisation des déchets du BTP sur le territoire.

Article 2

D'autoriser le Président à signer le contrat de subvention avec l'Agence Exécutive pour le Climat, les Infrastructures et l'Environnement (CINEA), agence créée par la Commission européenne, pour gérer en son nom le programme Life notamment, ainsi que tous actes et documents y afférents.

Article 3

D'autoriser le Président à percevoir la totalité de la subvention européenne, sous forme de co-financement, pour un montant maximal de 1 516 812 euros (un million cinq cent seize mille huit cent douze euros)

Article 4

Il sera rendu compte de la présente délibération au Conseil de la Métropole.

Résultat du vote :

Pour 68
Contre 0
Abstentions 0
Non participation au vote 0

Publiée par affichage le 04/10/2021 Reçue à la Préfecture le 04/10/2021 Ainsi fait et délibéré les jour, mois et an que dessus, Au registre sont les signatures, Pour extrait conforme, Le Président,

Jean-Luc MOUDENC



EUROPEAN COMMISSION

Executive Agency for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises/Directorate General Environment

Unit B3 LIFE and CIP Eco-Innovation

EUROPEAN COMMISSION

DIRECTORATE-GENERAL
ENVIRONMENT/CLIMATE ACTION
Directorate [Number Directorate - Name Directorate]
[Name unit]

GRANT AGREEMENT¹

AGREEMENT NUMBER — [LIFEXX XXX/XX/XXXXXX - ACRONYM]

This Agreement ('the Agreement') is concluded between the following parties:

on the one part,

The European Union ('the Union'), represented by the European Commission/Executive Agency for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (hereinafter referred to as "the Commission/Agency") and acting under the powers delegated by the European Commission, represented for the purposes of signature of the Agreement by Name Head of Unit, Head of Unit,

and

on the other part,

1. 'the coordinating beneficiary'

[full official name] [ACRONYM]

[official legal status or form]

[official registration No]

[official address in full]

[VAT number],

represented for the purposes of signature of the Agreement by [function, forename and surname]

and the following other associated beneficiaries:

¹ Within the framework of the Regulation (EC) No 1293/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2013 on the establishment of a Programme for the Environment and Climate Action (LIFE) and repealing Regulation (EC) No 614/2007, OJ L 347 of 20/12/2013, p.185 (hereinafter "the LIFE Regulation") and the Commission Implementing Decision 2018/210 of 12 February 2018 on the adoption of the LIFE multiannual work programme for 2018-20, OJ L39 of 13/02/2018.

- 2. [full official name established in [country]]
- 3. [full official name established in [country]]

[idem for each beneficiary]

duly represented for the signature of the Agreement by the coordinating beneficiary by virtue of the mandate[s] included in Annex II form[s] A4

Unless otherwise specified, references to 'beneficiary' and 'beneficiaries' include the coordinating beneficiary.

The parties referred to above

HAVE AGREED

to the Special Conditions ('the Special Conditions') and the following Annexes:

- Annex I General Conditions ((hereinafter referred to as 'the General Conditions')
- Annex II Description of the project
- Annex III Estimated budget of the project: Forms R1, R2 and all F-Forms in Annex II
- Annex IV Mandate[s] provided to the coordinating beneficiary by the other beneficiary[ies] Form[s] A4 in Annex II
- Annex V Model technical report: The applicable model technical reports are to be found on the website: https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life (manage your project)
- Annex VI Model financial statement: The applicable model financial reports are to be found on the website: https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life (manage your project)
- Annex VII Model terms of reference for the certificate on the financial statements *to be* found on the website: https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life (manage your project)
- Annex VIII Model terms of reference for the certificate on the compliance of the cost accounting practices: **not applicable**
- Annex IX Model terms of reference for the operational verification report: not applicable
- Annex X Financial and Administrative guidelines https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life (manage your project)
- Annex XI Guidelines for applicants https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life
- Annex XII Table of unit costs for voluntary work per country

which form an integral part of the Agreement.

The provisions in the Special Conditions of the Agreement take precedence over its Annexes.

The provisions in Annex I 'General Conditions' take precedence over the other Annexes.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SPECIAL CON	NDITIONS4
TABLE OF CO	ONTENTS4
Article I.1	— Subject matter of the agreement6
Article I.2	— Entry into force and implementation period of the agreement6
Article I.3	— Maximum amount and form of the grant6
	— Reporting — Requests for payment and supporting documents – nents and payment arrangements
I.4.1	Reporting and reporting periods
I.4.2	Requests for further pre-financing payment[s] and supporting documents
I.4.3	Request[s] for interim payment[s] and supporting documents7
I.4.4	Request for payment of the balance and supporting documents7
I.4.5	Information on cumulative expenditure incurred9
I.4.6	Currency for requests for payment and financial statements and conversion into euro
I.4.7	Language of requests for payments, technical reports and financial statements
I.4.8	Payments to be made
I.4.9	Pre-financing payment[s]10
I.4.1	0 Interim payment[s]11
I.4.1	Payment of the balance11
I.4.12	Notification of amounts due
I.4.1	3 Interest on late payment
I.4.1	4 Currency for payments
ΙΔ 1	5 Date of payment 12

I.4.16	Costs of payment transfers	13
I.4.17	Payments to the coordinating beneficiary	13
Article I.5 –	— Bank account for payments	13
Article I.6 –	— Data controller, communication details of the parties	13
I.6.1	Data controller	13
I.6.3	Communication details of the beneficiaries	14
I.6.4	Communication details of the beneficiaries after payment of the balance	
Article I.7 –	— Entities affiliated to the beneficiaries	14
Article I.8 –	— Beneficiaries which are international organisations	14
I.8.1	Applicable law	15
I.8.2	Dispute settlement — Arbitration	15
1.8.3	Certificates on the financial statements	16
I.8.4	Checks and audits	16
I.8.5	Privileges and immunities	16
Article I.9 –	— Checks and audits	16
Article I.10	— Settlement of disputes with non-EU beneficiaries	17
Article I.11	— Special provisions on the financial responsibility for recoveries	17
Article I.12	— Obligation to conclude an internal cooperation agreement	17
Article I.13	— Eligibility of Durable Goods costs	17
	— Additional provisions on use of the results including intellectundustrial property rights	
Article I.15	— Inapplicability of the no-profit principle	19
Article I.16	— Eligibility of Volunteers' work	19

ARTICLE I.1 — SUBJECT MATTER OF THE AGREEMENT

The Agency/Commission has decided to award a grant under the terms and conditions set out in the Special Conditions, the General Conditions and the other Annexes to the Agreement, for the *project* entitled [insert title of the project in bold], as described in Annex II.

By signing the Agreement, the beneficiaries accept the grant and agree to implement the *project*, acting on their own responsibility.

ARTICLE I.2 — ENTRY INTO FORCE AND IMPLEMENTATION PERIOD OF THE AGREEMENT

- **I.2.1** The Agreement enters into force on the date on which the last party signs it.
- **I.2.2** The *project* runs from *[insert date in bold]('starting date')* until *[insert date in bold]* ('end date')

ARTICLE I.3 — MAXIMUM AMOUNT AND FORM OF THE GRANT

- **I.3.1** The *maximum amount of the grant* is EUR [insert amount].
- **I.3.2** The grant takes **the form** of:
- (a) the reimbursement of [...]% of the eligible costs of the *project* ('reimbursement of eligible costs'), which are estimated at EUR [...] and which are:
 - (i) actually incurred ('reimbursement of actual costs') for the following categories of costs for each of the beneficiaries and affiliated entities: personnel costs; travel and subsistence costs; costs for subcontracting (also referred to as "external assistance costs"); costs of durable goods: depreciation costs of infrastructure and equipment, prototype costs; costs for land purchase/long-term lease of land/one-off compensations for land use rights; costs of consumables; other costs (i.e. costs arising from the Agreement, duties, taxes and charges).
 - (ii) reimbursement of unit costs declared on the basis of an amount as specified in Annex XII ('reimbursement of unit costs') for the volunteer costs under the personnel costs for each of the beneficiaries and affiliated entities.
 - (iii) reimbursement of lump sum costs: not applicable
 - (iv) declared on the basis of a flat rate: overheads as specified in Annex III as a fixed percentage of the eligible direct costs excluding costs of land purchase/long term lease of land/one-off compensations for land use rights ('reimbursement of flat-rate costs') for each of the beneficiaries and affiliated entities;
 - (v) reimbursement of costs declared on the basis of the beneficiary's usual cost accounting practices: not applicable
- (b) unit contribution: not applicable
- (c) lump sum contribution: not applicable

(d) flat-rate contribution: not applicable

ARTICLE I.4 — REPORTING — REQUESTS FOR PAYMENT AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS – PAYMENTS AND PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

I.4.1 Reporting and reporting periods

- (a) The project reporting schedule is specified in Annex II.
- (b) The delay between consecutive reports shall not exceed 18 months: not applicable.
- (c) All reports shall contain the necessary information for the Agency/Commission to evaluate the state of implementation of the project, the respect of the work plan, the financial status of the project and whether the project's objectives have been achieved or are still achievable.
- (d) The form and contents of the reports shall be in accordance with the guidelines issued by the Agency/Commission as specified on the website https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life (manage your project)
- (e) All reports shall be simultaneously submitted to the Agency/Commission and to the external monitoring team designated by the Agency/Commission.
 - The technical reports, including annexes, shall only be submitted, in electronic format,
 - The financial reports shall be submitted, in both paper and electronic formats.
- (f) Electronic tools, which include spatial data and are produced in the frame of a LIFE project, shall comply with the Commission Regulation (EU) No 1253/2013 of 21 October 2013 amending Regulation (EU) No 1089/2010 implementing Directive 2007/2/EC establishing an Infrastructure for Spatial Information in the European Union (INSPIRE).

I.4.2 Requests for further pre-financing payment[s] and supporting documents

The coordinating beneficiary must submit a request for further pre-financing payment in accordance with the mid-term report schedule specified in Annex II.

The request must be accompanied by the following documents:

- (a) a progress report on the implementation of the *project* ('technical report on progress');
- (b) a statement on the amount of the previous pre-financing instalment used to cover costs of the *project* ('statement on the use of the previous pre-financing instalment'). The statement must be drawn up in accordance with Annex VI[.]; and
- (c) a financial guarantee.]

I.4.3 Request[s] for interim payment[s] and supporting documents

Not applicable

I.4.4 Request for payment of the balance and supporting documents

The coordinating beneficiary must submit a request for payment of the balance in accordance with the reporting schedule specified in Annex II, but no later than 90 calendar days following the *end date* of the project.

This request must be accompanied by the following documents:

- (a) a final report on implementation of the project ('final technical report'), drawn up in accordance with Annex V, containing:
 - (i) the information needed to justify the eligible costs declared or the contribution requested on the basis of unit costs and lump sums (where the grant takes the form of the reimbursement of unit or lump sum costs or of a unit or lump sum contribution, as provided for in Article I.3.2(a)(ii) and (iii), (b) or (c));
 - (ii) information on subcontracting as referred to in Article II.11.1(d);
- (b) a final financial statement ('final financial statement'). The final financial statement must include a consolidated statement and a breakdown of the amounts claimed by each beneficiary and its affiliated entities.

The final financial statement must be drawn up in accordance with the structure of the estimated budget set out in Annex III and in accordance with Annex VI;

(c) a summary financial statement ('summary financial statement').

This statement must include a consolidated financial statement and a breakdown of the amounts declared or requested by each beneficiary and its affiliated entities, aggregating the financial statements already submitted previously and indicating the revenue generated by the project referred to in Article II.25.3 for each beneficiary and its affiliated entities other than non-profit organisations.the receipts referred to in Article II.25.3 for each beneficiary and its affiliated entities.

The summary financial statement must be drawn up in accordance with Annex VI;

- (d) a certificate on the financial statements and underlying accounts ('certificate on the financial statements') for each beneficiary and for each affiliated entity, if:
 - (i) the cumulative amount of payments the beneficiary requests as reimbursement of actual costs as referred to in Article I.3.2(a)(i) (and for which no certificate has yet been submitted) is EUR 325,000 or more;
 - (ii) the maximum grant amount indicated for that beneficiary and its affiliated entities in the estimated budget as reimbursement of actual costs is EUR 750,000 or more.

This certificate must be produced by an approved auditor or, in case of public bodies, by a competent and independent public officer and drawn up in accordance with Annex VII.

The certificate must certify that the costs declared in the final financial statement by the beneficiary concerned or its affiliated entities for the categories of costs reimbursed in accordance with Article I.3.2(a)(i) are real, accurately recorded and eligible in accordance with the Agreement.

In addition, the certificate must certify that all the revenues generated by the *project* referred to in Article II.25.3 have been declared for the beneficiaries and the affiliated entities other than non-profit organisations.

The coordinating beneficiary must certify that the information provided in the request for payment of the balance is full, reliable and true.

The coordinating beneficiary must also certify that the costs incurred can be considered eligible in accordance with the Agreement and that the request for payment is substantiated by adequate supporting documents that can be produced in the context of the checks or audits described in Article II.27.

In addition, the coordinating beneficiary must certify that all the receipts referred to in Article II.25.3 have been declared for each beneficiary and the affiliated entities other than non-profit organisations.

I.4.5 Information on cumulative expenditure incurred

In case the maximum contribution referred to in Article I.3.1 is more than EUR 5,000,000 then:

In addition to the reporting requirements set out above, the coordinating beneficiary must inform the Agency/Commission by 30 November each year about the cumulative expenditure incurred by the beneficiaries from the *starting date*.

This information is required for the Agency's/Commission's accounting purposes and may not be used for determining the final amount of the grant.

I.4.6 Currency for requests for payment and financial statements and conversion into euro

Requests for payment and financial statements must be drafted in euros.

Beneficiaries and affiliated entities with general accounts in a currency other than the euro must convert costs incurred in another currency into euros at the monthly accounting rate established by the Commission and published on its website (available at http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm) applicable on the day when the cost was incurred, or

at the monthly accounting rate established by the Commission and published on its website (available at

http://ec.europa.eu/budget/contracts_grants/info_contracts/inforeuro/inforeuro_en.cfm
applicable on the first working day of the month following the period covered by the financial statement concerned

Beneficiaries and affiliated entities with general accounts in euros must convert costs incurred in another currency into euros in accordance with their usual accounting practices.

I.4.7 Language of requests for payments, technical reports and financial statements

All requests for payments, technical reports and financial statements must be submitted in English, with the exception of the technical annexes and supporting documents, which may be provided in any official language of the Union.

I.4.8 Payments to be made

The Agency/Commission must make the following payments to the coordinating beneficiary:

- [one] [a first] pre-financing payment;
- [a] [further] pre-financing payment[s], on the basis of the request for further pre-financing payment[s] referred to in Article I.4.2;
- one payment of the balance, on the basis of the request for payment of the balance referred to in Article I.4.4.

I.4.9 Pre-financing payment[s]

The aim of the pre-financing is to provide the beneficiaries with a float. The pre-financing remains the property of the Union until it is cleared against interim payments or, if it is not cleared against interim payments, until the payment of the balance.

[Option if one pre-financing payment for projects with a duration of 24 months or less and where the Union contribution is less than or equal to EUR 300,000]: The Agency/Commission must make the pre-financing payment of EUR [insert amount]² to the coordinating beneficiary within 30 calendar days from [the entry into force of the Agreement] [or from when the Agency/Commission receives the financial guarantee of EUR [insert amount], whichever is the latest], except if Article II.24.1 applies.]

[Option if several pre-financing payments]: The Agency/Commission must make a first pre-financing payment of EUR [insert amount]³ to the coordinating beneficiary within 30 calendar days from [the entry into force of the Agreement] [or from when the Agency/Commission receives the financial guarantee of EUR [insert amount], whichever is the latest], except if Article II.24.1 applies.]

The Agency/Commission must make a second pre-financing payment⁴ of EUR [insert amount] to the coordinating beneficiary within 60 calendar days from when the Agency/Commission receives the request for second pre-financing payment referred to in Article I.4.2, subject to having used at least 100% of the previous pre-financing instalment paid to cover costs of the project, [or from when it receives the financial guarantee of EUR [insert amount], whichever is the latest], except if Article II.24.1 or II.24.2 apply.

_

² 70% of the Union Contribution

³ In case of 1 mid-term report : 40% as 1st pre-financing, 40% as 2nd pre-financing, in case of 2 mid-term reports : 40% as 1st pre-financing, 20% as 2nd and 3rd pre-financing. Pre-financing might be further split by the authorising officer if the foreseen financial guarantee cannot be delivered in the amount foreseen (i.e. amount of the pre-financing indicated).

⁴ For projects with a duration exceeding 24 months or where the Union contribution exceeds EUR 300,000

[The Agency/Commission must make a third pre-financing payment⁵ of EUR [insert amount] to the coordinating beneficiary within 60 calendar days from when the Agency/Commission receives the request for third pre-financing payment referred to in Article I.4.2, subject to having used at least 100% of the previous pre-financing instalment paid to cover costs of the project, [or from when it receives the financial guarantee of EUR [insert amount], whichever is the latest], except if Article II.24.1 or II.24.2 apply.]

[The financial guarantee must fulfil the following conditions:

- (a) it is provided by a bank or an approved financial institution or, if requested by the coordinating beneficiary and accepted by the Agency/Commission, by a third party;
- (b) the guarantor stands as first-call guarantor and does not require the Agency/Commission to first have recourse against the principal debtor (i.e. the beneficiary concerned); and
- (c) it explicitly remains in force until the pre-financing is cleared against interim payments or payment of the balance by the Agency/Commission. If payment of the balance takes the form of a recovery, the financial guarantee must remain in force until three months after the debit note is notified to a beneficiary. The Agency/Commission must release the guarantee within the following month.]

I.4.10 Interim payment[s]

[Not applicable]

I.4.11 Payment of the balance

The payment of the balance reimburses or covers the remaining part of the eligible costs incurred by the beneficiaries for the implementation of the *project*.

If the total amount of earlier payments is greater than the final amount of the grant determined in accordance with Article II.25, the payment of the balance takes the form of a recovery as provided for by Article II.26.

If the total amount of earlier payments is lower than the final amount of the grant determined in accordance with Article II.25, the Agency/Commission must pay the balance within 90 calendar days from when it receives the documents referred to in Article I.4.4, except if Article II.24.1 or II.24.2 apply.

Payment is subject to the approval of the request for payment of the balance and of the accompanying documents. Their approval does not imply recognition of the compliance, authenticity, completeness or correctness of their content.

⁵ Upon request of the coordinating beneficiary and only in case of projects with a duration of 48 months and where the Union cnotribution exceeds EUR 4,000,000. In case of 1 mid-term report : 40% as 1st pre-financing, 40% as 2nd pre-financing, in case of 2 mid-term reports : 40% as 1st pre-financing, 20% as 2nd and 3rd pre-financing. Pre-financing might be further split by the authorising officer if the foreseen financial guarantee

cannot be delivered in the amount foreseen (i.e. amount of the pre-financing indicated).

The Agency/Commission determines the amount due as the balance by deducting the total amount of pre-financing and interim payments (if any) already made from the final amount of the grant determined in accordance with Article II.25.

The amount to be paid may, however, be offset, without the beneficiary's consent, against any other amount owed by the beneficiary to the Agency, the Commission or to an executive agency (under the EU or Euratom budget), up to the maximum contribution indicated for that beneficiary, in the estimated budget in Annex III.

I.4.12 Notification of amounts due

The Agency/Commission must send a *notification* to the coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) informing it of the amount due; and
- (b) specifying whether the notification concerns a further pre-financing payment, an interim payment or the payment of the balance.

For the payment of the balance, the Agency/Commission must also specify the final amount of the grant determined in accordance with Article II.25.

I.4.13 Interest on late payment

If the Agency/Commission does not pay within the time limits for payment, the beneficiaries are entitled to late-payment interest at the rate applied by the European Central Bank for its main refinancing operations in euros ('the reference rate'), plus three and a half points. The reference rate is the rate in force on the first day of the month in which the time limit for payment expires, as published in the C series of the *Official Journal of the European Union*.

Late-payment interest is not due if all beneficiaries are Member States of the Union (including regional and local government authorities and other public bodies acting in the name of and on behalf of the Member State for the purpose of the Agreement).

If the Agency/Commission suspends the time limit for payment as provided for in Article II.24.2 or if it suspends an actual payments as provided for in Article II.24.1, these actions may not be considered as cases of late payment.

Late-payment interest covers the period running from the day following the due date for payment, up to and including the date of actual payment as established in Article I.4.15. The Agency/Commission does not consider payable interest when determining the final amount of grant within the meaning of Article II.25.

As an exception to the first subparagraph, if the calculated interest is lower than or equal to EUR 200, it must be paid to the coordinating beneficiary only if the coordinating beneficiary requests it within two months of receiving late payment.

I.4.14 Currency for payments

The Agency/Commission must make payments in euros.

I.4.15 Date of payment

Payments by the Agency/Commission are considered to have been carried out on the date when they are debited to its account.

I.4.16 Costs of payment transfers

Costs of the payment transfers are borne as follows:

- (a) the Agency/Commission bears the costs of transfer charged by its bank;
- (b) the beneficiary bears the costs of transfer charged by its bank;
- (c) the party causing a repetition of a transfer bears all costs of repeated transfers.

I.4.17 Payments to the coordinating beneficiary

The Agency/Commission must make payments to the coordinating beneficiary.

Payments to the coordinating beneficiary discharge the Agency/Commission from its payment obligation.

ARTICLE I.5 — BANK ACCOUNT FOR PAYMENTS

All payments must be made to the coordinating beneficiary's bank account as indicated below:

Name of bank: []
Precise denomination of the account holder: []
Full account number (including bank codes): []
[IBAN code: []]

ARTICLE I.6 — DATA CONTROLLER, COMMUNICATION DETAILS OF THE PARTIES

I.6.1 Data controller

The entity acting as a data controller as provided for in Article II.7 is: the head of *Unit* [insert unit].

I.6.2 Communication details of the Agency/Commission

Any communication addressed to the Agency/Commission shall bear the identification number and project title and must be sent to the following address:

Ordinary or registered mail by postal service:

European Commission
EASME
Unit B.3 LIFE and CIP Eco-Innovation
B-1049 Brussels

Project number: [complete]

Express delivery service or hand-delivery against signature :

European Commission
EASME
Unit B.3 LIFE and CIP Eco-Innovation
Mail Service
Avenue du Bourget 1
B-1140 Brussels

E-mails:

E-mail address: EASME-LIFE-ENQUIRIES@ec.europa.eu

I.6.3 Communication details of the beneficiaries

Any communication from the Agency/Commission to the beneficiaries must be sent to the following address:

[Full name]

[Function]

[Name of the entity]

[Full official address]

Email address: [complete]]

I.6.4 Communication details of the beneficiaries after payment of the balance

After the payment of the balance, any communication addressed to the beneficiaries must be sent to their legal address.

ARTICLE 1.7 — ENTITIES AFFILIATED TO THE BENEFICIARIES

[Not Applicable]

OR

The following entities are considered as affiliated entities for the purpose of the Agreement:

- [name of the entity], affiliated to [name or acronym of the beneficiary];
- [name of the entity], affiliated to [name or acronym of the beneficiary];

[idem for further affiliated entities]

ARTICLE I.8 — BENEFICIARIES WHICH ARE INTERNATIONAL ORGANISATIONS

[Not Applicable]

OR

[if the international organisation does not accept Article II.18.1:

I.8.1 Applicable law

[Option 1: if the international organisation accepts Union law as the applicable law but not Belgian law as subsidiary law:

As an exception to Article II.18.1, the Agreement is governed by the applicable Union law, complemented where necessary by [the law of (insert law of a Member State or an EFTA country)].

[Option 2: if the international organisation does not accept Union law as the applicable law:

Article II.18.1 does not apply to [insert name of IO(s)].]

[if an international organisation does not accept Article II.18.2:

I.8.2 Dispute settlement — Arbitration

[Option 1 — Permanent Court of Arbitration:

As an exception to Article II.18, if any dispute between the Agency/Commission and [insert name of IO(s)] relating to the Agreement cannot be settled amicably, it must be referred to arbitration.

In such cases, the Permanent Court of Arbitration Optional rules for arbitration involving international organisations and states in force at the date of entry into force of the Agreement apply.

The appointing authority is the Secretary General of the Permanent Court of Arbitration following a written request submitted by either party.

The arbitration proceedings must take place in Brussels and the language used in the arbitral proceedings must be English.

The arbitral award is binding upon the parties, which hereby expressly agree to renounce any form of appeal or revision.]

Option 2 — Arbitration committee:

As an exception to Article II.18, if any dispute between the Agency/Commission and [insert name of IO(s)] relating to the Agreement cannot be settled amicably, it must be referred to an arbitration committee in accordance with the procedure specified below.

When a party intends to resort to arbitration, it must send a *formal notification* to the other party informing it of its intention and of its appointed arbitrator. The second party must appoint its arbitrator within one month of receipt of that *formal notification*. The two arbitrators must appoint, by joint agreement and within three months of the appointment of

the second party's arbitrator, a third arbitrator who is the chair of the arbitration committee, unless both parties agreed to have a sole arbitrator.

Within one month of the appointment of the third arbitrator, the parties must agree on the terms of reference of the arbitration committee, including the procedure to be followed.

The arbitration proceedings must take place in Brussels.

The arbitration committee must apply the terms of the Agreement. The arbitration committee must set out in its arbitral award detailed grounds for its decision.

The arbitral award is final and binding upon the parties, which hereby expressly agree to renounce any form of appeal or revision.

The costs, including all reasonable fees incurred by the parties related to any arbitration, must be apportioned between the parties by the arbitration committee.]

[if an international organisation does not agree for the certificate to be drawn up by an external auditor:

I.8.3 Certificates on the financial statements

Certificates on the financial statements to be provided by the [insert name of IO(s)] in accordance with Article I.4.4 may be drawn up by [its][their] regular internal or external auditor, in accordance with [its][their] internal financial regulations and procedures.]

[if an international organisation does not accept Article II.27:

I.8.4 Checks and audits

The competent bodies of the Union must address any requests for checks or audits referred to in Article II.27 to the Director General of the [insert name of IO(s)].

[insert name of IO(s)] must make available to the competent bodies of the Union or other outside body authorised by it, upon request, all relevant financial information, including statements of accounts concerning the *project*, where [it][they] implement[s] the *project* or where [its][their] affiliated entities or a subcontractor takes part in the *project*.]

I.8.5 Privileges and immunities

Nothing in the Agreement may be interpreted as a waiver of any privileges or immunities which are accorded to the [insert name of IO(s)] by [its][their] constituent documents or international law.]

ARTICLE I.9 — CHECKS AND AUDITS

By derogation of Article II.27.3 of the general conditions, notwithstanding whether the checks, audits or evaluations are initiated before or after the payment of the balance, the coordinating beneficiary may be required to collect the information concerning the associated beneficiaries and to make them available to the Agency/Commission or other outside body authorised by it.

When requested by the Agency/Commission or other outside body authorised by it, the coordinating beneficiary shall provide without delay the information mentioned above, which includes that of the concerned associated beneficiaries. In this case, the coordinating beneficiary shall bear responsibility for obtaining and verifying this information before passing it on to the Agency/Commission, as foreseen in Article II.2.3(b)(ii).

In this case, the contradictory audit procedure foreseen in Article II.27.5 shall be conducted with the coordinating beneficiary, who will be requested to submit the observations of the associated beneficiaries concerned by the check, audit or evaluation.

This is without prejudice to the right of the Agency/Commission or other outside body authorised by it to perform audits either on one or several associated beneficiaries. In this case the associated beneficiaries shall provide the information directly.

ARTICLE 1.10 — SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES WITH NON-EU BENEFICIARIES

[Not Applicable]

OR

This provision applies where a beneficiary is legally established in a country other than a Member State of the European Union (the 'non-EU beneficiary').

As an exception to Article II.18.2, any of the parties (the Agency/Commission or the non-EU beneficiary) may bring before the Belgian Courts any dispute between them concerning the interpretation, application or validity of the Agreement, if such dispute cannot be settled amicably.

Where one party has brought proceedings before the Belgian Courts, the other party may not bring a claim arising from the interpretation, application or validity of the Agreement in any other court than the Belgian Courts before which the proceedings have already been brought.

ARTICLE I.11 — SPECIAL PROVISIONS ON THE FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY FOR RECOVERIES

The financial responsibility of each beneficiary is limited to its own debt, including any amount unduly paid by the Agency/Commission as a contribution towards the costs incurred by its affiliated entities.

Point (c) of the third paragraph of Article II.26.3 does not apply.

ARTICLE I.12 — OBLIGATION TO CONCLUDE AN INTERNAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT

The beneficiaries must conclude an internal cooperation agreement including provisions on the management, operation and coordination of the beneficiaries and the implementation of the project.

ARTICLE 1.13 — ELIGIBILITY OF DURABLE GOODS COSTS

As an exception to Article II.19.2(c), the full cost of purchase of equipment is eligible, subject to the following conditions:

(a) For all **LIFE** traditional projects, the purchase costs incurred for durable goods, intrinsically connected with the implementation of the project and used to a significant degree within its duration, shall be considered eligible in full. Such eligibility shall be subject to the coordinating beneficiary and associated beneficiaries undertaking to continue to assign these goods definitively and exclusively to the same objectives and purpose foreseen by the project co-financed under LIFE.

This commitment shall extend beyond the end of the project and cover at least the whole economic life of the good.

(b) For *prototypes* 100% of the purchase costs of their components are eligible for cofunding. A *prototype* may not be used for commercial purposes during the period set out in Article I.2.2. Should the prototype or any of its components be used for commercial purposes (i.e. sold, leased, rented or used to produce goods or services) during the project, this shall be declared. The costs of creating the prototype shall then be depreciated in accordance with the rules applicable to the purchase of new or second-hand equipment and infrastructure. Any related income must be declared.

ARTICLE I.14 — ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS ON USE OF THE RESULTS INCLUDING INTELLECTUAL AND INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY RIGHTS

In accordance with Article II.9.3, whereby the Union and the Agency/Commission acquire rights to use the results of the project, these results may be exploited using any of the following modes:

- (a) distribution to the public in hard copies, in electronic or digital format, on the internet including social networks as a downloadable or non-downloadable file;
- (b) communication through press information services;
- (c) inclusion in widely accessible databases or indexes, such as via 'open access' or 'open data' portals, or similar repositories, whether freely accessible or accessible only upon subscription;
- (d) edit or re-write in another way the results of the project, including shortening, summarising, modifying the content, correcting technical errors in the content insert other as appropriate;
- (e) cut, insert meta-data, legends or other graphic, visual, audio or word elements insert other as appropriate in the results of the project;
- (f) extract a part (e.g. audio or video files) of, divide into parts or compile the results of the project;
- (g) prepare derivative works of the results of the project;

18

- (h) translate, insert subtitles in, dub the results of the project in:
 - all official languages of EU
- (i) license or sub-license to third parties, including if there are licensed pre-existing rights, any of the rights or modes of exploitation set out in points (a)-(i) of Article II.9.3 of the General Conditions and in points (a) to (h) above.

The beneficiaries must ensure that the Union has the rights of use specified in the General Conditions and in points (a)-(i) above for the whole duration of the industrial or intellectual property rights concerned.

ARTICLE 1.15 — INAPPLICABILITY OF THE NO-PROFIT PRINCIPLE

In accordance with point (b) of Article II.25.3, the non-profit principle does not apply to the following beneficiar(y)(ies) and affiliated entity(ies) that [are][is a] non-profit organisation[s]⁶:

- [name of the beneficiary];
- [name of the affiliated entity], affiliated to [name or acronym of the beneficiary].

[idem for further entities]]

ARTICLE I.16 — ELIGIBILITY OF VOLUNTEERS' WORK

As an exception to Article II.19.4(i), the value of volunteers' work may be declared as eligible costs in the form of unit costs in accordance with Article I.3.2(a)(ii). These costs may not exceed the limit specified in point (b) of Article II.25.1.

SIGNATURES

For the coordinating beneficiary

[function/forename/surname]

Head of Unit,

Done at [place], on...

In duplicate in English

19

⁶ To be added where one or more beneficiary or affiliated entity is a non-profit organisation, as provided for in Article 192(3)(c) FR.

ANNEX I — GENERAL CONDITIONS

TABLE OF CONTENT

AN	NEX I — GE	NERAL CONDITIONS	20
TA	BLE OF CON	TENT	20
PA	RT A — LEG	AL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS	24
	Article II.1 —	– Definitions	24
	Article II.2 —	- General obligations and roles of the beneficiaries	25
	II.2.1	General obligations and role of the beneficiaries	25
	II.2.2	General obligations and role of each beneficiary	26
	II.2.3	General obligations and role of the coordinating beneficiary	26
	Article II.3 —	- Communication between the parties	27
	II.3.1	Form and means of communication	28
	II.3.2	Date of communications	28
	Article II.4 —	- Liability for damages	28
	Article II.5 —	- Conflict of interests	29
	Article II.6 —	- Confidentiality	29
	Article II.7 —	- Processing of personal data	29
	II.7.1	Processing of personal data by the Agency/Commission	29
	II.7.2	Processing of personal data by the beneficiaries	30
	Article II.8 —	- Visibility of Union funding	30
	II.8.1	Information on Union funding and use of the LIFE Programm and Natura 2000 logos	
	II.8.2	Disclaimers excluding Agency/Commission responsibility	31
		Pre-existing rights and ownership and use of the results (includir tual and industrial property rights)	
	II.9.1	Ownership of the results by the beneficiaries	32

II.9.2	Pre-existing rights	32
II.9.3	Rights of use of the results and of pre-existing rights by the Union.	32
	— Award of contracts necessary for the implementation of the	
Article II.11 -	— Subcontracting of tasks forming part of the project	34
Article II.12 –	— Financial support to third parties	35
Article II.13 –	— Amendments to the agreement	36
Article II.14 –	Assignment of claims for payments to third parties	36
Article II.15 –	— Force majeure	36
Article II.16 -	— Suspension of the implementation of the project	37
II.16.1	Suspension of implementation by the beneficiaries	37
II.16.2	Suspension of implementation by the Agency/Commission	37
II.16.3	Effects of the suspension	38
Article II.17 –	— Termination of the ageement	39
II.17.1	Termination of the Agreement by the coordinating beneficiary	39
II.17.2	Termination of the participation of one or more beneficiaries by the coordinating beneficiary	
II.17.3	Termination of the Agreement or the participation of one or more beneficiaries by the Agency/Commission	
II.17.4	Effects of termination	42
Article II.18 –	- Applicable law, settlement of disputes and enforceable decisionS.	44
PART B — FINA	NCIAL PROVISIONS	45
Article II.19 –	— Eligible costs	45
II.19.1	Conditions for the eligibility of costs	45
II.19.2	Eligible direct costs	45
II.19.3	Eligible indirect costs	49
II.19.4	Ineligible costs	49

Article II.20 — Identifiability and verifiability of the amounts declared50
II.20.1 Declaring costs and contributions
II.20.2 Records and other documentation to support the costs and contributions declared
II.20.3 Conditions to determine the compliance of cost accounting practices 5
Not applicable5
Article II.21 — Eligibility of costs of entities affiliated to the beneficiaries5
Article II.22 — Budget transfers
Article II.23 — Non-compliance with reporting obligations
Article II.24 — Suspension of payments and time limit for payment
II.24.1 Suspension of payments
II.24.2 Suspension of the time limit for payments54
Article II.25 — Calculation of the final amount of the grant
II.25.1 Step 1 — Application of the reimbursement rate to the eligible costs and addition of the unit, flat-rate and lump sum contributions 5:
II.25.2 Step 2 — Limit to maximum amount of the grant5
II.25.3 Step 3 — Reduction due to the no-profit rule
II.25.4 Step 4 — Reduction due to improper implementation or breach of other obligations
Article II.26 — Recovery
II.26.1 Recovery at the time of payment of the balance
II.26.2 Recovery after payment of the balance5
II.26.3 Recovery procedure
II.26.4 Interest on late payment
II.26.5 Bank charges5
Article II.27 — Checks, audits and evaluationS
II.27.1 Technical and financial checks, audits, interim and final

1.27.2 Duty to keep documents59
I.27.3 Obligation to provide information
I.27.4 On-the-spot visits60
I.27.5 Contradictory audit procedure
I.27.6 Effects of audit findings60
I.27.7 Correction of systemic or recurrent irregularities, fraud or breach of obligations
I.27.8 Rights of OLAF63
I.27.9 Rights of the European Court of Auditors and EPPO63

PART A — LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS

ARTICLE II.1 — DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply for the purpose of the Agreement:

- **'Project':** the set of activities or the actions for which the grant is awarded, to be implemented by the beneficiaries as described in Annex II.
- 'Breach of obligations': failure by a beneficiary to fulfil one or more of its contractual obligations
- 'Confidential information or document': any information or document (in any format) received by either party from the other or accessed by either party in the context of the implementation of the Agreement that any of the parties has identified in writing as confidential. It does not include information that is publicly available.
- **'Conflict of interests':** a situation where the impartial and objective implementation of the Agreement by a beneficiary is compromised for reasons involving family, emotional life, political or national affinity, economic interest, or any other shared interest with the Agency/Commission, or any third party related to the subject matter of the Agreement.
- 'Direct costs': those specific costs which are directly linked to the implementation of the project and can therefore be attributed directly to it. They may not include any indirect costs;
- 'Force majeure': any unforeseeable, exceptional situation or event beyond the control of the parties that prevents either of them from fulfilling any of their obligations under the Agreement, which is not attributable to error or negligence on their part or on the part of the subcontractors affiliated entities or third parties in receipt of financial support and which proves to be inevitable despite their exercising due diligence. The following cannot be invoked as force majeure: labour disputes, strikes, financial difficulties or any default of a service, defect in equipment or materials or delays in making them available, unless they stem directly from a relevant case of force majeure;
- 'Formal notification': form of communication between the parties made in writing by mail or electronic mail which provides the sender with compelling evidence that the message was delivered to the specified recipient;
- **'Fraud':** any act or omission relating to the use or presentation of false, incorrect or incomplete statements or documents, which has as its effect the misappropriation or wrongful retention of funds or assets from the Union budget, the non-disclosure of information in violation of a specific obligation, with the same effect or the misapplication of such funds or assets for purposes other than those for which they were originally granted;
- 'Grave professional misconduct': a violation of applicable laws or regulations or ethical standards of the profession to which a person or entity belongs, or any wrongful conduct of a person or entity which has an impact on its professional credibility where such conduct denotes wrongful intent or gross negligence.

24

- 'Implementation period': the period of implementation of the activities forming part of the project, as specified in Article I.2.2;
- 'Indirect costs': those costs which are not specific costs directly linked to the implementation of the project and which therefore cannot be attributed directly to it. They may not include any costs identifiable or declared as eligible direct costs;
- 'Irregularity': any infringement of a provision of Union law resulting from an act or omission by a beneficiary, which has or would have the effect of prejudicing the Union's budget;
- 'Maximum amount of the grant': the maximum EU contribution to the project, as defined in Article I.3.1;
- 'Pre-existing material': any materials, document, technology or know-how which exists prior to the beneficiary using it for the production of a result in the implementation of the project;
- 'Pre-existing right': any industrial and intellectual property right on pre-existing material; it may consist in a right of ownership, a licence right and/or a right of use belonging to the beneficiary or any other third parties;
- 'Related person': any person who has the power to represent the beneficiary or to take decisions on its behalf;
- **'Starting date':** the date on which the implementation of the project starts as provided for in Article I.2.2;
- **'Subcontract':** a procurement contract within the meaning of Article II.10, which covers the implementation by a third party of tasks forming part of the project as described in Annex II;

ARTICLE II.2 — GENERAL OBLIGATIONS AND ROLES OF THE BENEFICIARIES

II.2.1 General obligations and role of the beneficiaries

The beneficiaries:

- (a) are jointly and severally liable for carrying out the *project* in accordance with the Agreement. If a beneficiary fails to implement its part of the *project*, the other beneficiaries become responsible for implementing this part (but without increasing the *maximum amount of the grant*);
- (b) must comply jointly or individually with any legal obligations they are bound by under applicable EU, international and national law;
- (c) must make appropriate internal arrangements to implement the *project* properly. The arrangements must be consistent with the terms of the Agreement. If provided for in the Special Conditions, those arrangements must take the form of an internal cooperation agreement between the beneficiaries.

- (d) maintain up-to-date books of account, in accordance with the usual accounting conventions imposed on them by law and existing regulations;
- (e) not act, in the context of the project, as sub-contractor or supplier to any other beneficiary;
- (f) contribute financially to the project.

II.2.2 General obligations and role of each beneficiary

Each associated beneficiary must:

- (a) inform the coordinating beneficiary immediately of any change likely to affect or delay the implementation of the project of which the beneficiary is aware, and, for LIFE Nature and Biodiversity projects, of any activity by third parties that is likely to have a significant negative impact on the sites/species targeted in the project, and if appropriate to take measures to persuade third parties to refrain from such activities;
- (b) inform the coordinator immediately:
 - (i) of any change in its legal, financial, technical, organisational or ownership situation and of any change in its name, address or legal representative;
 - (ii) of any change in the legal, financial, technical, organisational or ownership situation of its affiliated entities and of any change in their name, address or legal representative;
 - (iii) of any change regarding the exclusion situations listed in Article 136 of Regulation (EU) 2018/1046, including for its affiliated entities;
- (c) submit in due time to the coordinating beneficiary:
 - (i) the data needed to draw up the reports, financial statements and other documents provided for in the Agreement;
 - (ii) all the necessary documents required for audits, checks or evaluations as provided for in Article II.27.
 - (iii) any other information to be provided to the Agency/Commission under the Agreement, except if the Agreement requires such information to be submitted directly by the beneficiary to the Agency/Commission.

II.2.3 General obligations and role of the coordinating beneficiary

The coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) must monitor the implementation of the *project* in order to make sure that is implemented in accordance with the terms of the Agreement;
- (b) is the intermediary for all communications between the beneficiaries and the Agency/Commission, except if provided otherwise in the Agreement. In particular, the coordinating beneficiary:
 - (i) must immediately inform the Agency/Commission:

- of any change in the name, address, legal representative of any of the beneficiaries or of their affiliated entities;
- of any change in the legal, financial, technical, organisational or ownership situation of any of the beneficiaries or of their affiliated entities;
- of any events or circumstances of which the coordinating beneficiary is aware, that are likely to affect or delay the implementation of the *project*.
- for LIFE Nature and Biodiversity projects, of any activity by third parties that is likely to have a significant negative impact on the sites/species targeted in the project, and if appropriate to take measures to persuade third parties to refrain from such activities;
- (ii) is responsible for supplying the Agency/Commission with all documents and information required under the Agreement, except if provided otherwise in the Agreement itself. If information is required from the other beneficiaries, the coordinating beneficiary is responsible for obtaining and verifying this information before passing it on to the Agency/Commission;
- (c) must make the appropriate arrangements for providing any financial guarantees required under the Agreement;
- (d) must draw up the requests for payment in accordance with the Agreement;
- (e) if it is designated as the sole recipient of payments on behalf of all of the beneficiaries, it must ensure that all the appropriate payments are made within 30 days of the receipt of the funds paid by the Agency/Commission unless there is a justified delay. The coordinating beneficiary shall inform the Agency/Commission of the distribution of the Union contribution;
- (f) bear responsibility for providing all the necessary documents in the event of checks and audits initiated before the payment of the balance, and in the event of evaluation in accordance with Article II.27 as well as for retaining copies of all supporting documents of all the associated beneficiaries for at least five years after the balance payment.

The coordinating beneficiary may not subcontract any part of its tasks described in points (a) to (f) to the other beneficiaries or to any other party.

II.2.4 The role of the external monitoring team

To follow up the project, the Agency/Commission selected an external monitoring team (hereinafter "the external monitoring team") to assist it by following and assessing the projects progress and their coherence with the actual costs incurred.

The external monitoring team shall not be authorised to take any decision on behalf of the Agency/Commission. A recommendation or a statement provided by the external monitoring team to the beneficiaries cannot be interpreted as representing a position of the Agency/Commission.

ARTICLE II.3 — COMMUNICATION BETWEEN THE PARTIES

II.3.1 Form and means of communication

Any communication relating to the Agreement or to its implementation must:

- (a) be made in writing (in paper or electronic form);
- (b) bear the number of the Agreement and the acronym; and
- (c) be made using the communication details identified in Article I.6.

If a party requests written confirmation of an electronic communication within a reasonable time, the sender must provide an original signed paper version of the communication as soon as possible.

Before communicating directly with the Agency/Commission, the coordinating beneficiary shall consult *the external monitoring team*. Any correspondence relating to the Agreement or to its implementation sent by the coordinating beneficiary to the Agency/Commission shall be sent in parallel to *the external monitoring team*.

Formal notifications shall be made by registered mail with return receipt or equivalent, or by equivalent electronic means.

II.3.2 Date of communications

Any communication is considered to have been made when the receiving party receives it, unless the Agreement states that communication is considered to have been made on the date when the communication was sent.

Email is considered to have been received by the receiving party on the day of successful dispatch of that email, provided that it is sent to the email address indicated in Article I.6. The sending party must be able to prove the date of dispatch. If the sending party receives a non-delivery report, it must make every effort to ensure that the other party actually receives the communication by email or mail. In such a case, the sending party is not held in breach of its obligation to send such communication within a specified deadline.

Mail sent to the Agency/Commission using the postal or courier services is considered to have been received by the Agency/Commission on the date on which it is registered by the unit identified in Article I.6.2 or on the date on which it is received by the *external monitoring team*, whichever of these dates is later.

Formal notifications are considered to have been received by the receiving party on the date of receipt indicated in the proof received by the sending party that the message was delivered to the specified recipient.

ARTICLE II.4 — LIABILITY FOR DAMAGES

- **II.4.1** The Agency/Commission may not be held liable for any damage caused or sustained by any of the beneficiaries, including any damage caused to third parties as a consequence of or during the implementation of the *project*.
- **II.4.2** Except in cases of *force majeure*, the beneficiaries must compensate the Agency/Commission for any damage it sustains as a result of the implementation of

28

the *project* or because the *project* was not implemented in full compliance with the Agreement.

ARTICLE II.5 — CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

- **II.5.1** The beneficiaries must take all necessary measures to prevent any situation of *conflict* of interests.
- **II.5.2** The beneficiaries must inform the Agency/Commission without delay of any situation constituting or likely to lead to a *conflict of interests*. They must take immediately all the necessary steps to rectify this situation.

The Agency/Commission may verify that the measures taken are appropriate and may require additional measures to be taken by a specified deadline.

ARTICLE II.6 — CONFIDENTIALITY

- **II.6.1** During implementation of the *project* and for five years after the payment of the balance, the parties must treat with confidentiality any *confidential information and documents*.
- **II.6.2** The parties may only use *confidential information and documents* for a reason other than to fulfil their obligations under the Agreement if they have first obtained the prior written agreement of the other party.
- **II.6.3** The confidentiality obligations do not apply if:
 - (a) the disclosing party agrees to release the other party from those obligations;
 - (b) the *confidential information or documents* become public through other means than a breach of the confidentiality obligations;
 - (c) the disclosure of the confidential information or documents is required by law
 - (d) the Agency shares *confidential information or documents* with the European Commission.
- **II.6.4** The external monitoring team shall act under the same confidentiality rules as those stipulated for the beneficiaries and the Agency/Commission.

ARTICLE II.7 — PROCESSING OF PERSONAL DATA

II.7.1 Processing of personal data by the Agency/Commission

Any personal data included in the Agreement must be processed by the Agency/Commission in accordance with Regulation (EC) No 2018/1725.7

29

Regulation (EU) 2018/1725 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2018 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data by the Union institutions, bodies, offices and agencies and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 and Decision No 1247/2002/EC.

Such data must be processed by the data controller identified in Article I.6.1 solely for implementing, managing and monitoring the Agreement or to protect the financial interests of the EU, including checks, audits and investigations in accordance with Article II.27.

The beneficiaries have the right to access, rectify or erase their own personal data and the right to restrict or, where applicable, the right to data portability or the right to object to data processing in accordance with Regulation (EU) No 2018/1725. For this purpose, they must send any queries about the processing of their personal data to the data controller identified in Article I.7.1.

The beneficiaries may have recourse at any time to the European Data Protection Supervisor.

II.7.2 Processing of personal data by the beneficiaries

The beneficiaries must process personal data under the Agreement in compliance with applicable EU and national law on data protection (including authorisations or notification requirements).

The beneficiaries may grant their personnel access only to data that is strictly necessary for implementing, managing and monitoring the Agreement. The beneficiary must ensure that the personnel authorised to process personal data has committed itself to confidentiality or is under appropriate statutory obligation of confidentiality.

The beneficiaries must adopt appropriate technical and organisational security measures having regard to the risks inherent in the processing and to the nature, scope, context and purposes of processing of the personal data concerned. This is in order to ensure, as appropriate:

- (a) the pseudonymisation and encryption of personal data;
- (b) the ability to ensure the ongoing confidentiality, integrity, availability and resilience of processing systems and services;
- (c) the ability to restore the availability and access to personal data in a timely manner in the event of a physical or technical incident;
- (d) a process for regularly testing, assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of technical and organisational measures for ensuring the security of the processing;
- (e) measures to protect personal data from accidental or unlawful destruction, loss, alteration, unauthorised disclosure of or access to personal data transmitted, stored or otherwise processed.
- (f) ensure that, during communication of personal data and transport of storage media, the data cannot be read, copied or erased without authorisation;
- (g) design their organisational structure in such a way that it meets data protection requirements.

ARTICLE II.8 — VISIBILITY OF UNION FUNDING

II.8.1 Information on Union funding and use of the LIFE Programme and Natura 2000 logos

- a) Unless the Agency/Commission requests or agrees otherwise, any communication or publication made by the beneficiaries jointly or individually that relates to the project, including at conferences, seminars or in any information or promotional materials (such as brochures, leaflets, posters, presentations, in electronic form, etc.), must:
 - i. indicate that the project has received funding from the Union; and
 - ii. display the *LIFE Programme logo* (Annex II to the LIFE Regulation, https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life-communication). For audio-visual material, the credits at the beginning and/or at the end shall include an explicit audible and readable mention to the LIFE financial support (e.g. "With the contribution of the LIFE Programme of the European Union").

All durable goods acquired in the frame of the project shall bear the LIFE logo unless otherwise specified by the Agency/Commission.

When displayed in association with another logo, the LIFE Programme logo must have appropriate prominence.

The obligation to display the *LIFE Programme logo* does not confer on the beneficiaries a right of exclusive use. The beneficiaries may not appropriate the *LIFE Programme logo* or any similar trademark or logo, either by registration or by any other means.

For the purposes of the first, second and third subparagraphs and under the conditions specified therein, the beneficiaries may use the *LIFE Programme logo* without first obtaining permission from the Agency/Commission.

For projects in Natura 2000 sites or contributing to the integrity of the Natura 2000 network, the obligations regarding the LIFE Programme logo also apply for the Natura 2000 logo (https://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/life-communication). The project's importance in terms of establishing the Natura 2000 network must be described in the notice boards and on the websites.

- b) The coordinating beneficiary shall create a *project website* or use an existing website in at least one official language of the European Union for the dissemination of project activities, progress and results. The web address where the main results of the project are available to the public shall be indicated in the reports. This website shall be online at the latest six months after the starting date as specified in Article I.2.2, shall be regularly updated and shall be kept for at least five years after the end of the project. A summary of the project in English language, including name and contact information of the coordinating beneficiary, will be placed on the LIFE website and made available to the general public.
- c) The beneficiaries shall erect and maintain *notice boards* describing the project at the locations where it is implemented, at strategic places accessible and visible to the public.

II.8.2 Disclaimers excluding Agency/Commission responsibility

Any communication or publication that relates to the project, made by the beneficiaries jointly or individually in any form and using any means, must indicate:

(a) that it reflects only the author's view; and

(b) that the Agency/Commission is not responsible for any use that may be made of the information it contains.

ARTICLE II.9 — PRE-EXISTING RIGHTS AND OWNERSHIP AND USE OF THE RESULTS (INCLUDING INTELLECTUAL AND INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY RIGHTS)

II.9.1 Ownership of the results by the beneficiaries

The beneficiaries retain ownership of the results of the project, including industrial and intellectual property rights, and of the reports and other documents relating to it, unless stipulated otherwise in the Agreement.

With a view to promoting the use of techniques or models favourable to the environment, the beneficiaries are encouraged to make available throughout the Union all documents, patents and know-how directly resulting from the project implementation, on non-discriminatory and reasonable commercial conditions.

II.9.2 Pre-existing rights

If the Agency/Commission sends the beneficiaries a written request specifying which of the results it intends to use, the beneficiaries must:

- (a) establish a list specifying all *pre-existing rights* included in those results; and
- (b) provide this list to the Agency/Commission at the latest with the request for payment of the balance.

The beneficiaries must ensure that they or their affiliated entities have all the rights to use any *pre-existing rights* during the implementation of the Agreement.

II.9.3 Rights of use of the results and of pre-existing rights by the Union

The beneficiaries grant the Union and the Agency/Commission the following rights to use the results of the project:

- (a) for its own purposes and in particular to make available to persons working for the Agency/Commission, other Union institutions, agencies and bodies and to Member States' institutions, as well as to copy and reproduce in whole or in part and in an unlimited number of copies;
- (b) reproduction: the right to authorise direct or indirect, temporary or permanent reproduction of the results by any means (mechanical, digital or other) and in any form, in whole or in part;
- (c) communication to the public: the right to authorise any display performance or communication to the public, by wire or wireless means, including making the results available to the public in such a way that members of the public may access them from a place and at a time individually chosen by them; this right also includes communication and broadcasting by cable or by satellite;

32

- (d) distribution: the right to authorise any form of distribution of results or copies of the results to the public;
- (e) adaptation: the right to modify the results;
- (f) translation;
- (g) the right to store and archive the results in line with the document management rules applicable to the Agency/Commission, including digitisation or converting the format for preservation or new use purposes;
- (h) where the results are documents, the right to authorise the reuse of the documents in conformity with Commission Decision 2011/833/EU of 12 December 2011 on the reuse of Commission documents if that Decision is applicable and if the documents fall within its scope and are not excluded by any of its provisions. For the sake of this provision, the terms 'reuse' and 'document' have the meanings given to them by Decision 2011/833/EU.
- (i) inclusion in widely accessible databases or indexes, such as via 'open access' or 'open data' portals, or similar repositories, whether freely accessible or accessible only upon subscription of the LIFE Key Project Indicators collected by the beneficiaries in relation to the project. The above rights of use may be further specified in the Special Conditions.

The above rights of use may be further specified in the Special Conditions.

Additional rights of use for the Union may be provided for in the Special Conditions.

The beneficiaries must ensure that the Union has the right to use any *pre-existing rights* included in the results of the project. The *pre-existing rights* must be used for the same purposes and under the same conditions as applicable to the rights of use of the results of the project, unless specified otherwise in the Special Conditions.

Information about the copyright owner must be inserted in cases where the result is divulged by the Union. The copyright information must read: '© — year — name of the copyright owner. All rights reserved. Licenced to the European Union under conditions.'.

If the beneficiaries grant rights of use to the Agency/Commission, this does not affect its confidentiality obligations under Article II.6 or the beneficiaries' obligations under Article II.2.1.

ARTICLE II.10 — AWARD OF CONTRACTS NECESSARY FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PROJECT

II.10.1 If the implementation of the *project* requires the beneficiaries to procure goods, works or services, they may award the contract in accordance with their usual purchasing practices provided that the contracts is awarded to the tender offering best value for money or, as appropriate, to the tender offering the lowest price. In doing so, they must avoid any *conflict of interests*. Tendering procedures shall comply with the principles of transparency and equal treatment of potential contractors. The beneficiaries must maintain a written record of the procedure used to ensure that these

conditions are fulfilled in the tendering procedure in accordance with their usual procurement policy and/or practise.

The beneficiaries must ensure that the Agency/Commission, the European Court of Auditors and the European Anti-Fraud Office (OLAF) can exercise their rights under Article II.27 also towards the beneficiaries' contractors.

II.10.2 Beneficiaries that are 'contracting authorities' within the meaning of Directive 2014/24/EU⁸ or 'contracting entities' within the meaning of Directive 2014/25/EU⁹ must comply with the applicable national public procurement rules.

The beneficiaries must ensure that the conditions applicable to them under Articles II.4, II.5, II.6 and II.9 are also applicable to the contractors.

- **II.10.3** The beneficiaries remain solely responsible for carrying out the *project* and for compliance with the Agreement.
- **II.10.4** If the beneficiaries breach their obligations under Article II.10.1 the costs related to the contract concerned are considered ineligible in accordance with Article II.19.2 (c), (d) and (e).

If the beneficiaries breach their obligations under Article II.10.2 the grant may be reduced in accordance with Article II.25.4.

ARTICLE II.11 — SUBCONTRACTING OF TASKS FORMING PART OF THE PROJECT

- **II.11.1** Beneficiaries may subcontract tasks forming part of the *project*. If they do so, they must ensure that, in addition to the conditions specified in Article II.10, the following conditions are also complied with:
 - (a) subcontracting does not cover core tasks of the *project*;
 - (b) recourse to subcontracting is justified because of the nature of the *project* and what is necessary for its implementation;
 - (c) the estimated costs of the subcontracting are clearly identifiable in the estimated budget set out in Annex III;

any recourse to subcontracting, if not provided for in Annex II and III, is communicated by the coordinating beneficiary and approved by the

⁸ Directive 2014/24/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 February 2014 on public procurement and repealing Directive 2004/18/EC

⁹ Directive 2014/25/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 February 2014 on procurement by entities operating in the water, energy, transport and postal services sectors and repealing Directive 2004/17/EC

Agency/Commission. The Agency/Commission may grant approval after recourse to subcontracting if the subcontracting:

- is specifically justified in the mid term or final technical report referred to in Articles I.4.3 and I.4.4; and
- does not entail changes to the Agreement which would call into question the decision awarding the grant or be contrary to the equal treatment of applicants;
- (d) the beneficiaries ensure that
 - i. the conditions applicable to them under Article II.8 are also applicable to the subcontractors.
 - ii. all invoices issued by subcontractors are sufficiently detailed as to allow identification of single items covered by the service delivered (i.e. clear description and cost of each item).
- **II.11.2** If the beneficiaries breach their obligations under Article II.11.1 (a), (b), (c) or (d), the costs related to the contract concerned are considered ineligible in accordance with Article II.19.2 (f).

If the beneficiaries breach their obligation under Article II.11.1 (e) the grant may be reduced in accordance with Article II.25.4.

ARTICLE II.12 — FINANCIAL SUPPORT TO THIRD PARTIES

- II.12.1 If, while implementing the *project*, the beneficiaries have to give financial support to third parties, the beneficiaries must give such financial support in accordance with the conditions specified in Annex II. Under those conditions the following information must be stated at least:
- (a) the maximum amount of financial support. This amount may not exceed EUR 20 000 for each third party; the total amount of financial support shall not exceed EUR 100.000 during the lifetime of the project.
- (b) the criteria for determining the exact amount of the financial support;
- (c) the different types of activities that may receive financial support, on the basis of a fixed list;
- (d) the persons or categories of persons which may receive financial support;
- (e) the criteria for giving the financial support.
- **II.12.2** Financial support in the form of prizes is not allowed.
- **II.12.3** The beneficiaries shall ensure that the conditions applicable to them under Articles II.3, II.4, II.5, II.7, II.8 and II.27 are also applicable to the third parties receiving financial support.

ARTICLE II.13 — AMENDMENTS TO THE AGREEMENT

- **II.13.1** Any amendment to the Agreement must be made in writing.
- **II.13.2** An amendment may not have the purpose or the effect of making changes to the Agreement which would call into question the decision awarding the grant or be contrary to the equal treatment of applicants.

Only substantial changes require a formal amendment of the Agreement and will only be accepted in duly justified cases.

- **II.13.3** Any request for amendment must:
 - (a) be duly justified;
 - (b) be accompanied by appropriate supporting documents; and
 - (c) be sent to the other party in due time before it is due to take effect, and in any case one month before the end of the *implementation period*.
 - Point (c) does not apply in cases duly substantiated by the party requesting the amendment if the other party agrees.
- **II.13.4** A request for amendment on behalf of the beneficiaries must be submitted by the coordinating beneficiary. If a change of coordinating beneficiary is requested without its agreement, the request must be submitted by all other beneficiaries and must be accompanied by the opinion of the coordinating beneficiary or proof that this opinion has been requested in writing.
- **II.13.5** Amendments enter into force on the date on which the last party signs or on the date of approval of the request for amendment.

Amendments take effect on a date agreed by the parties or, in the absence of such an agreed date, on the date on which the amendment enters into force.

ARTICLE II.14 — ASSIGNMENT OF CLAIMS FOR PAYMENTS TO THIRD PARTIES

II.14.1 The beneficiaries may not assign any of their claims for payment against the Agency/Commission to any third party, except if approved by the Agency/Commission on the basis of a reasoned, written request by the coordinating beneficiary made on behalf of the beneficiaries.

If the Agency/Commission does not accept the assignment or the terms of it are not complied with, the assignment has no effect on it.

II.14.2 In no circumstances may an assignment release the beneficiaries from their obligations towards the Agency/Commission.

ARTICLE II.15 — FORCE MAJEURE

- **II.15.1** A party faced with *force majeure* must send a *formal notification* to the other party without delay, stating the nature of the situation or of the event, its likely duration and foreseeable effects.
- **II.15.2** The parties must take the necessary measures to limit any damage due to *force majeure*. They must do their best to resume the implementation of the *project* as soon as possible.
- **II.15.3** The party faced with *force majeure* may not be considered in breach of its obligations under the Agreement if it has been prevented from fulfilling them by *force majeure*.

ARTICLE II.16 — SUSPENSION OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PROJECT

II.16.1 Suspension of implementation by the beneficiaries

The coordinating beneficiary, on behalf of the beneficiaries, may suspend the implementation of the *project* or any part of it, if exceptional circumstances make such implementation impossible or excessively difficult, in particular in the event of *force majeure*.

The coordinating beneficiary must immediately inform the Agency/Commission, stating:

- (a) the reasons for suspension, including details about the date or period when the exceptional circumstances occurred; and
- (b) the expected date of resumption.

Once the circumstances allow the beneficiaries to resume implementing the *project*, the coordinating beneficiary must inform the Agency/Commission immediately and present a request for amendment of the Agreement as provided for in Article II.16.3. This obligation does not apply if the Agreement or the participation of a beneficiary is terminated in accordance with Articles II.17.1, II.17.2 or points (c) or (d) of Article II.17.3.1.

II.16.2 Suspension of implementation by the Agency/Commission

II.16.2.1 Grounds for suspension

The Agency/Commission may suspend the implementation of the *project* or any part thereof:

- (a) if the Agency/Commission has evidence that a beneficiary has committed *irregularities*, *fraud* or *breach of obligations* in the award procedure or while implementing the Agreement;
- (b) if the Agency/Commission has evidence that a beneficiary has committed systemic or recurrent *irregularities*, *fraud* or serious *breach of obligations* in other grants funded by the Union or the European Atomic Energy Community ('Euratom') awarded to the beneficiary under similar conditions and the errors, *irregularities*, *fraud* or *breach* have a material impact on this grant; or
- (c) if the Agency/Commission suspects *irregularities, fraud* or *breach of obligations* committed by a beneficiary in the award procedure or while implementing the Agreement and needs to verify whether they have actually occurred.

II.16.2.2 Procedure for suspension

Step 1 — Before suspending implementation of the *project*, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) informing it of:
 - (i) its intention to suspend the implementation;
 - (ii) the reasons for suspension;
 - (iii) the necessary conditions for resuming the implementation in the cases referred to in points (a) and (b) of Article II.16.2.1; and
- (b) inviting it to submit observations within 30 calendar days of receiving the formal notification.

Step 2 — If the Agency/Commission does not receive observations or decides to pursue the procedure despite the observations it has received, it must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it of:

- (a) the suspension of the implementation;
- (b) the reasons for suspension; and
- (c) the final conditions for resuming the implementation in the cases referred to in points (a) and (b) of Article II.16.2.1,; or
- (d) the indicative date of completion of the necessary verification in the case referred to in point (c) of Article II.16.2.1,.

The coordinating beneficiary must immediately inform the other beneficiaries of the suspension. The suspension takes effect five calendar days after the *formal notification* is received by the coordinating beneficiary or on a later date specified in the *formal notification*.

Otherwise, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it that it is not continuing the suspension procedure.

II.16.2.3 Resuming implementation

In order to resume the implementation, the beneficiaries must meet the notified conditions as soon as possible and must inform the Agency/Commission of any progress made.

If the conditions for resuming the implementation are met or the necessary verifications are carried out, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) informing it that the conditions for lifting the suspension are met; and
- (b) requiring it to present a request for amendment of the Agreement as provided for in Article II.16.3. This obligation does not apply if the Agreement or the participation of a beneficiary is terminated in accordance with Articles II.17.1, II.17.2 or points (c), (g) or (h) of Article II.17.3.1.

II.16.3 Effects of the suspension

If the implementation of the *project* can be resumed and the Agreement has not been terminated, an amendment to the Agreement must be made in accordance with Article II.13 in order to:

- (a) set the date on which the *project* is to be resumed;
- (b) extend the duration of the *project*; and
- (c) make other changes necessary to adapt the *project* to the new situation.

The suspension is lifted with effect from the resumption date set out in the amendment. This date may be before the date on which the amendment enters into force.

Costs incurred during the period of suspension that relate to the implementation of the suspended *project* or the suspended part of it may not be reimbursed or covered by the grant.

Suspending implementation of the *project* does not affect the Agency's/Commission's right to terminate the Agreement or to terminate the participation of a beneficiary in accordance with Article II.17.3, reduce the grant or recover amounts unduly paid in accordance with Articles II.25.4 and II.26.

Neither party may claim damages due to suspension by the other party.

ARTICLE II.17 — TERMINATION OF THE AGEEMENT

II.17.1 Termination of the Agreement by the coordinating beneficiary

The beneficiaries may terminate the Agreement.

The coordinating beneficiary must send a *formal notification* of termination to the Agency/Commission, stating:

- (a) the reasons for termination; and
- (b) the date on which the termination takes effect. This date must be set after the *formal notification*.

If the coordinating beneficiary does not state the reasons for the termination or if the Agency/Commission considers that the reasons do not justify termination, the Agreement is considered to have been terminated improperly.

The termination takes effect on the day specified in the formal notification.

II.17.2 Termination of the participation of one or more beneficiaries by the coordinating beneficiary

The participation of one or more beneficiaries may be terminated by the coordinating beneficiary at the request of the associated beneficiary concerned or on behalf of the other associated beneficiaries.

The coordinating beneficiary must send a *formal notification* of termination to the Agency/Commission and inform the beneficiary concerned by termination.

If the coordinating beneficiary's participation is terminated without its agreement, the *formal notification* must be submitted by another associated beneficiary (acting on behalf of the other associated beneficiaries).

The formal notification must include:

- (a) the reasons for termination;
- (b) the opinion of the beneficiary concerned by termination (or proof that this opinion has been requested in writing);
- (c) the date on which the termination takes effect. This date must be set after the *formal notification*; and
- (d) a request for amendment as provided for in Article II.17.4.2(a).

If the coordinating beneficiary or beneficiary does not state the reasons for the termination or if the Agency/Commission considers that the reasons do not justify termination, the participation will be considered to have been terminated improperly.

The termination takes effect on the day specified in the *formal notification*.

II.17.3 Termination of the Agreement or the participation of one or more beneficiaries by the Agency/Commission

II.17.3.1 Grounds for termination

The Agency/Commission may terminate the Agreement or the participation of any one or several beneficiaries, if:

- (a) a change to the beneficiary's legal, financial, technical, organisational or ownership situation is likely to affect the implementation of the Agreement substantially or calls into question the decision to award the grant or a change regarding the exclusion situations listed in Article 136 of Regulation (EU) 2018/1046, that calls into question the decision to award the grant;
- (b) following the termination of the participation of any one or several beneficiaries, the necessary modifications to the Agreement would call into question the decision awarding the grant or would result in unequal treatment of applicants;
- (c) the beneficiaries, any *related person* or any natural person who is essential for the award or for the implementation of the Agreement have committed serious *breach of obligations*, including improper implementation of the project as described in Annex II;
- (d) the implementation of the project is prevented or suspended due to *force majeure* or exceptional circumstances and either:
 - (i) resumption is impossible; or
 - (ii) the necessary changes to the Agreement would call into question the decision awarding the grant or be contrary to the equal treatment of applicants;
- (e) a beneficiary or a natural or legal person that assumes unlimited liability for the debts of that beneficiary:

- (i) is declared bankrupt, is subject to insolvency or winding up procedures, its assets are being administered by a liquidator or by a Court, has entered into an agreement with creditors, has suspended business activities or is in any analogous situation arising from a similar procedure provided for under the Union or national law;
- (ii) is in breach of its obligations relating to the payment of taxes or social security contributions in accordance with the applicable law;
- (f) a beneficiary or any *related person* or any natural person who is essential for the award or for the implementation of the Agreement has committed:
 - (i) grave professional misconduct proven by any means;
 - (ii) fraud;
 - (iii) corruption;
 - (iv) conduct related to criminal organisations;
 - (v) money laundering;
 - (vi) terrorism-related crimes (including terrorism financing);
 - (vii)child labour or other offences concerning trafficking of human beings;
- (g) the Agency/Commission has evidence that a beneficiary or any related person or any natural person who is essential for the award or for the implementation of the Agreement has committed irregularities or breach of obligations in the award procedure or while implementing the Agreement, including if that beneficiary or related person or natural person has submitted false information or failed to provide required information;
- (h) the Agency/Commission has evidence that a beneficiary has committed systemic or recurrent *irregularities*, *fraud* or serious *breach of obligations* in other Union or Euratom grants awarded to it under similar conditions and such *irregularities*, *fraud* or *breach of obligations* have a material impact on this grant;
- (i) a beneficiary or any *related person* or any natural person who is essential for the award or for the implementation of the Agreement has created an entity under a different jurisdiction with the intend to circumvent fiscal, social or any other legal obligations in the jurisdiction of its registered office, central administration or principal place of business;
- (j) a beneficiary or any related person or any natural person who is essential for the award or for the implementation of the Agreement has been created with the intend referred to in point (i) or
- (k) the Agency/Commission has sent a beneficiary, through the coordinating beneficiary, a *formal notification* asking it to end the participation of its affiliated entity because that entity is in a situation provided for in points (e) to (j) and that beneficiary has failed to request an amendment ending the participation of the entity and reallocating its tasks.

II.17.3.2 Procedure for termination

Step 1- Before terminating the Agreement or participation of one or more beneficiaries, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) informing it of:
 - (i) its intention to terminate;
 - (ii) the reasons for termination; and
- (b) requiring it, within 45 calendar days of receiving the formal notification,:
 - (i) to submit observations on behalf of all beneficiaries; and
 - (ii) in the case of point (c) of Article II.17.3.1, to inform the Agency/Commission of the measures to ensure compliance with the obligations under the Agreement.

Step 2 — If the Agency/Commission does not receive observations or decides to pursue the procedure despite the observations it has received, it will send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it of the termination and the date on which it takes effect. The coordinating beneficiary must immediately inform the other beneficiaries of the termination.

Otherwise, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it that the termination procedure is not continued.

The termination takes effect:

- (a) for terminations under points (a), (b), (c) and (e) of Article II.17.3.1: on the day specified in the *formal notification* of termination referred to in the second subparagraph (i.e. in Step 2 above);
- (b) for terminations under points (d), (f), (g), (h) and (i) of Article II.17.3.1: on the day after the coordinating beneficiary receives the *formal notification* of termination referred to in the second subparagraph (i.e. in Step 2 above).

II.17.4 Effects of termination

II.17.4.1 Effects of terminating the Agreement:

Within 60 calendar days from the day on which the termination takes effect, the coordinating beneficiary must submit a request for payment of the balance as provided for in Article I.4.4.

If the Agency/Commission does not receive the request for payment of the balance by the above deadline, only costs which are included in an approved technical report and, where relevant, in an approved financial statement, are reimbursed or covered by the grant.

If the Agreement is terminated by the Agency/Commission because the coordinating beneficiary has breached its obligation to submit the request for payment, the coordinating beneficiary may not submit any request for payment after termination. In that case the second subparagraph applies.

The Agency/Commission calculates the final grant amount as referred to in Article II.25 and the balance as referred to in Article I.5.4 on the basis of the reports submitted. Only activities undertaken before the date when the termination takes effect or the end date of the *implementation period* as specified in Article I.2.2, whichever is the earliest, must be taken into account. Where the grant takes the form of reimbursement of costs actually incurred as

provided for in Article I.3.2(a)(i), only costs incurred before termination takes effect are reimbursed or covered by the grant. Costs relating to contracts due for execution only after termination are not taken into account and are not reimbursed or covered by the grant.

The Agency/Commission may reduce the grant in accordance with Article II.25.4 in case of:

- (a) improper termination of the Agreement by the coordinating beneficiary within the meaning of Article II.17.1; or
- (b) termination of the Agreement by the Agency/Commission on any of the grounds set out in points (c), (f), (g), (h) and (i) of Article II.17.3.1.

Neither party may claim damages on the grounds that the other party terminated the Agreement.

After termination, the beneficiaries' obligations continue to apply, in particular those under Articles I.4, II.6, II.8, II.9, II.14, II.27 and any additional provisions on the use of the results, as set out in the Special Conditions.

II.17.4.2 Effects of terminating the participation of one or more beneficiaries:

- a) The coordinating beneficiary must submit a request for amendment including:
 - (i) a proposal to reallocate the tasks of the beneficiary or beneficiaries concerned by the termination; and
 - (ii) if necessary, the addition of one or more new beneficiaries to succeed the beneficiary or beneficiaries concerned in all their rights and obligations under the Agreement.

If the Agency/Commission terminates the participation of a beneficiary, the coordinating beneficiary must submit the request for amendment within 60 calendar days from the day on which the termination takes effect.

If the coordinating beneficiary terminates the participation of a beneficiary, the request for amendment must be included in the *formal notification* of termination referred to in Article II.17.2.

If termination takes effect after the end of the *implementation period*, no request for amendment must be provided unless the beneficiary concerned is the coordinating beneficiary. In this case, the request for amendment must propose a new coordinating beneficiary.

If the request for amendment is rejected by the Agency/Commission, the Agreement may be terminated in accordance with Article II.17.3.1 (b). The request for amendment may be rejected if it calls into question the decision awarding the grant or is contrary to the equal treatment of applicants.

- b) The beneficiary concerned by termination must submit to the coordinating beneficiary:
 - (i) a technical report; and
 - (ii) a financial statement covering the period from the end of the last reporting period to the date when termination takes effect.

The coordinating beneficiary must include this information in the payment request for the next reporting period.

Only activities undertaken before the date when the termination takes effect must be taken into account. Where the grant takes the form of reimbursement of costs actually incurred as provided for in Article I.3.2(a)(i), only costs incurred by the beneficiary concerned before termination takes effect are reimbursed or covered by the grant. Costs relating to contracts due for execution only after termination are not reimbursed or covered by the grant.

The Agency/Commission may reduce the grant in accordance with Article II.25.4. in case of:

- (a) improper termination of the participation of a beneficiary by the coordinating beneficiary within the meaning of Article II.17.2 or
- (b) termination of the participation of a beneficiary by the Agency/Commission on any of the grounds set out in points (c), (f), (g), (h) or (i) of Article II.17.3.1.

Neither party may claim damages on the grounds that the other party terminated the participation of a beneficiary.

After termination, the concerned beneficiary's obligations continue to apply, in particular those under Articles I.4, II.6, II.8, II.9, II.14, II.27 and any additional provisions on the use of the results, as set out in the Special Conditions.

ARTICLE II.18 — APPLICABLE LAW, SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES AND ENFORCEABLE DECISIONS

- **II.18.1** The Agreement is governed by the applicable Union law, complemented, where necessary, by the law of Belgium.
- **II.18.2** In accordance with Article 272 TFEU, the General Court or, on appeal, the Court of Justice of the European Union, has sole jurisdiction to hear any dispute between the Union and any beneficiary concerning the interpretation, application or validity of the Agreement, if such dispute cannot be settled amicably.
- **II.18.3** In accordance with Article 299 TFEU, for the purposes of recovery within the meaning of Article II.26, the Agency/Commission may adopt an enforceable decision to impose pecuniary obligations on persons other than States.

An *action* may be brought against such decision before the General Court of the European Union in accordance with Article 263 TFEU.

PART B — FINANCIAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE II.19 — ELIGIBLE COSTS

II.19.1 Conditions for the eligibility of costs

Eligible costs of the *project* are costs actually incurred by the beneficiary and which meet the following criteria:

(a) they are incurred within the *implementation period*, with the exception of costs relating to the request for payment of the balance and the corresponding supporting documents referred to in Article I.4.4;

A cost shall be considered as incurred in the *implementation period* when the legal obligation to pay was contracted after the starting date and before the end date of the project, or after the signature of the grant agreement by the Agency/Commission in case this signature takes place before the project starting date;

- (b) they are indicated in the estimated budget of the *project*. The estimated budget is set out in Annex III;
- (c) they are incurred in connection with the *project* as described in Annex II and are necessary for its implementation;
- (d) they are identifiable and verifiable, in particular they are recorded in the beneficiary's accounting records and determined according to the applicable accounting standards of the country where the beneficiary is established and according to the beneficiary's usual cost accounting practices;
- (e) they comply with the requirements of applicable tax and social legislation; and
- (f) they are reasonable, justified and comply with the principle of sound financial management, in particular regarding economy and efficiency.

II.19.2 Eligible direct costs

To be eligible, the *direct cost* of the *project* must comply with the eligibility conditions set out in Article II.19.1.

In particular, the following categories of costs are eligible *direct costs*, provided that they satisfy the eligibility conditions set out in Article II.19.1 as well as the following conditions:

(a) the costs of personnel working under an employment contract with the beneficiary or an equivalent appointing act and assigned to the *project*, provided that these costs are in line with the beneficiary's usual policy on remuneration.

Those costs include actual salaries plus social security contributions and other statutory costs included in the remuneration. They may also comprise additional remunerations, including payments on the basis of supplementary contracts regardless of the nature of those contracts, provided that they are paid in a consistent manner whenever the same kind of work or expertise is required, independently from the source of funding used;

The costs of natural persons working under a contract with the beneficiary other than an employment contract or who are seconded to the beneficiary by a third party against payment may also be included under such personnel costs, provided that the following conditions are fulfilled:

- (i) the person works under conditions similar to those of an employee (in particular regarding the way the work is organised, the tasks that are performed and the premises where they are performed);
- (ii) the result of the work belongs to the beneficiary (unless exceptionally agreed otherwise); and
- (iii)the costs are not significantly different from the costs of staff performing similar tasks under an employment contract with the beneficiary.

The sum of the public contributions as beneficiaries to the project budget must exceed by at least 2 % the sum of the salary costs charged to the project described in Annex III for public body employees who are not considered 'additional'.

'Additional' personnel includes all employees – permanent or temporary – of public bodies whose contracts or contract renewals:

- start on or after the start date of the project or on or after the date of signature of the grant agreement by the Agency/Commission in case this date takes place before the project start date, and
- specifically second/assign them to the project.
- (b) costs of travel and related subsistence allowances, provided that these costs are in line with the beneficiary's usual practices on travel;

(c) Depreciation costs and prototypes

The **depreciation costs of durable goods** or other assets (new or second-hand equipment or infrastructure) as recorded in the beneficiary's accounting statements (i.e. placed on its inventory or other type of registry of durable goods/other assets or treated as capital expenditure in accordance with the applicable tax and accounting rules), provided that the asset:

- (i) is written off in accordance with the international accounting standards and the beneficiary's usual accounting practices; and
- (ii) has been purchased in accordance with Article II.10.1 if the purchase occurred within the *implementation period*;

The costs of renting or leasing equipment or other assets are also eligible, provided that these costs do not exceed the depreciation costs of similar equipment or assets and are exclusive of any finance fee;

Only the portion of the equipment's depreciation, rental or lease costs corresponding to the *implementation period* and the rate of actual use for the purposes of the *project* may

be taken into account when determining the eligible costs. By way of exception, the full cost of purchase of equipment may be eligible under the Special Conditions, if this is justified by the nature of the project and the context of the use of the equipment or assets;

The calculation basis for the eligible depreciation costs may not exceed the following ceilings:

- Equipment costs: 50% of the total purchase cost,
- Infrastructure costs: 25% of the total purchase cost;

Costs incurred for the purchase of durable goods, including notice boards, can only be eligible if they bear the LIFE logo (and the Natura 2000 logo, when applicable);

In *LIFE Technical Assistance projects*, depreciation cost and the costs of rental or lease of infrastructure are not eligible.

A *prototype* is equipment or infrastructure specifically created for the implementation of the project and that has never been commercialised and/or is not available as a serial product. The prototype must play a crucial role in the demonstration activities of the project.

- (d) costs of consumables and supplies, with the exception of general office consumables and supplies, provided that they:
 - (i) are purchased in accordance with Article II.10.1; and
 - (ii) are directly assigned to the project;
- (e) costs arising directly from requirements imposed by the Agreement (dissemination of information, specific evaluation of the project, audits, translations, reproduction), including the costs of requested financial guarantees, provided that the corresponding services are purchased in accordance with Article II.10.1;
- (f) costs entailed by *subcontracts* within the meaning of Article II.11, provided that the conditions laid down in Article II.11.1 (a), (b), (c) and (d) are met;
- (g) costs of financial support to third parties;
- (h) duties, taxes and charges paid by the beneficiary, notably value added tax (VAT), provided that they are included in eligible *direct costs*, and unless specified otherwise in the Agreement.

Non-deductible VAT is eligible as expenditure, save for those activities matching the concept of sovereign powers exercised by Member States;

(i) Costs incurred for *land purchase or long-term lease of land or one-off compensations* for land use rights regarding a plot of land which is intrinsically connected with implementation of the project and explicitly envisaged therein, shall be considered eligible in full provided that:

- (aa) in and beyond the project the purchase will contribute to improving, maintaining and restoring the integrity of the Natura 2000 network, including through improving connectivity by the creation of corridors, stepping stones, or other elements of green infrastructure;
- (bb) the land or land use rights acquired are owned by an entity or natural person who is not a project beneficiary or staff thereof and in relation to whom a conflict of interest can be excluded;
- (cc) land purchase is the only or most cost-effective way of achieving the desired conservation outcome and the purchase price is based on market terms;
- (dd) the land purchased is reserved in the long term for uses consistent with the objectives set out in Articles 11, 14 or 15 of the LIFE Regulation; and
- (ee) the Member State concerned shall, by way of transfer or otherwise, ensure the long-term assignment of such land to nature conservation purposes.
- (ff) the land/rights seller is not a public authority, with the exception of short-term leases by local authorities;
- (gg) for land purchased as provided for in the project, the coordinating beneficiary shall ensure the entry in the land register includes a guarantee that the land will be assigned definitively to nature conservation. If in a given Member State the land register does not exist or it does not provide a sufficient legal guarantee, the coordinating beneficiary shall have a clause for the definitive assignment of the land to nature conservation included in the land sale contract. For countries where it would be illegal to include such a guarantee both in the land register and in the sale contract, the Agency/Commission may accept an equivalent guarantee in this connection, provided it offers the same legal level of protection in the long term and complies with the requirement contained in Article 20(3) of Regulation No 1293/2013:
- (hh) in addition, for land purchased by private organisations, the entry in the land register (or the sales contract if accepted in lieu thereof if accepted as per the previous paragraph) includes a guarantee that the land property will be transferred to a legal body primarily active in the field of nature protection, in case of dissolution of the private organisation or its incapacity to manage the land according to nature conservation requirements. For countries where it would be illegal to include such a guarantee in the land register or sales contract, the Agency/Commission may accept an equivalent guarantee in this connection, provided it offers the same legal level of protection in the long term and complies with the requirement contained in Article 20(3) of Regulation No 1293/2013;
- (ii) for the purchase of rights, the entry in the land register must be duly amended;
- (jj) in case of land purchased to be exchanged at a later date for another parcel on which project projects will be undertaken, the exchange is carried out before the end of the project at the latest and the provisions of the present Article shall apply to the lands received through the exchange. The land purchased to be exchanged shall be exempt, at the stage of the mid-term reporting, from the guarantee that the land will be assigned definitively to nature conservation.

The duration of a *land lease* shall either be restricted to the duration of the project (short term lease), in which case it is considered subcontracting, or be at least of 20 years

(long-term lease) and shall be compatible with the needs of habitat and species protection. In the case of long-term lease of land, the lease contract shall clearly include all the provisions and commitments that will permit the achievement of its objectives in terms of habitat and species protection.

The LIFE Land Purchase Database (LPD) stores electronic data of land parcels financed by LIFE. The coordinating beneficiary is responsible for entering and validating the land purchase data (both descriptive and spatial) in the LPD at the stage of the final report submission. The data format will have to be adapted to the GIS standards used in the LPD. The coordinating beneficiary will be provided access to the LPD six months before the project end date as specified in Article I.2.2.

Costs incurred for payment of compensation for foregone income shall be eligible provided that the expense was necessary for reaching the objectives of a LIFE Nature and Biodiversity, LIFE Climate Change Mitigation or LIFE Climate Change Adaptation project, and that the payment of compensation:

- corresponds to market prices;
- is formalised through a legal document; and
- compensation is not paid to a public authority, with the exception of compensation to a local authority if explicitly authorised by the Agency/Commission as being essential to achieving the goals of the project.
- (k) Costs incurred for the production of communication material, including websites, can only be eligible if they are bearing the LIFE logo (and the Natura 2000 logo, when applicable).

II.19.3 Eligible indirect costs

To be eligible, *indirect costs* of the project (also referred to as 'overheads') must represent a fair apportionment of the overall overheads of the beneficiary and must comply with the conditions of eligibility set out in Article II.19.1.

Eligible indirect costs shall be declared on the basis of a flat rate as specified in Annex III in accordance with Article I.3.2 (a) (iv) and shall not exceed 7% of the eligible direct costs of the beneficiary, excluding costs of land purchase/long-term lease of land/one-off compensations for land use rights.

II.19.4 Ineligible costs

In addition to any other costs which do not fulfil the conditions set out in Article II.19.1, the following costs may not be considered eligible:

- (a) return on capital and dividends paid by a beneficiary;
- (b) debt and debt service charges;
- (c) provisions for losses or debts;
- (d) interest owed;
- (e) doubtful debts;

- (f) exchange losses;
- (g) costs of transfers from the Agency/Commission charged by the bank of a beneficiary;
- (h) costs declared by the beneficiary under another project receiving a grant financed from the Union budget. Such grants include grants awarded by a Member State and financed from the Union budget and grants awarded by bodies other than the Agency/Commission for the purpose of implementing the Union budget. In particular, beneficiaries receiving an operating grant financed by the EU or Euratom budget cannot declare indirect costs for the period(s) covered by the operating grant, unless they can demonstrate that the operating grant does not cover any costs of the project.
- (i) contributions in kind from third parties, including voluntary work;
- (j) excessive or reckless expenditure;
- (k) deductible VAT.
- (l) any costs related to projects that may be considered as compensatory or mitigation measures for damages¹⁰ caused to nature or biodiversity by permitted plans or projects;
- (m)unless explicitly foreseen in the project description in Annex II, any costs related to management plans, action plans and similar plans¹¹, drafted or modified in the context of a LIFE project, if the related plan is not adopted and operational before the project end date. This includes the completion, before the project end date, of all procedural/legal steps in Member States where such procedures are foreseen;
- (n) costs for major infrastructure or fundamental scientific research unless explicitly foreseen in the project description in Annex II;

ARTICLE II.20 — IDENTIFIABILITY AND VERIFIABILITY OF THE AMOUNTS DECLARED

II.20.1 Declaring costs and contributions

Each beneficiary must declare as eligible costs or as a requested contribution:

- (a) for actual costs: the costs it actually incurred for the *project*;
- (b) for unit costs or unit contributions: Not applicable;
- (c) for lump sum costs or lump sum contributions: Not applicable;
- (d) for flat-rate costs or flat-rate contributions: the amount obtained by applying the flat rate specified in Article I.3.2(a)(iv) or (d);
- (e) for unit costs declared on the basis of the beneficiary's usual cost accounting practices: Not applicable;
- (f) for lump sum costs declared on the basis of the beneficiary's usual cost accounting practices: Not applicable;

¹⁰ Unless such damages would be caused by the objectives of the LIFE project itself.

¹¹ Obligatory "After-LIFE plans" are not included in this category.

(g) for flat-rate costs declared on the basis of the beneficiary's usual cost accounting practices: Not applicable;

II.20.2 Records and other documentation to support the costs and contributions declared

Each beneficiary must provide the following if requested to do so in the context of the checks or audits described in Article II.27:

- (a) for actual costs: adequate supporting documents to prove the costs declared, such as contracts, invoices and accounting records.
- (b) In addition, the beneficiary's usual accounting and internal control procedures must permit direct reconciliation of the amounts declared with the amounts recorded in its accounting statements and with the amounts indicated in the supporting documents for unit costs or unit contributions: adequate supporting documents to prove the number of units declared.

The beneficiary does not need to identify the actual eligible costs covered or to provide supporting documents, such as accounting statements, to prove the amount declared per unit;

- (c) for lump sum costs or lump sum contributions: adequate supporting documents to prove that the *action* has been properly implemented.
 - The beneficiary does not need to identify the actual eligible costs covered or to provide supporting documents, such as accounting statements, to prove the amount declared as a lump sum;
- (d) for flat-rate costs or flat-rate contributions: adequate supporting documents to prove the eligible costs or requested contribution to which the flat rate applies.

The beneficiary does not need to identify the actual eligible costs covered or to provide supporting documents, such as accounting statements, for the flat rate applied;

II.20.3 Conditions to determine the compliance of cost accounting practices

Not applicable

ARTICLE II.21 — ELIGIBILITY OF COSTS OF ENTITIES AFFILIATED TO THE BENEFICIARIES

If the Special Conditions contain a provision on entities affiliated to the beneficiaries, costs incurred by such an entity are eligible, if:

- (a) they satisfy the same conditions under Articles II.19 and II.20 as apply to the beneficiary; and
- (b) the beneficiary to which the entity is affiliated ensures that the conditions applicable to the beneficiary under Articles II.4, II.5, II.6, II.8, II.10, II.11 and II.27 are also applicable to the entity.

ARTICLE II.22 — BUDGET TRANSFERS

Beneficiaries are allowed to adjust the estimated budget set out in Annex III by transfers between themselves, and up to a limit of 20% of the overall eligible costs between the different budget categories, if the project is implemented as described in Annex II. This adjustment does not require an amendment of the Agreement as provided for in Article II.13.

However, the beneficiaries may not add costs relating to *subcontracts* not provided for in Annex I, unless such additional *subcontracts* are approved by the Agency/Commission in accordance with Article II.11.1(d).

ARTICLE II.23 — NON-COMPLIANCE WITH REPORTING OBLIGATIONS

The Agency/Commission may terminate the Agreement as provided for in Article II.17.3.1(c) and may reduce the grant as provided for in Article II.25.4 if the coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) did not submit a request for interim payment or payment of the balance accompanied by the documents referred to in Articles I.4.3 or I.4.4 within 90 calendar days following the end of the corresponding reporting period; and
- (b) still fails to submit such a request within further 60 calendar days following a written reminder sent by the Agency/Commission.]

ARTICLE II.24 — SUSPENSION OF PAYMENTS AND TIME LIMIT FOR PAYMENT

II.24.1 Suspension of payments

II.24.1.1 Grounds for suspension

The Agency/Commission may at any moment suspend, in whole or in part, the pre-financing payment and interim payments for one or more beneficiaries or the payment of the balance for all beneficiaries:

- (a) if the Agency/Commission has evidence that a beneficiary has committed *irregularities*, *fraud* or *breach of obligations* in the award procedure or while implementing the Agreement or if a beneficiary fails to comply with its obligations under the Agreement;
- (b) if the Agency/Commission has evidence that a beneficiary has committed systemic or recurrent *irregularities*, *fraud* or serious *breach of obligations* in other grants funded by the Union or the European Atomic Energy Community ('Euratom') awarded to the beneficiary under similar conditions and such *irregularities*, *fraud* or breach have a material impact on this grant; or
- (c) if the Agency/Commission suspects *irregularities, fraud* or *breach of obligations* committed by a beneficiary in the award procedure or while implementing the Agreement and needs to verify whether they have actually occurred.

II.24.1.2 Procedure for suspension

Step 1 — Before suspending payments, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary:

(a) informing it of:

- (i) its intention to suspend payments;
- (ii) the reasons for suspension;
- (iii) in the cases referred to in points (a) and (b) of Article II.24.1.1, the conditions that need to be met for payments to resume; and
- (b) inviting it to submit observations within 30 calendar days of receiving the *formal* notification.

Step 2 — If the Agency/Commission does not receive observations or decides to pursue the procedure despite the observations it has received, it must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it of:

- (a) the suspension of payments;
- (b) the reasons for suspension;
- (c) the final conditions under which payments may resume in the cases referred to in points (a) and (b) of Article II.24.1.1;
- (d) the indicative date of completion of the necessary verification in the case referred to in point (c) of Article II.24.1.1.

The coordinating beneficiary must immediately inform the other beneficiaries of the suspension. The suspension takes effect on the day the Agency/Commission sends *formal notification* of suspension (Step 2).

Otherwise, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it that it is not continuing with the suspension procedure.

II.24.1.3 Effects of suspension

During the period of suspension of payments the coordinating beneficiary is not entitled to submit:

- (a) any requests for payments and supporting documents referred to in Articles I.4.2, I.4.3 and I.4.4; or
- (b) where the suspension concerns the pre-financing payments or interim payments for one or several beneficiaries only, any requests for payments and supporting documents relating to the participation of the concerned beneficiary or beneficiaries in the *project*.

The corresponding requests for payments and supporting documents may be submitted as soon as possible after resumption of payments or may be included in the first request for payment due following resumption of payments in accordance with the schedule laid down in Article I.4.1.

The suspension of payments does not affect the right of the coordinating beneficiary to suspend the implementation of the *project* as provided for in Article II.16.1 or to terminate the Agreement or the participation of a beneficiary as provided for in Articles II.17.1 and II.17.2.

II.24.1.4 Resuming payments

In order for the Agency/Commission to resume payments, the beneficiaries must meet the notified conditions as soon as possible and must inform the Agency/Commission of any progress made.

If the conditions for resuming payments are met, the suspension will be lifted. The Agency/Commission will send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it of this.

II.24.2 Suspension of the time limit for payments

- **II.24.2.1** The Agency/Commission may at any moment suspend the time limit for payment specified in Articles I.4.9, I.4.10 and I.4.11 if a request for payment cannot be approved because:
 - (a) it does not comply with the Agreement;
 - (b) the appropriate supporting documents have not been produced; or
 - (c) there is a doubt about the eligibility of the costs declared in the financial statements and additional checks, reviews, audits or investigations are necessary.
- **II.24.2.2** The Agency/Commission must send a *notification* to the coordinating beneficiary informing it of:
 - (a) the suspension; and
 - (b) the reasons for the suspension.

The suspension takes effect on the day the Agency/Commission sends the *notification*.

II.24.2.3 If the conditions for suspending the payment deadline are no longer met, the suspension will be lifted and the remaining period will resume.

If the suspension exceeds two months, the coordinating beneficiary may request the Agency/Commission if the suspension will continue.

If the payment deadline has been suspended because the technical reports or financial statements do not comply with the Agreement and the revised report or statement is not submitted or was submitted but is also rejected, the Agency/Commission may terminate the Agreement or the participation of the beneficiary as provided for in Article II.17.3.1(c) and reduce the grant as provided for in Article II.25.4.

ARTICLE II.25 — CALCULATION OF THE FINAL AMOUNT OF THE GRANT

The final amount of the grant depends on the extent to which the *project* has been implemented in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.

The final amount of the grant is calculated by the Agency/Commission at the time of the payment of the balance. The calculation involves the following steps:

- Step 1 Application of the reimbursement rate to the eligible costs and addition of the unit, flat-rate and lump sum contributions
- Step 2 Limit to the maximum amount of the grant
- Step 3 Reduction due to the no-profit rule
- Step 4 Reduction due to improper implementation or breach of other obligations.

II.25.1Step 1 — Application of the reimbursement rate to the eligible costs and addition of the unit, flat-rate and lump sum contributions

This step is applied as follows:

- (a) If, as provided for in Article I.3.2(a), the grant takes the form of the reimbursement of eligible costs, the reimbursement rate specified in that Article is applied to the eligible costs of the *project* approved by the Agency/Commission for the corresponding categories of costs, beneficiaries and affiliated entities;
- (b) If, as provided for in Article I.3.2(a) (ii) to (v), the grant takes the form of the reimbursement of eligible unit costs, lump sum costs or flat rate costs, the reimbursement rate specified in that Article is applied to the those eligible costs as approved by the Agency/Commission for the corresponding categories of costs, beneficiaries and affiliated entities;

The accepted amount of volunteers' work for the corresponding beneficiaries and affiliated entities must be limited to the following amount, whichever is the lowest:

- the total sources of financing as indicated in the estimated budget set out in Annex III and as accepted by the Agency/Commission multiplied by fifty per cent; or
- (ii) the amount of volunteers' work as indicated in the final financial statement.
- (c) If, as provided for in Article I.3.2(b), the grant takes the form of a unit contribution, the unit contribution specified in that Article is multiplied by the actual number of units approved by the Agency/Commission for the beneficiary and its affiliated entities;
- (d) If, as provided for in Article I.3.2(c), the grant takes the form of a lump sum contribution, the Agency/Commission applies the lump sum specified in that Article for the beneficiary and its affiliated entities if it finds that the corresponding tasks or part of the *project* were implemented properly in accordance with Annex I;
- (e) If, as provided for in Article I.3.2(d), the grant takes the form of a flat-rate contribution, the flat rate referred to in that Article is applied to the eligible costs or to the contribution approved by the Agency/Commission for the beneficiary and its affiliated entities.

If Article I.3.2 provides for a combination of different forms of grant, the amounts obtained must be added together.

II.25.2 Step 2 — Limit to maximum amount of the grant

The total amount paid to the beneficiaries by the Agency/Commission may in no circumstances exceed the *maximum amount of the grant*.

If the amount obtained following Step 1 is higher than this maximum amount, the final amount of the grant is limited to the latter.

If volunteers' work is declared as part of direct eligible costs, the final amount of the grant is limited to the amount of total eligible costs and contributions approved by the

Agency/Commission minus the amount of volunteers' work approved by the Agency/Commission.

II.25.3 Step 3 — Reduction due to the no-profit rule

The grant may not produce a profit for the beneficiaries, unless specified otherwise in the Special Conditions.

The profit must be calculated as follows:

(a) calculate the surplus of the total receipts of the project, over the total eligible costs of the project, as follows:

```
{ receipts of the project
minus

consolidated total eligible costs and contributions approved by the Agency/Commission corresponding to the amounts determined in accordance with Article II.25.1 }
```

The receipts of the project are calculated as follows:

{ the revenue generated by the project for beneficiaries and affiliated entities other than non-profit organisations

plus

the amount obtained following Steps 1 and 2

where the revenue generated by the project is the consolidated revenue established, generated or confirmed for beneficiaries and affiliated entities other than non-profit organisations on the date on which the request for payment of the balance is drawn up by the coordinator.

In-kind and financial contributions by third parties are not considered receipts.

(b) If the amount calculated under point (a) is positive, this amount will be deducted from the amount calculated following Steps 1 and 2, in proportion to the final rate of reimbursement of the actual eligible costs of the project approved by the Agency/Commission for the categories of costs referred to in Article I.3.2(a)(i).

II.25.4 Step 4 — Reduction due to improper implementation or breach of other obligations

The Agency/Commission may reduce the *maximum amount of the grant* if the *project* has not been implemented properly as described in Annex II (i.e. if it has not been implemented or has been implemented poorly, partially or late), or if another obligation under the Agreement has been breached.

The amount of the reduction will be proportionate to the degree to which the *project* has been implemented improperly or to the seriousness of the breach.

Before the Agency/Commission reduces the grant and except when the reduction is due to the non-respect of the 2% rule in Article II.19.2(a)(iii), it must send a *formal notification* to the coordinating beneficiary:

- (a) informing it of:
 - (i) its intention to reduce the maximum amount of the grant;
 - (ii) the amount by which it intends to reduce the grant;
 - (iii) the reasons for reduction;
- (b) inviting it to submit observations within 30 calendar days of receiving the formal notification.

If the Agency/Commission does not receive any observations or decides to pursue reduction despite the observations it has received, it will send a *formal notification* informing the coordinating beneficiary of its decision.

If the grant is reduced, the Agency/Commission must calculate the reduced grant amount by deducting the amount of the reduction (calculated in proportion to the improper implementation of the *project* or to the seriousness of the breach of obligations) from the maximum amount of the grant.

The final amount of the grant will be the lower of the following two:

- (a) the amount obtained following Steps 1 to 3; or
- (b) the reduced grant amount following Step 4.

ARTICLE II.26 — RECOVERY

II.26.1 Recovery at the time of payment of the balance

Where the payment of the balance takes the form of a recovery, the coordinating beneficiary must repay the Agency/Commission the amount in question, even if it was not the final recipient of the amount due. However, the Agency/Commission reserves the right, where appropriate, to recover the amount due directly from the final recipient.

II.26.2 Recovery after payment of the balance

Where an amount is to be recovered as provided for in Articles II.27.6, II.27.7 and II.27.8, the beneficiary concerned by the audit or OLAF findings must repay the Agency/Commission the amount in question. Where the audit findings do not concern a specific beneficiary (or its affiliated entities), the coordinating beneficiary must repay the Agency/Commission the amount in question, even if it was not the final recipient of the amount due.

Each beneficiary is responsible for the repayment of any amount unduly paid by the Agency/Commission as a contribution towards the costs incurred by its affiliated entities.

II.26.3 Recovery procedure

Before recovery, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the beneficiary concerned:

- (a) informing it of its intention to recover the amount unduly paid;
- (b) specifying the amount due and the reasons for recovery; and
- (c) inviting the beneficiary to make any observations within a specified period.

If no observations have been submitted or if, despite the observations submitted by the beneficiary, the Agency/Commission decides to pursue the recovery procedure, the Agency/Commission may confirm recovery by sending a *formal notification* to the beneficiary consisting of a debit note, specifying the terms and the date for payment.

If payment has not been made by the date specified in the debit note, the Agency/Commission will recover the amount due:

(a) by offsetting it, without the beneficiary's prior consent, against any amounts owed to the beneficiary by the Agency, the Commission or an executive agency (from the Union or the European Atomic Energy Community (Euratom) budget) ('offsetting');

In exceptional circumstances, to safeguard the financial interests of the Union, the Agency/Commission may offset before the due date.

An action may be brought against such offsetting before the General Court of the European Union in accordance with Article 263 TFEU;

- (b) by drawing on the financial guarantee where provided for in accordance with Article I.4.9 ('drawing on the financial guarantee');
- (c) by holding the beneficiaries jointly and severally liable up to the maximum EU contribution indicated, for each beneficiary, in the estimated budget (Annex III as last amended);
- (d) by taking legal action as provided for in Article II.18.2 or in the Special Conditions or by adopting an enforceable decision as provided for in Article II.18.3.

II.26.4 Interest on late payment

If payment is not made by the date in the debit note, the amount to be recovered will be increased by late-payment interest at the rate set out in Article I.4.13 from the day following the date for payment in the debit note up to and including the date the Agency/Commission receives full payment of the amount.

Partial payments must first be credited against charges and late-payment interest and then against the principal.

II.26.5 Bank charges

Bank charges incurred in the recovery process must be borne by the beneficiary concerned, unless Directive 2007/64/EC¹² applies.

ARTICLE II.27 — CHECKS, AUDITS AND EVALUATIONS

II.27.1 Technical and financial checks, audits, interim and final evaluations

The Agency/Commission may, during the implementation of the *project* or afterwards, carry out technical and financial checks and audits to determine that the beneficiaries are implementing the *project* properly and are complying with the obligations under the Agreement. It may also check the beneficiaries' statutory records for the purpose of periodic assessments of lump sum, unit cost or flat-rate amounts.

Information and documents provided as part of checks or audits must be treated on a confidential basis.

In addition, the Agency/Commission may carry out an interim or final evaluation of the impact of the *project*, measured against the objective of the Union programme concerned.

Agency/Commission checks, audits or evaluations may be carried out either directly by the Agency's/Commission's own staff or by any other outside body authorised to do so on its behalf.

The Agency/Commission may initiate such checks, audits or evaluations during the implementation of the Agreement and during a period of five years starting from the date of payment of the balance. This period is limited to three years if the *maximum amount of the grant* is not more than EUR 60,000.

The check, audit or evaluation procedures are considered to be initiated on the date of receipt of the letter of the Agency/Commission announcing it.

If the audit is carried out on an affiliated entity, the beneficiary concerned must inform that affiliated entity.

II.27.2 Duty to keep documents

The beneficiaries must keep all original documents, especially accounting and tax records, stored on any appropriate medium, including digitalised originals when they are authorised by their respective national law and under the conditions laid down therein, during a period of five years starting from the date of payment of the balance.

The period during which documents must be kept is limited to three years if the *maximum* amount of the grant is not more than EUR 60,000.

¹² Directive 2007/64/EC¹² of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 November 2007 on payment services in the internal market amending Directives 97/7/EC, 2002/65/EC, 2005/60/EC and 2006/48/EC and repealing Directive 97/5/EC.

The periods set out in the first and second subparagraphs are longer if there are ongoing audits, appeals, litigation or pursuit of claims concerning the grant, including in the cases referred to in Article II.27.7. In such cases, the beneficiaries must keep the documents until such audits, appeals, litigation or pursuit of claims have been closed.

II.27.3 Obligation to provide information

Where a check, audit or evaluation is initiated before the payment of the balance, the coordinating beneficiary must provide any information, including information in electronic format, requested by the Agency/Commission or by any other outside body authorised by the Agency/Commission. Where appropriate, the Agency/Commission may request that a beneficiary provides such information directly.

Where a check or audit is initiated after payment of the balance, the information referred to in the previous subparagraph must be provided by the beneficiary concerned.

If the beneficiary concerned does not comply with the obligations set out in the first and second subparagraphs, the Agency/Commission may consider:

- (a) any cost insufficiently substantiated by information provided by the beneficiary as ineligible;
- (b) any unit, lump sum or flat-rate contribution insufficiently substantiated by information provided by the beneficiary as undue.

II.27.4 On-the-spot visits

During an on-the-spot visit, the beneficiaries must allow Agency/Commission staff and outside personnel authorised by the Agency/Commission to have access to the sites and premises where the *project* is or was carried out, and to all the necessary information, including information in electronic format.

They must ensure that the information is readily available at the moment of the on-the-spot visit and that information requested is handed over in an appropriate form.

If the beneficiary concerned refuses to provide access to the sites, premises and information as required in the first and second subparagraphs, the Agency/Commission may consider:

- (a) any cost insufficiently substantiated by information provided by the beneficiary as ineligible;
- (b) any unit, lump sum or flat-rate contribution insufficiently substantiated by information provided by the beneficiary as undue.

II.27.5 Contradictory audit procedure

On the basis of the findings made during the audit, a provisional report ('draft audit report') must be drawn up. It must be sent by the Agency/Commission or its authorised representative to the beneficiary concerned, which must have 30 calendar days from the date of receipt to submit observations. The final report ('final audit report') must be sent to the beneficiary concerned within 60 calendar days of expiry of the time limit for submission of observations.

II.27.6 Effects of audit findings

On the basis of the final audit findings, the Agency/Commission may take the measures it considers necessary, including recovery at the time of payment of the balance or after payment of the balance of all or part of the payments made by it, as provided for in Article II.26.

In the case of final audit findings after the payment of the balance, the amount to be recovered corresponds to the difference between the revised final amount of the grant, determined in accordance with Article II.25, and the total amount paid to the beneficiaries under the Agreement for the implementation of the *project*.

II.27.7 Correction of systemic or recurrent irregularities, fraud or breach of obligations

II.27.7.1 The Agency/Commission may extend audit findings from other grants to this grant if:

- (a) the beneficiary concerned is found to have committed systemic or recurrent *irregularities, fraud* or *breach of obligations* in other EU or Euratom grants awarded under similar conditions and such *irregularities, fraud* or *breach of obligations* have a material impact on this grant; and
- (b) the final audit findings are sent to the beneficiary concerned through a *formal* notification, together with the list of grants affected by the findings within the period referred to in Article II.27.1

The extension of findings may lead to:

- (a) the rejection of costs as ineligible;
- (b) reduction of the grant as provided for in Article II.25.4;
- (c) recovery of undue amounts as provided for in Article II.26;
- (d) suspension of payments as provided for in Article II.24.1;
- (e) suspension of the *project* implementation as provided for in Article II.16.2;
- (f) termination as provided for in Article II.17.3.
- **II.27.7.2** The Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the beneficiary concerned informing it of the systemic or recurrent *irregularities, fraud* or *breach of obligations* and of its intention to extend the audit findings, together with the list of grants affected.
 - (a) If the findings concern eligibility of costs the procedure is as follows:

Step 1 — The *formal notification* must include:

- (i) an invitation to submit observations on the list of grants affected by the findings;
- (ii) a request to submit revised financial statements for all grants affected;
- (iii) where possible, the correction rate for extrapolation established by the Agency/Commission to calculate the amounts to be rejected on the basis of the systemic or recurrent, *irregularities*, *fraud* or *breach of obligations*, if the beneficiary concerned:

- considers that the submission of revised financial statements is not possible or practicable; or
- will not submit revised financial statements.
- **Step 2** The beneficiary concerned has 60 calendar days from when it receives the *formal notification* to submit observations and revised financial statements or to propose a duly substantiated alternative correction method. This period may be extended by the Agency/Commission in justified cases.
- **Step 3** If the beneficiary concerned submits revised financial statements that take account of the findings the Agency/Commission will determine the amount to be corrected on the basis of those revised statements.

If the beneficiary proposes an alternative correction method and the Agency/Commission accepts it, the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the beneficiary concerned informing it:

- (i) that it accepts the alternative method;
- (ii) of the revised eligible costs determined by applying this method.

Otherwise the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the beneficiary concerned informing it:

- (i) that it does not accept the observations or the alternative method proposed;
- (ii) of the revised eligible costs determined by applying the extrapolation method initially notified to the beneficiary.

If the systemic or recurrent *irregularities, fraud* or *breach of obligations* are found after the payment of the balance, the amount to be recovered corresponds to the difference between:

- (i) the revised final amount of the grant, determined in accordance with Article II.25 on the basis of the revised eligible costs declared by the beneficiary and approved by the Agency/Commission or on the basis of the revised eligible costs after extrapolation; and
- (ii) the total amount paid to the beneficiaries under the Agreement for the implementation of the *project*;
- (b) If the findings concern improper implementation or a breach of another obligation the procedure is as follows:

Step 1 — The *formal notification* must include:

- (i) an invitation to the beneficiary to submit observations on the list of grants affected by the findings and
- (ii) the correction flat rate the Agency/Commission intends to apply to the *maximum* amount of the grant or to part of it, according to the principle of proportionality.
- **Step 2** The beneficiary concerned has 60 calendar days from receiving the *formal notification* to submit observations or to propose a duly substantiated alternative flat-rate.

Step 3 — If the Agency/Commission accepts the alternative flat rate proposed by the beneficiary, it must send a *formal notification* to the beneficiary concerned informing it:

- (i) that it accepts the alternative flat-rate;
- (ii) of the corrected grant amount by applying this flat rate.

Otherwise the Agency/Commission must send a *formal notification* to the beneficiary concerned informing it:

- (i) that it does not accept the observations or the alternative flat rate proposed;
- (ii) of the corrected grant amount by applying the flat rate initially notified to the beneficiary.

If the systemic or recurrent *irregularities*, *fraud* or *breach of obligations* are found after the payment of the balance, the amount to be recovered corresponds to the difference between:

- (i) the revised final amount of the grant after flat-rate correction; and
- (ii) the total amount paid to the beneficiaries under the Agreement for the implementation of the *project*.

II.27.8 Rights of OLAF

The European Anti-Fraud Office (OLAF) has the same rights as the Agency/Commission, particularly the right of access, for the purpose of checks and investigations.

Under Council Regulation (Euratom, EC) No 2185/96¹³ and Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 883/2013¹⁴ OLAF may also carry out on-the-spot checks and inspections in accordance with the procedures laid down by Union law for the protection of the financial interests of the Union against *fraud* and other *irregularities*.

Where appropriate, OLAF findings may lead to the Agency/Commission recovering amounts from beneficiaries.

Moreover, findings arising from an OLAF investigation may lead to criminal prosecutions under national law.

II.27.9 Rights of the European Court of Auditors and EPPO

¹³ Council Regulation (Euratom, EC) No 2185/96 of 11 November 1996 concerning on-the-spot checks and inspections carried out by the Commission in order to protect the European Communities' financial interests against fraud and other irregularities.

¹⁴ Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 883/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 September 2013 concerning investigations conducted by the European Anti-Fraud Office (OLAF).

The European Court of Auditors and the European Public Prosecutor's Office established by Council Regulation (EU) 2017/1939¹⁵ ('the EPPO') has the same rights as the Agency/Commission, particularly the right of access, for the purpose of checks and audits.

_

 $^{^{15}}$ Council Regulation (EU) 2017/1939 of 12 October 2017 implementing enhanced cooperation on the establishment of the European Public Prosecutor's Office